Government Bill

As reported from the committee of the whole House

Key to symbols used in reprinted bill

As reported from the committee of the whole House

text inserted text deleted

Hon Dr Nick Smith

Resource Legislation Amendment Bill

Government Bill

Contents

		Page
1	Title	19
2	Commencement	19
	Part 1	
	Amendments to Resource Management Act 1991	
3	Principal Act	19
	Subpart 1—Amendments that commence on day after Royal assent	
	Amendments to Part 1 of principal Act	
4	Section 2 amended (Interpretation)	19
4A	New section 3B inserted (Transitional, savings, and related provisions)	20
	3B Transitional, savings, and related provisions	20
	Amendment to Part 2 of principal Act	
5	Section 6 amended (Matters of national importance)	20
	Amendments to Part 3 of principal Act	
6 7 8	Section 12 amended (Restrictions on use of coastal marine area) Section 14 amended (Restrictions relating to water) New section 18A and cross-heading inserted	20 20 20
	Procedure	
	18A Procedural principles	20
	Amendments to Part 4 of principal Act	
9 10	Section 24 amended (Functions of Minister for the Environment) Section 29 amended (Delegation of functions by Ministers)	21 21

101—3

11	Section 30 amended (Functions of regional councils under this Act)	21
12	Section 31 amended (Functions of territorial authorities under this Act)	22
13	Section 32 amended (Requirements for preparing and publishing evaluation reports)	23
14	Section 32AA amended (Requirements for undertaking and publishing further evaluations)	23
15	Section 32A amended (Failure to carry out evaluation)	23
16	Section 34A amended (Delegation of powers and functions to employees and other persons)	23
18	Section 35 amended (Duty to gather information, monitor, and keep records)	24
19	Section 35A amended (Duty to keep records about iwi and hapu)	24
20	Section 36 amended (Administrative charges)	24
21	New sections 36AAA and 36AAB inserted	25
	36AAA Criteria for fixing administrative charges	25
	36AAB Other matters relating to administrative charges	26
21A	Section 39B amended (Persons who may be given hearing authority)	26
	Amendments to Part 4A of principal Act	
22 23	Section 42C amended (Functions of EPA) New section 42CA inserted (Cost recovery for specified function of EPA)	26 26
	42CA Cost recovery for specified function of EPA	27
	Amendments to Part 5 of principal Act	
23A 23B 24	Section 43AA amended (Interpretation) Section 43AAC amended (Meaning of proposed plan) Cross-heading above section 43 replaced	27 27 27
	Subpart 1—National direction	
	National environmental standards	
25	Section 43 amended (Regulations prescribing national environmental standards)	28
26	Section 43A amended (Contents of national environmental standards)	28
27	Section 43B amended (Relationship between national environmental standards and rules or consents)	28
27A	Section 43E amended (Relationship between national environmental standards and bylaws)	29
27B	Section 43G repealed (Incorporation of material by reference in national environmental standards)	29

28	Section	44 amended (Restriction on power to make national	29
	environ	nmental standards)	
28A		44A amended (Local authority recognition of national amental standards)	29
29	New se	ection 45A inserted (Contents of national policy statements)	30
	45A	Contents of national policy statements	30
30	Section	46 repealed (Proposed national policy statement)	31
30A	Section	46A replaced (Minister chooses process)	31
	46A	Single process for preparing national directions	31
30B		46B amended (Incorporation of material by reference in l policy statements)	32
30C	Section	47 amended (Board of inquiry)	32
30D		48 amended (Public notification of proposed national statement and inquiry)	32
30E		49 amended (Submissions to board of inquiry)	32
30F	Section	50 amended (Conduct of hearing)	32
30G		51 amended (Matters to be considered and board of 's report)	33
30H	Section	52 amended (Consideration of recommendations and all or withdrawal of statement)	33
33		55 amended (Local authority recognition of national policy	33
35		56 amended (Purpose of New Zealand coastal policy	33
35A		57 amended (Preparation of New Zealand coastal policy	33
36		58 amended (Contents of New Zealand coastal policy	33
36A	Section	58A repealed (Incorporation of material by reference in ealand coastal policy statements)	34
37		ections 58B to 58J and cross-heading inserted	34
		National planning standards	
	58B	Purposes of national planning standards	34
	58C	Scope and contents of national planning standards	34
	58D	Preparation of national planning standards	35
	58E	Approval of national planning standard	36
	58F	Publication of national planning standards and other documents	37
	58FA	First set of national planning standards	37
	58G	Changing, replacing, or revoking national planning standards	37
	58H	Local authority recognition of national planning standards	38

	58I	Time frames applying under first set of national planning standards	39
		Publication of documents	
	58J	Obligation to publish documents	40
38	New si inserte	ubpart 2 of Part 5 and new subpart 3 heading in Part 5 ed	40
		Subpart 2—Mana Whakahono a Rohe: Iwi participation arrangements	
	58K	Definitions	40
		Purpose and guiding principles	
	58L	Purpose of Mana Whakahono a Rohe	41
	58M	Guiding principles	41
		Initiating Mana Whakahono a Rohe	
	58N	Initiation of Mana Whakahono a Rohe	42
	58O	Other opportunities to initiate Mana Whakahono a Rohe	43
	58P	Time frame for concluding Mana Whakahono a Rohe	44
		Contents	
	58Q	Contents of Mana Whakahono a Rohe	44
	58R	Resolution of disputes that arise in course of negotiating	45
	500	Mana Whakahono a Rohe	1.0
	58S 58T	Review and monitoring Relationship with iwi participation legislation	46 46
	301	Subpart 3—Local authority policy statements and plans	70
20	Castia	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	16
39		n 61 amended (Matters to be considered by regional council y statements))	46
40		n 62 amended (Contents of regional policy statements)	47
41		n 65 amended (Preparation and change of other regional	47
	plans)		
42	Section (plans)	n 66 amended (Matters to be considered by regional council	47
43		n 67 amended (Contents of regional plans)	47
44		n 69 amended (Rules relating to water quality)	47
45	Section	n 73 amended (Preparation and change of district plans)	47
46	Section authorized	n 74 amended (Matters to be considered by territorial ity)	47
47		n 75 amended (Contents of district plans)	48
48		heading above section 78 repealed	48
49	New c	ross-heading above section 79 inserted	48
		Review	
49A	Section	n 79 amended (Review of policy statements and plans)	48

50	New cross-heading above section 80 inserted	48
	Combined documents	
51 52	Section 80 amended (Combined regional and district documents) New subparts 4 and 5 of Part 5 and new subpart 6 heading in Part 5 inserted	48 48
	Subpart 4—Collaborative planning process	
	80A Use of collaborative planning process	49
	Subpart 5—Streamlined planning process	
	80B Purpose, scope, application of Schedule 1, and definitions 80C Application to responsible Minister for direction	49 50
	Subpart 6—Miscellaneous matters	
53 54	Section 82 amended (Disputes) Section 85 amended (Compensation not payable in respect of controls on land)	51 51
55 56	Section 86 amended (Power to acquire land) Cross-heading above section 86A replaced	53 53
	Subpart 7—Legal effect of rules	
57 58	Section 86A amended (Purpose of sections 86B to 86G) Section 86B amended (When rules in proposed plans and changes have legal effect)	53 53
59	Section 86D amended (Environment Court may order rule to have legal effect from date other than standard date)	53
60	Section 86E amended (Local authorities must identify rules having early or delayed legal effect)	53
60A	Section 86F amended (When rules in proposed plans must be treated as operative)	53
61	Section 86G amended (Rule that has not taken legal effect or become operative excluded from references to rule in this Act and regulations made under this Act)	54
	Amendments to Part 6 of principal Act	
64A	Section 123A amended (Duration of consent for aquaculture activities)	54
64B	Section 128 amended (Circumstances when consent conditions can be reviewed)	54
65	Section 139 amended (Consent authorities and Environmental Protection Authority to issue certificates of compliance)	54
	Amendments to Part 6AA of principal Act	
65A 66	Section 141 amended (Interpretation) Section 142 amended (Minister may call in matter that is or is part of proposal of national significance)	54 55

67	Section 144 amended (Restriction on when Minister may call in matter)	55
68	Section 149C amended (EPA must give public notice of Minister's direction)	55
69	Section 149E amended (EPA to receive submissions on matter if public notice of direction has been given)	55
70	Section 149F amended (EPA to receive further submissions if matter is request, change, or variation)	55
71	Section 149G amended (EPA must provide board or court with necessary information)	56
72	Section 149J amended (Minister to appoint board of inquiry)	56
73	Section 149K amended (How members appointed)	56
74	New section 149KA inserted (EPA may make administrative decisions)	56
	149KA EPA may make administrative decisions	56
75	Section 149L amended (Conduct of inquiry)	57
76	Section 149O amended (Public notice and submissions where EPA receives proposed plan or change from local authority under section 149N)	58
77	Section 149Q repealed (Board to produce draft report)	58
78	Section 149R amended (Board to produce final report)	59
79	Section 149RA amended (Minor corrections of board decisions, etc)	59
80	Section 149S amended (Minister may extend time by which board must report)	60
81	New sections 149ZF and 149ZG inserted	60
	149ZF Liability to pay costs constitutes debt due to EPA or the Crown	60
	149ZG Process may be suspended if costs outstanding	60
	Amendments to Part 8 of principal Act	
82A	Section 170 amended (Discretion to include requirement in proposed plan)	61
84	Section 189 amended (Notice of requirement to territorial authority)	62
86	New sections 195B and 195C inserted	63
	195B Transfer of heritage order195C Notice of determination	63 64
	Amendments to Part 11 of principal Act	
89	Section 265 amended (Environment Court sittings)	64
90	Section 267 amended (Conferences)	64
91	Section 268 replaced (Alternative dispute resolution)	65
	268 Alternative dispute resolution	65

	268A	Mandatory participation in alternative dispute resolution processes	65
92 93	New sec	276 amended (Evidence) ction 277A inserted (Powers of Environment Court in to evidence heard on appeal by way of rehearing)	65 65
	277A	Powers of Environment Court in relation to evidence heard on appeal by way of rehearing	66
94 95	Section	279 amended (Powers of Environment Judge sitting alone) 280 amended (Powers of Environment Commissioner vithout Environment Judge)	66 66
96		281A replaced (Registrar may waive, reduce, or postpone t of fee)	67
98		Registrar may waive, reduce, or postpone payment of fee 293 amended (Environment Court may order change to d policy statements and plans)	67 67
		Amendment to Part 11A of principal Act	
98A	Section	308B amended (Limit on making submissions)	67
		Amendments to Part 12 of principal Act	
99	Section	310 amended (Scope and effect of declaration)	67
		Amendments to Part 14 of principal Act	
100	Section owner o	352A amended (Mode of service of summons on master or of ship)	68
101		357B amended (Right of objection in relation to ion of additional charges or recovery of costs)	68
102		357D amended (Decision on objections made under 357 to 357B)	68
103		360 amended (Regulations)	68
104		360B amended (Conditions to be satisfied before ons made under section 360A)	70
105		ctions 360D, 360DA, and 360E inserted	70
		Regulations that permit or prohibit certain rules Regulations that prohibit or remove certain rules	70
	360DA 360E	Procedures relevant to making rules under section 360D Regulations relating to administrative charges and other amounts	71 71
		Amendment to Part 15 of principal Act	
106		401B amended (Obligation to pay coastal occupation deemed condition of consent)	72
		Part 16 of principal Act repealed	
107	Part 16	repealed	72

	Amendments to Schedule 1 of principal Act	
108	Schedule 1 amended	72
	Amendment to Schedule 1AA of principal Act	
108A	Schedule 1AA amended	73
	Amendments to Schedule 4 of principal Act	
109	Schedule 4 amended	73
	Amendments to Schedule 12 of principal Act	
110	Schedule 12 amended	73
	Consequential amendments commencing on day after Royal assent	
111	Consequential amendments commencing on day after Royal assent	73
	Subpart 2—Amendments that commence 6 months after Royal assent	
	Amendments to Part 1 of principal Act	
112	Section 2 amended (Interpretation)	73
113	Section 2AA amended (Definitions relating to notification)	74
114	New section 2AB inserted (Meaning of public notice) 2AB Meaning of public notice	74 74
	Amendments to Part 3 of principal Act	, .
115	Section 11 amended (Restrictions on subdivision of land)	75
	Amendments to Part 4 of principal Act	
116	Section 35 amended (Duty to gather information, monitor, and	75
	keep records)	
117	Section 36 amended (Administrative charges)	75
118	Section 41A amended (Control of hearings)	75
119	Section 41C amended (Directions and requests before or at hearings)	76
120	New section 41D inserted (Striking out submissions)	76
	41D Striking out submissions	76
	Amendment to Part 5 of principal Act	
120A	Section 48 amended (Public notification of proposed national policy statement and inquiry)	76
	Amendments to Part 6 of principal Act	
121	New sections 87AAB to 87AAD inserted	77
	87AAB Meaning of boundary activity and related terms	77
	87AAC Meaning of fast-track application	77
	87AAD Overview of application of this Part to boundary activities and fast-track applications	78
122	New sections 87BA and 87BB inserted	79

	87BA	Boundary activities approved by neighbours on infringed	79
	87BB	boundaries are permitted activities Activities meeting certain requirements are permitted	80
	0/ D D	activities	80
123	Section	88 amended (Making an application)	80
125		s 95 to 95B replaced	81
	95	Time limit for public notification or limited notification	81
	95A	Public notification of consent applications	81
	95B	Limited notification of consent applications	83
126		95C amended (Public notification of consent application quest for further information or report)	84
127		95D amended (Consent authority decides if adverse effects	84
	likely to	o be more than minor)	
129		95E replaced (Consent authority decides if person is d person)	84
	95E	Consent authority decides if person is affected person	84
130		95F amended (Status of protected customary rights group)	85
131		95G amended (Status of customary marine title group)	85
131A		104 amended (Consideration of applications)	85
132		104D amended (Particular restrictions for non-complying	85
102	activitie	1,0	00
133		106 amended (Consent authority may refuse subdivision	86
		t in certain circumstances)	
133A		108 amended (Conditions of resource consents)	86
133B		ection 108AA inserted (Requirements for conditions of	86
		e consents)	
	108AA	Requirements for conditions of resource consents	86
134	Section	115 amended (Time limits for notification of decision)	87
135	Section	120 amended (Right to appeal)	87
136	Section	139 amended (Consent authorities and Environmental	87
	Protect	ion Authority to issue certificates of compliance)	
137	Section	139A amended (Consent authorities to issue existing use	87
	certific	ates)	
		Amendments to Part 6AA of principal Act	
137A	Section	149ZB amended (How EPA must deal with certain	88
	applica	tions and notices of requirement)	
137B	Section	149ZC amended (Minister to decide whether application	88
	or notic	ee of requirement to be notified)	
137C	New se	ections 149ZCA to 149ZCF inserted	88
	149ZC	A Application of sections 149ZCB to 149ZCF	88
		B Public notification of application or notice at Minister's discretion	88
	1/070		89
	149ZC	C Limited notification of application or notice	89

	149ZCD Public notification of application or notice after request for further information	89
	149ZCE Minister to decide if adverse effects likely to be more	90
	than minor	00
	149ZCF Minister to decide if person is affected person	90
	Amendment to Part 7 of principal Act	
138	Section 151 amended (Interpretation)	91
	Amendment to Part 7A of principal Act	
138A	Section 165C amended (Interpretation)	91
	Amendments to Part 8 of principal Act	
138B	Section 168A amended (Notice of requirement by territorial authority)	91
138C	Section 169 amended (Further information, notification, submissions, and hearing for notice of requirement to territorial authority)	92
138D	Section 171 amended (Recommendation by territorial authority)	94
138E	Section 189A amended (Notice of requirement for heritage order by territorial authority)	94
138F	Section 190 amended (Further information, notification, submissions, and hearing for notice of requirement to territorial	96
139	authority) Section 198AD amended (Excluded time periods relating to other matters)	97
	Amendment to Part 9 of principal Act	
140	Section 204 amended (Public notification of application)	98
	Amendments to Part 10 of principal Act	
141	Section 220 amended (Condition of subdivision consents)	98
	Amendments to Part 14 of principal Act	
142	Section 352 amended (Service of documents)	98
143	Section 357 amended (Right of objection against certain decisions)	99
144	New section 357AB inserted (Objection under section 357A(1)(f)	99
	or (g) may be considered by hearings commissioner)	
	357AB Objection under section 357A(1)(f) or (g) may be	99
1.45	considered by hearings commissioner	00
145	Section 357C amended (Procedure for making and hearing objection under sections 357 to 357B)	99
146	New section 357CA inserted (Powers of hearings commissioner	99
1.0	considering objection under section 357A(1)(f) or (g))	,,
	357CA Powers of hearings commissioner considering objection	100
	under section 357A(1)(f) or (g)	

148	Section 358 amended (Appeals against certain decisions or objections)	100
149	Section 360 amended (Regulations)	100
150	Section 360E amended (Regulations relating to administrative	100
	charges and other amounts)	
151	New sections 360F and 360G inserted	101
	360F Regulations relating to fast-track applications	101
	360G Regulations relating to notification of consent	101
	applications	
	Amendment to Schedule 1 of principal Act	
152	Schedule 1 amended	102
	Subpart 3—Amendments that commence 5 years after Royal assent	
	Amendments to Part 6 of principal Act	
153	Section 108 amended (Conditions of resource consents)	103
153A	Section 108AA amended (Requirements for conditions of resource consents)	104
154	Section 110 repealed (Refund of money and return of land where	104
155	activity does not proceed) Section 111 repealed (Use of financial contributions)	104
133	•	104
	Amendments to Part 10 of principal Act	
156	Section 222 amended (Completion certificates)	104
	Amendments to Part 15 of principal Act	
157	Section 407 amended (Subdivision consent conditions)	104
158	Section 409 repealed (Financial contributions for developments)	104
159	Section 411 repealed (Restriction on imposition of conditions as to financial contributions)	104
	Amendment to Schedule 12 of principal Act	
160	Schedule 12 amended	104
	Consequential amendments	
161	Consequential amendments relating to financial contributions	104
	Part 2	
	Amendments to Reserves Act 1977	
162	Principal Act	105
163	Section 15 amended (Exchange of reserves for other land)	105
164	New section 15AA inserted (Administering body may authorise	105
	exchange of recreation reserve land for other land)	
	15AA Administering body may authorise exchange of	105
165	recreation reserve land for other land Consequential amendments to Resource Management Act 1991	106
100	Consequential amendments to Kesource Management Act 1991	LUb

	116B	When resource consent commences if subject to grant of	108
		application to exchange recreation reserve land	
		Part 3	
		Amendments to Public Works Act 1981	
166	Princip	al Act	109
167	New se	ection 2A inserted (Transitional, savings, and related	109
	provisi	ons)	
	2A	Transitional, savings, and related provisions	109
168		a 4C amended (Delegation of Minister's powers)	109
169		24 amended (Objection to be heard by Environment Court)	109
170		n 59 amended (Interpretation)	109
171		172 amended (Additional compensation for acquisition of	110
172		d dwelling)	110
172		ections 72A to 72E inserted	110
	72A	Amount of compensation to be paid under section 72 Definitions of terms used in sections 72C and 72D	111
	72B 72C		111 112
	72C 72D	Additional compensation for acquisition of notified land Circumstances in which compensation must not be paid	112
	/2D	under section 72C	113
	72E	Adjustment of compensation payable under section 72 or 72C	114
173		n 75 amended (Compensation for tenants of residential and ss premises)	114
174		249 repealed (Transitional provision)	115
175	New So	chedule 1AA inserted	115
		Part 4	
		Amendments to Conservation Act 1987	
176	Princip	al Act	115
176A	-	2 amended (Interpretation)	115
177	New se	ection 3A inserted (Transitional, savings, and related	115
	provisi	ons)	
	3A	Transitional, savings, and related provisions	115
178	Section	ns 17S and 17T replaced	115
	17S	Contents of application	115
	17SA	Minister may return application that lacks required information	116
	17SB	Minister may decline application that is obviously	116
	1700	inconsistent with Act, etc	117
	17SC	Public notification of application for leases, licences, permits, or easements	117
	17SD	Minister may require applicant to provide further	117
	1750	information	117
	17SE	Minister may commission report or advice	118

	17T W	110
100	17T Minister to consider applications Section 17H amonded (Motters to be considered by Minister)	118
180 181	Section 17U amended (Matters to be considered by Minister)	118 119
182	Section 49 amended (Public notice and rights of objection) New Schedule 1AA inserted	119
182A	Consequential amendment to Crown Minerals Act 1991	119
182B	Consequential amendment to Wild Animal Control Act 1977	119
102D	Part 5	117
	Amendments to Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental	
	Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012	
183	Principal Act	119
183A	Section 3 amended (Outline of Act)	119
184	Section 4 amended (Interpretation)	120
184A	New sections 7A and 7B inserted	122
	7A Meaning of public notice	122
	7B Transitional, savings, and related provisions	123
184B	Section 9 amended (Application to ships and aircraft of New	123
	Zealand Defence Force and foreign States)	
184C	Section 10 amended (Purpose)	123
184D	Section 12 amended (Treaty of Waitangi)	123
184E	Section 13 amended (Functions of Environmental Protection Authority)	123
184EA	Section 16 amended (Restriction on Environmental Protection Authority's power to delegate)	123
184F	Section 18 replaced (Function of Māori Advisory Committee)	123
	18 Function of Māori Advisory Committee	124
184G	Section 20 amended (Restriction on activities other than discharges and dumping)	124
184H	Section 21 amended (Certain existing activities may continue)	124
184I	Section 22 amended (Planned petroleum activities may commence)	124
184J	Section 25 amended (Duty of persons operating in exclusive economic zone or on continental shelf)	124
185	Part 3 heading and subpart 1 heading in Part 3 replaced	124
	Part 3	
	Regulations	
185A	New section 29E and cross-heading inserted	125
	Decommissioning plans	
	29E Decommissioning plans	125
185B	Section 32 amended (Process for developing or amending regulations)	125
186	Section 34A amended (Matters to be considered for regulations relating to discharges and dumping)	125
187	Cross-heading above section 35 replaced	125

		Part 3A Activities and consents	
188	Section	ns 35 to 58 and cross-headings replaced	125
		Subpart 1—Activities	
		Types of activity	
	35	Permitted activities	125
	36	Discretionary activities	125
	37	Prohibited activities	126
		Subpart 2—EEZ policy statements	
		EEZ policy statements	
	37A	Purpose and scope of EEZ policy statements	126
	37B	Notification of, and consultation on, proposed EEZ policy statement	127
	37C	Matters to be considered by Minister when determining whether to issue EEZ policy statement	127
	37D	Revision, withdrawal, and approval of proposed EEZ policy statements	127
	37E	Changes to, or review or revocation of, EEZ policy statements	128
	37F	Incorporation of material by reference in EEZ policy statements	128
	37G	EEZ policy statement is disallowable instrument	128
		Subpart 2A—Applying for marine consents	
	38	Application for marine consent	128
	39	Impact assessment	129
	41	Environmental Protection Authority must determine if application complete	130
	42	Environmental Protection Authority may commission independent review of impact assessment	130
	43	Environmental Protection Authority may ask applicant to complete incomplete application	131
	44	Environmental Protection Authority must return incomplete application	131
	45	Joint processing and decision making on related applications	131
		Subpart 2B—Disclosure and notification	
	46	Copy of application for non-notified activity	132
	47	Copy of application for publicly notified activity	132
	48	Making of submissions	133
	49	Time limit for submissions	133
	50	Advising applicants of submissions	133

		Subpart 2C—Considering applications	
		Non-notified activities	
	51	Hearings in respect of applications for non-notified activities	134
		Publicly notifiable activities other than section 20 activities	
	52	Hearings in respect of applications for publicly notifiable activities other than section 20 activities	134
		Publicly notifiable section 20 activities	
	53	Minister must appoint boards of inquiry for applications for publicly notifiable section 20 activities	134
		Provisions that apply to all applications	
	54 55 56	Obligation to deal with application promptly Request for further information Response to request	135 135 136
	57	Marine consent authority may obtain advice or information	136
	58	Meetings and mediation to resolve matters before decision	137
189	Cross	-heading above section 59 replaced	137
		Subpart 2D—Decisions	
190		on 59 amended (Environmental Protection Authority's deration of application)	137
191		on 60 amended (Matters to be considered in deciding extent verse effects on existing interests)	138
192		on 61 amended (Information principles)	138
193	Section	on 62 amended (Decisions on applications for marine nts)	139
194		on 63 amended (Conditions of marine consents)	139
195		on 64 amended (Adaptive management approach)	139
196		on 65 amended (Bonds)	140
196A		on 68 amended (Time limits for Environmental Protection ority's decision)	140
197	Section	on 69 replaced (Decision of Environmental Protection ority to be in writing)	140
	69	Decision of marine consent authority to be in writing	140
198	Autho	on 70 amended (Notification of Environmental Protection ority's decision)	140
199	New s	subpart 2E heading in Part 3A inserted	140
		Subpart 2E—Consents	
200	Section	on 73 amended (Duration of marine consent)	141

202	Section 74 amended (Exercise of marine consent while applying for new consent)	141
203	New section 75A and cross-heading inserted	141
	EPA responsibility for marine consents granted by board of inquiry	
	75A Residual powers of EPA	141
203A	Section 78 amended (Public notice of review)	141
203B	Section 78A amended (Copy of notice of review of non-notified activity)	141
203C	Section 79 amended (Further information, advice, submissions, and hearing)	141
204	New cross-heading above section 84 inserted	142
	Minor corrections of marine consents	
205	Section 84 amended (Minor corrections of marine consents)	142
205A	Section 87 amended (Change or cancellation of consent conditions on application by consent holder)	142
206	Subpart 2A of Part 3 repealed	142
207	Section 88 amended (Interpretation)	142
208	Section 91 amended (Joint application for consent for cross-boundary activity)	142
209	Section 92 amended (Separate applications for consents for cross-boundary activity)	143
210	Section 93 amended (Environmental Protection Authority may require joint application)	143
211	Section 94 amended (Decision to separate joint application for consent)	143
212	New section 94A inserted (Environmental Protection Authority may decide to separate joint application)	143
	94A Environmental Protection Authority may decide to separate joint application	143
213	Section 96 replaced (Environmental Protection Authority to administer process)	144
	96 Environmental Protection Authority to administer process	144
214	Section 98 replaced (Separate decisions on marine consent and resource consent applications)	144
	98 Separate decisions on marine consent and resource consent applications	144
215	Section 99 amended (Application for consent for nationally significant cross-boundary activity referred to board of inquiry)	145
216	New section 99A inserted (Joint applications for section 20 activity and for nationally significant activity to be referred to board of inquiry)	145

	99A	Joint applications for section 20 activity and for nationally significant activity to be referred to board of inquiry	145
217	New sul	bpart 4 of new Part 3A inserted	146
		Subpart 4—Decommissioning plans	
	100A 100B 100C 100D	Submitting decommissioning plan for acceptance Assessment and acceptance of decommissioning plan Amendment of accepted decommissioning plan Requirement for public consultation	147 147 147 148
218	Subpart	1 heading in Part 4 replaced	148
		Subpart 1—Objections to decisions of marine consent authority	
219 220 221 222	Protection Section	101 amended (Right of objection to Environmental on Authority against certain decisions) 102 amended (Procedure for making or hearing objection) 103 amended (Decision on objection) bpart 1A heading in Part 4 inserted	148 149 149 149
		Subpart 1A—Appeals against Environmental Protection Authority decisions	
223 223A 224	Section	105 amended (Appeals on question of law) 109 repealed (Representation at proceedings) bparts 1B and 1C of Part 4 inserted	149 149 149
		Subpart 1B—Appeals against decisions of boards of inquiry	
		Appeal to High Court on question of law	
	113A 113B	Appeals on question of law Notice of appeal	149 150
	113C 113D	Right to appear and be heard on appeal Parties to appeal	150 151
	113F	Dismissal of appeal	151
	113G	Date of hearing	151
	113H	Application of High Court Rules	151
		Appeal to Supreme Court	
	113I	Appeal to Supreme Court	151
		Subpart 1C—Proceedings generally	
	113J	Representation at proceedings	152
224A		134G amended (Other offences)	152
225	Section	137 amended (Limitation period)	152
226		141 amended (Power of entry for inspection)	153
227		142 amended (Protection of the Crown and others)	153
228	Section	143 amended (Principles of cost recovery)	153

230	Section 148 amended (Service of documents)	153
231	New section 158BA inserted (EPA and WorkSafe to share information)	154
	158BA EPA and WorkSafe to share information	154
231A	Section 161 amended (Existing petroleum activities that become discretionary)	154
232	Section 162 amended (Existing petroleum mining activities involving structures or pipelines)	154
232A	Section 163 amended (Other existing activities that become discretionary)	154
232B	Section 164A amended (Dumping permits issued under Maritime Transport Act 1994)	154
232C	Section 164B amended (Provisions of discharge management plans approved under Maritime Transport Act 1994 become marine discharge consents)	154
232D	Section 166 amended (Planned petroleum activities that become discretionary)	155
233	New Schedule 1 inserted	155
234	Schedule amended	155
235	New Schedules 3 and 4 inserted	155
236	Consequential amendment to Environmental Protection Authority Act 2011	155
237	Consequential amendment to Maritime Transport Act 1994	155
	Schedule 1	156
	Amendments to Schedule 1 of Resource Management Act 1991	
	Schedule 2 Amendments to Schedule 12 of Resource Management Act 1991 commencing on day after Royal assent	192
	Schedule 3	196
	Consequential amendments commencing on day after Royal assent	
	Schedule 4 Amendments to Schedule 12 of Resource Management Act 1991 commencing 5 years after Royal assent	198
	Schedule 5 Consequential amendments commencing 5 years after Royal assent	199
	Schedule 6 New Schedule 1AA of Public Works Act 1981 inserted	201
	Schedule 7 New Schedule 1AA of Conservation Act 1987 inserted	203

Schedule 7A

204

	New Schedule 1 of Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012 inserted	
	Schedule 8 206 New Schedules 3 and 4 of Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012 inserted	
The I	Parliament of New Zealand enacts as follows:	
1	Title	
	This Act is the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015.	
2	Commencement	
(1)	Subpart 2 of Part 1 (amendments to Resource Management Act 1991) and Part 4 (amendments to Conservation Act 1987) come into force on the day that is 6 months after the date on which this Act receives the Royal assent.	5
(2)	Subpart 3 of Part 1 (amendments to Resource Management Act 1991 relating to financial contributions) comes into force on the day that is 5 years after the date on which this Act receives the Royal assent.	10
(2A)	Part 5 (amendments to Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012) comes into force on 1 June 2017.	
(3)	The rest of this Act comes into force on the day after the date on which this Act receives the Royal assent.	
	Part 1	15
	Amendments to Resource Management Act 1991	
3	Principal Act	
	This Part amends the Resource Management Act 1991 (the principal Act).	
S	ubpart 1—Amendments that commence on day after Royal assent	
	Amendments to Part 1 of principal Act	20
4	Section 2 amended (Interpretation)	
(1)	In section 2(1), insert in their appropriate alphabetical order:	
	collaborative group has the meaning given in clause 36 of Schedule 1	
	collaborative planning process means the process by which a proposed policy statement or plan is prepared or changed in accordance with Part 4 of Schedule 1	25
	combined document means any instrument for which section 80 makes provision	
	10	

	development capacity has the meaning given in section 30(5)	
(2)	In section 2(1), definition of infrastructure , delete ", in section 30,".	
(3)	In section 2(1), insert in their appropriate alphabetical order:	
	iwi participation legislation has the meaning given in section 58K	
	Mana Whakahono a Rohe means an iwi participation arrangement entered into under subpart 2 of Part 5	5
	national planning standard means any of the national planning standards approved under section 58E	
4A	New section 3B inserted (Transitional, savings, and related provisions) After section 3A, insert:	10
3B	Transitional, savings, and related provisions	
	The transitional, savings, and related provisions set out in Schedule 12 have effect according to their terms.	
	Amendment to Part 2 of principal Act	
5	Section 6 amended (Matters of national importance)	15
	After section 6(g), insert:	
	(h) the management of significant risks from natural hazards.	
	Amendments to Part 3 of principal Act	
6	Section 12 amended (Restrictions on use of coastal marine area)	
	After section 12(6), insert:	20
(7)	This section does not prohibit a regional council from removing structures from the common marine and coastal area, in accordance with the requirements of section 19(3) to (3C) of the Marine and Coastal Area (Takutai Moana) Act 2011, unless those structures are permitted by a coastal permit.	
7	Section 14 amended (Restrictions relating to water)	25
	In section 14(3)(b)(ii), replace "an individual's" with "a person's".	
3	New section 18A and cross-heading inserted	
	After section 18, insert:	
	Procedure	
18A	Procedural principles	30
	Every person exercising powers and performing functions under this Act must take all practicable steps to—	

	(a)		imely, efficient, consistent, and cost-effective processes that are pro- onate to the functions or powers being performed or exercised; and	
	(b)	ensu	re that policy statements and plans—	
		(i)	include only those matters relevant to the purpose of this Act; and	
		(ii)	are worded in a way that is clear and concise; and	5
	(c)	-	note collaboration between or among local authorities on their com- resource management issues.	
			Amendments to Part 4 of principal Act	
9	Section	on 24	amended (Functions of Minister for the Environment)	
(1)	After	sectio	on 24(b), insert:	10
	(ba)	the a	pproval of a national planning standard under section 58E :	
(2)		ction 2 ards,"	24(f), after "national policy statements,", insert "national planning	
10	Section	on 29	amended (Delegation of functions by Ministers)	
(1)	After	sectio	on 29(1)(d), insert:	15
	(da)	unde	oving, changing, replacing, or revoking a national planning standard resection 58E or 58G , other than to make changes that have no than a minor effect, correct obvious errors or omissions, or make ar technical changes:	
(2)	After	sectio	on 29(4A), insert:	20
(4B)	of the	e Min s that t	nmental Protection Authority may, in writing and with the consent ister of Conservation, delegate any of the functions, powers, and the Minister has delegated to the Authority—	
	(a)		r section 149ZD(4); and	
	(b)		r sections 357B(b), 357C, and 357D, in relation to a delegation to h paragraph (a) applies.	25
(3)	After	sectio	on 29(5), insert:	
(6)	A del	egatio	n under subsection (4B)—	
	(a)		vocable at will, but the revocation does not take effect until it is nunicated in writing to the delegate; and	30
	(b)		not prevent the Environmental Protection Authority from perform- ne functions or duties, or exercising the powers, concerned.	
11	Section	on 30	amended (Functions of regional councils under this Act)	
(1)			on 30(1)(b), insert:	
	(ba)		establishment, implementation, and review of objectives, policies, nethods to ensure that there is sufficient development capacity in re-	35

		lation regio	n to housing and business land to meet the expected demands of the on:		
(2)	Repe	al sect	tion 30(1)(c)(v).		
(3)		In section 30(1)(d)(v), delete "and the prevention or mitigation of any adverse effects of the storage, use, disposal, or transportation of hazardous substances".			
(4)	After	section	on 30(4), insert:		
(5)	In thi	s secti	ion and section 31,—		
			and means land that is zoned for business use in an urban environding, for example, land in the following zones:		
	(a)	busii	ness and business parks:	10	
	(b)	centi	res, to the extent that this zone allows business uses:		
	(c)	com	mercial:		
	(d)	indu	strial:		
	(e)	mixe	ed use, to the extent that this zone allows business uses:		
	(f)	retai	1	15	
		development capacity , in relation to housing and business land in urban areas, means the capacity of land for urban development, based on—			
	(a)	unde	coning, objectives, policies, rules, and overlays that apply to the land or the relevant proposed and operative regional policy statements, re- al plans, and district plans; and	20	
	(b)	the c	rapacity required to meet—		
		(i)	the expected short and medium term requirements; and		
		(ii)	the long term requirements; and		
	(c)		provision of adequate development infrastructure to support the dependent of the land	25	
	deve	lopme	ent infrastructure means the network infrastructure for—		
	(a)	wate	er supply, wastewater, and storm water; and		
	(b)		e extent that it is controlled by local authorities, land transport as delin section 5(1) of the Land Transport Management Act 2003.		
12			amended (Functions of territorial authorities under this Act)	30	
(1)			on 31(1)(a), insert:		
	(aa)	and 1	establishment, implementation, and review of objectives, policies, methods to ensure that there is sufficient development capacity in ret of housing and business land to meet the expected demands of the ict:	35	

22

(2)

Repeal section 31(1)(b)(ii).

13		on 32 amended (Requirements for preparing and publishing nation reports)	
(1)	In sec	etion 32(3), after "statement,", insert "national planning standard,".	
(1A)	In sec	ction 32(4), after "greater", insert "or lesser".	
(2)	After	section 32(4), insert:	5
(4A)	corda	e proposal is a proposed policy statement, plan, or change prepared in acture with any of the processes provided for in Schedule 1, the evaluation t must—	
	(a)	summarise all advice concerning the proposal received from iwi authorities under the relevant provisions of Schedule 1; and	10
	(b)	summarise the response to the advice, including any provisions of the proposal that are intended to give effect to the advice.	
(2A)	In sec	etion 32(5)(b), delete "publicly".	
(3)		ction 32(6), definition of proposal , after "statement,", insert "national ing standard,".	15
14		on 32AA amended (Requirements for undertaking and publishing ter evaluations)	
(1)	In sec	etion 32AA(1)(d)(i),—	
	(a)	after "New Zealand coastal policy statement", insert "or a national planning standard"; and	20
	(b)	delete "publicly".	
(2)	In sec	etion 32AA(3), after "statement,", insert "national planning standard,".	
15	Secti	on 32A amended (Failure to carry out evaluation)	
		etion 32A(3), after "statement,", insert "national planning standard,".	
16	and o	on 34A amended (Delegation of powers and functions to employees other persons)	25
		section 34A(1), insert:	
(1A)	to ex	ocal authority is considering appointing 1 or more hearings commissioners ercise a delegated power to conduct a hearing under <u>Part 1 Part 1 or 5</u> of dule 1,—	30
	(a)	the local authority must consult tangata whenua through relevant iwi authorities on whether it is appropriate to appoint a commissioner with an understanding of tikanga Māori and of the perspectives of local iwi or hapū; and	
	(b)	if the local authority considers it appropriate, it must appoint at least 1 commissioner with an understanding of tikanga Māori and of the per-	35

spectives	of local	iwi	or haj	pū, in	consultation	with	relevant	iwi	author-
ities.									

18	Section 35 amended (Duty to gather information, monitor, and keep
	records)

- (1) After section 35(2)(c), insert:
 - the efficiency and effectiveness of processes used by the local authority in exercising its powers or performing its functions or duties (including those delegated or transferred by it), including matters such as timeliness, cost, and the overall satisfaction of those persons or bodies in respect of whom the powers, functions, or duties are exercised or performed; and
- (2) After section 35(2), insert:
- (2AA) Monitoring required by subsection (2) must be undertaken in accordance with any regulations.

19 Section 35A amended (Duty to keep records about iwi and hapu)

15

20

30

35

5

10

- (1) In section 35A(1)(c), after "kaitiakitanga", insert "; and".
- (2) After section 35A(1)(c), insert:
 - (d) any Mana Whakahono a Rohe entered into under section 58L.
- 20 Section 36 amended (Administrative charges)
- (1) In section 36(1), delete ", subject to subsection (2),".
- (2) After section 36(1)(cb), insert:
 - (cc) charges payable by a person who carries out a permitted activity, for the monitoring of that activity, if the local authority is empowered to charge for the monitoring in accordance with section 43A(8):
- (3) In section 36(1), delete "Charges fixed under this subsection shall be either specific amounts or determined by reference to scales of charges or other formulae fixed by the local authority."
- (4) Replace section 36(2) to (8) with:
- (2) Charges fixed under this section must be either specific amounts or determined by reference to scales of charges or other formulae fixed by the local authority.
- (3) Charges may be fixed under this section only—
 - (a) in the manner set out in section 150 of the Local Government Act 2002; and
 - (b) after using the special consultative procedure set out in section 83 of the Local Government Act 2002; and
 - (c) in accordance with section 36AAA.

(4)			hority must fix a charge under this section if required to do so by made under section 360E .	
	Addi	tional d	charges	
(5)	ity to	r this s recov	ere regulations are made under section 360E , if a charge fixed ection is, in any particular case, inadequate to enable a local authorer its actual and reasonable costs in respect of the matter concerned, athority may require the person who is liable to pay the charge to additional charge to the local authority.	5
(6)	this s	ection	hority must, on request by any person liable to pay a charge under, provide an estimate of any additional charge likely to be imposed section (5).	10
(7)	certa	in deci	isions) apply in respect of the requirement by a local authority to tional charge under subsection (5) .	
	Othe	r matte	ers	15
(8)	Sect	ion 30	6AAB sets out other matters relating to administrative charges.	
21	New	sectio	ns 36AAA and 36AAB inserted	
	After	sectio	on 36, insert:	
36A	AA Cı	iteria	for fixing administrative charges	
(1)			g charges under section 36, a local authority must have regard to the out in this section.	20
(2)		-	irpose of a charge is to recover the reasonable costs incurred by the rity in respect of the activity to which the charge relates.	
(3)	A pa only-		r person or particular persons should be required to pay a charge	25
	(a)	charg	e extent that the benefit of the local authority's actions to which the ge relates is obtained by those persons as distinct from the commu- of the local authority as a whole; or	
	(b)		re the need for the local authority's actions to which the charge re- results from the actions of those persons; or	30
	(c)	ing f	case where the charge is in respect of the local authority's monitor- functions under section 35(2)(a) (which relates to monitoring the of the whole or part of the environment),—	
		(i)	to the extent that the monitoring relates to the likely effects on the environment of those persons' activities; or	35
		(ii)	to the extent that the likely benefit to those persons of the monitoring exceeds the likely benefit of the monitoring to the commu-	

nity of the local authority as a whole.

(4)		ocal authority may fix different charges for different costs it incurs in the rmance of its various functions, powers, and duties under this Act—	
	(a)	in relation to different areas or different classes of applicant, consent holder, requiring authority, or heritage protection authority; or	
	(b)	where any activity undertaken by the persons liable to pay any charge reduces the cost to the local authority of carrying out any of its functions, powers, and duties.	5
36A	AB Ot	her matters relating to administrative charges	
(1)	mit th	al authority may, in any particular case and in its absolute discretion, re- ne whole or any part of any charge of a kind referred to in section 36 that d otherwise be payable.	10
(2)	ty, the	e a charge of a kind referred to in section 36 is payable to a local authori- e local authority need not perform the action to which the charge relates the charge has been paid to it in full.	
(3)	36(1)	ever, subsection (2) does not apply to a charge to which section (ab)(ii), (ad)(ii), or (cb)(iv) applies (relating to independent hearings comoners requested by submitters or reviews required by a court order).	15
(4)		eal authority must publish and maintain, on an Internet site to which the c has free access, an up-to-date list of charges fixed under section 36.	
21A	Section	on 39B amended (Persons who may be given hearing authority)	20
		ction 39B(1)(f), after "Schedule 1", insert "or given limited notification clause 5A of that schedule".	
		Amendments to Part 4A of principal Act	
22	Section	on 42C amended (Functions of EPA)	
		section 42C(d), insert:	25
	(daa)	to provide planning advice under section 149L to a board of inquiry:	
	(dab)	if requested by the Minister, to provide secretarial and support services to a person appointed under another Act to make a decision requiring the application of provisions of this Act as applied or modified by the other Act:	30
	(dac)	if requested by the Minister, to provide advice and secretarial and support services to the Minister in relation to the Minister's functions under the streamlined planning process (<i>see</i> subpart 5 of Part 5 and Part 5 of Schedule 1).	
23	New	section 42CA inserted (Cost recovery for specified function of EPA)	35

After section 42C, insert:

5

10

15

42CA Cost reco	very for	specified	function	of EPA	
----------------	----------	-----------	----------	--------	--

- (1) If the Minister asks the EPA under **section 42C(dab)** to provide secretarial and support services to a person (a **supported person**),—
 - (a) the Minister may direct the EPA to recover from that person the actual and reasonable costs incurred by the EPA in providing the services; and
 - (b) the EPA may recover those costs in accordance with the direction, but only to the extent that they are not provided for by an appropriation under the Public Finance Act 1989.
- (2) The EPA must, on request by the supported person, provide an estimate of the costs likely to be recovered under this section.
- (3) When recovering costs under this section, the EPA must have regard to the following criteria:
 - (a) the sole purpose is to recover the reasonable costs incurred in providing the services:
 - (b) the supported person should be required to pay for costs only to the extent that the benefit of the services provided by the EPA is obtained by that person as distinct from the community as a whole:
 - (c) the extent to which any activity by the supported person reduces the cost to the EPA of providing the services.
- (4) If the EPA requires a supported person to pay costs recoverable under this section, the costs are a debt due to the Crown that is recoverable by the EPA on behalf of the Crown in any court of competent jurisdiction.

Amendments to Part 5 of principal Act

23A Section 43AA amended (Interpretation)

In section 43AA, definition of proposed policy statement,—

25

- (a) after "clause 5 of Schedule 1", insert ", or given limited notification under clause 5A of that schedule,"; and
- (b) replace "clause 20 of Schedule 1" with "clause 20 of that schedule".

23B Section 43AAC amended (Meaning of proposed plan)

In section 43AAC(1)(a),—

30

- (a) after "clause 5 of Schedule 1", insert "or given limited notification under **clause 5A** of that schedule,"; and
- (b) replace "clause 20 of Schedule 1" with "clause 20 of that schedule".

24 Cross-heading above section 43 replaced

Replace the cross-heading above section 43 with:

35

Subpart 1—National direction

National environmental standards

25	Section 43 amended (Regulations prescribing national environmenta
	standards)

	stand	ards)	
(1AA)) Afte	r section 43(2)(d), insert:	5
	(da)	non-technical methods or requirements:	
(1)	After	section 43(3), insert:	
(4)	Regul	ations made under this section may apply—	
	(a)	generally; or	
	(b)	to any specified district or region of any local authority; or	10
	(c)	to any specified part of New Zealand.	
26	Section	on 43A amended (Contents of national environmental standards)	
(1AA)) In se	ection 43A(1)(f), after "permits", insert "or consents".	
(1AB)) In se	ection 43A(2)(a)(i), after "standard", insert ", including the duration of a nt".	15
(1AC)	Afte:	r section 43A(3), insert:	
(3A)	hazar	ver, despite subsection (3), an activity that, in whole or in part, involves a dous substance or new organism may be classified as a permitted activity national environmental standard.	
(3B)	Subs	ection (3A) applies only—	20
	(a)	if the hazardous substance or new organism has been approved under the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996; and	
	(b)	to the extent that any adverse effects of the hazardous substance or new organism on the environment are managed under conditions imposed on the approval granted under that Act.	25
(1)	After	section 43A(7), insert:	
(8)		ional environmental standard may empower local authorities to charge for oring any specified permitted activities in the standard.	
27		on 43B amended (Relationship between national environmental ards and rules or consents)	30
(1)	Repla	ce section 43B(3) with:	
(3)	standa	e or resource consent that is more lenient than a national environmental and prevails over the standard if the standard expressly says that a rule or not may be more lenient than it.	

In section 43B(5), after "granted", insert "under the district rules".

Replace section 43B(6) with:

35

(2)

(3)

(6)	The stand	following permits and consents prevail over a national environmental lard:	
	(a)	a coastal, water, or discharge permit:	
	(b)	a land use consent granted in relation to a regional rule.	
(6A)	Sub	section (6) applies—	5
	(a)	if those permits or consents are granted before the date on which a relevant national environmental standard is notified in the <i>Gazette</i> :	
	(b)	until a review of the conditions of the permit or consent under section 128(1)(ba) results in some or all of the standard prevailing over the permit or consent.	10
27A		ion 43E amended (Relationship between national environmental dards and bylaws)	
	Repl	ace section 43E(3) with:	
(3)	•	vlaw may be more lenient than a national environmental standard if the lard expressly specifies that the bylaw may be more lenient.	15
27B		ion 43G repealed (Incorporation of material by reference in national ronmental standards)	
	Repe	eal section 43G.	
28		ion 44 amended (Restriction on power to make national environmental dards)	20
(1)	Repl	ace section 44(1) and (2) with:	
(1)		re recommending the making of a national environmental standard to the ernor-General, the Minister must—	
	(a)	comply with section 46A(3); and	
	(b)	prepare an evaluation report for the standard in accordance with section 32; and	25
	(c)	have particular regard to that report when deciding whether to recommend the making of the standard; and	
	(d)	publicly notify the report and recommendation made under section 46A(4)(c) or 51(2), as the case requires.	30
(2)	In se	ction 44(3), after "steps", insert "in section 46A".	
28A		ion 44A amended (Local authority recognition of national ronmental standards)	

the rule in the plan is more lenient than a provision in the standard and

the standard does not expressly specify that a rule may be more lenient

Replace section 44A(2)(b) with:

than the provision in the standard.

(b)

35

29 New section 45A inserted (Contents of national policy statements)

After section 45, insert:

45A	Contents	of national	policy	statements
	Contents	or maniomar	Policy	Statement

A national policy statement must state objectives and policies for matters of na-(1) tional significance that are relevant to achieving the purpose of this Act.

5

10

20

25

- (2) A national policy statement may also state—
 - (a) the matters that local authorities must consider in preparing policy statements and plans:
 - (b) methods or requirements in policy statements or plans, and any specifications for how local authorities must apply those methods or requirements, including the use of models and formulas:

the matters that local authorities are required to achieve or provide for in (c) policy statements and plans:

- constraints or limits on the content of policy statements or plans: (d)
- (e) objectives and policies that must be included in policy statements and 15 plans:
- (f) directions to local authorities on the collection and publication of specific information in order to achieve the objectives of the statement:
- (g) directions to local authorities on monitoring and reporting on matters relevant to the statement, including
 - directions for monitoring and reporting on their progress in rela-(i) tion to any provision included in the statement under this section; and
 - directions for monitoring and reporting on how they are giving ef-(ii) fect to the statement; and
 - directions specifying standards, methods, or requirements for carrying out monitoring and reporting under subparagraph (i)
- (h) any other matter relating to the purpose or implementation of the state-

30

- A national policy statement may apply— (3)
 - generally; or (a)
 - (b) to any specified district or region of any local authority; or
 - to any specified part of New Zealand. (c)
- **(4)** A national policy statement may include transitional provisions for any matter, 35 including its effect on existing matters or proceedings.

(5)	matte	er incl	on undertaken before this section comes into force in relation to a uded in a national policy statement satisfies the requirement for conder section 46A .	
30			repealed (Proposed national policy statement) tion 46.	5
30A			A replaced (Minister chooses process) ction 46A with:	
46A	Sing	le pro	cess for preparing national directions	
(1)		section	n and sections 47 to 51 set out the requirements for preparing a naction.	10
(2)			ion and sections 47 to 51, national direction means both or either of ng documents:	
	(a)	a nat	tional environmental standard:	
	(b)	a nat	tional policy statement.	
(3)	If the		nister proposes to issue a national direction, the Minister must	15
	(a)	follo	w the requirements set out in sections 47 to 51; or	
	(b)		plish and follow a process that includes the steps described in subtion (4) .	
(4)		-	required in the process established under subsection (3)(b) must following:	20
	(a)	the p	public and iwi authorities must be given notice of—	
		(i)	the proposed national direction; and	
		(ii)	why the Minister considers that the proposed national direction is consistent with the purpose of the Act; and	25
	(b)		e notified must be given adequate time and opportunity to make a nission on the subject matter of the proposed national direction; and	
	(c)	-	port and recommendations must be made to the Minister on the sub- ions and the subject matter of the national direction; and	
	(d)	in th	natters listed in section 51(1) must be considered as if the references at provision to a board of inquiry were references to the person who ares the report and recommendations.	30
(5)	-	-	ng a national direction, the Minister may, at any time, consult on a nal direction.	
(6)	Whe		osing between subsection (3)(a) and (b), the Minister may con-	35

	(a)		dvantages and disadvantages of preparing the proposed national di- on quickly:	
	(b)	the ex	stent to which the proposed national direction differs from—	
		(i)	other national environmental standards:	
		(ii)	other national policy statements:	5
		(iii)	regional policy statements:	
		(iv)	plans:	
	(c)		xtent and timing of public debate and consultation that took place e the proposed national direction was prepared:	
	(d)	any o	ther relevant matter.	10
(7)	ommo made (3) sa	end the under atisfies	ter decides, after consulting as required by subsection (3) , to recat regulations on the same subject matter as that consulted on be any of sections 360 to 360G , the consultation under subsection the requirement to consult the public and iwi authorities in relation ulations.	15
(8)	lował Legis	ole ins	policy statement prepared in accordance with this section is a disaltrument, but not a legislative instrument, for the purposes of the Act 2012 and must be presented to the House of Representatives in 41 of that Act.	
30B			B amended (Incorporation of material by reference in national ments)	20
30B (1)	polic	y state		20
	policy In the	y state headi	ments)	20
(1)	In the	y state headi ction 4	ments) ng to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction". 6B, replace "policy statement" with "direction".	20
(1) (2)	In the In sec	y state headi tion 4 on 47	ments) ng to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction".	2025
(1) (2)	In the In section In section Section Section Section Section Section Section In section Section In section In section Section In section Section In sectio	y state headiction 4 on 47 action 4 on 48 action 48	ments) ng to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction". 6B, replace "policy statement" with "direction". amended (Board of inquiry)	
(1) (2) 30C	In the In section Sect	y state headi tetion 4 on 47; tetion 4 on 48; ment a ace the	ments) ng to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction". 6B, replace "policy statement" with "direction". amended (Board of inquiry) 7(1), replace "policy statement" with "direction". amended (Public notification of proposed national policy	
(1) (2) 30C 30D	In the In section Sect	y state headi ction 4 on 47 ction 4 on 48 ment a ace the nal di	ments) ng to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction". 6B, replace "policy statement" with "direction". amended (Board of inquiry) 7(1), replace "policy statement" with "direction". amended (Public notification of proposed national policy and inquiry) heading to section 48 with "Public notification of proposal for	
(1) (2) 30C 30D (1)	In the In section In section states Replaination In section In sec	y state headi etion 4 on 47; etion 4 on 48; ment a ace the nal di etion 4	ments) Ing to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction". Ing to section 46B, replace "policy statement" with "direction". Ingelace "policy statemen	25
(1) (2) 30C 30D (1)	section In	y state headiction 4 on 47 ction 4 on 48 ment a nce the nal direction 4	ments) Ing to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction". Ing to section 46B, replace "policy statement" with "direction". Ingelace "policy statement" with "Public notification of proposal for rection and inquiry". Ingelace "policy statement" with "direction".	25
(1) (2) 30C 30D (1) (2) (3)	In the In section In section Section Section In section	y state headi etion 4 on 47; etion 4 on 48; ment a ace the nal di etion 4 etion 4 on 49;	ments) Ing to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction". Ing to section 46B, replace "policy statement" with "direction". Ingelace "policy statement" with "Public notification of proposal for rection and inquiry". Ingelace "policy statement" with "direction". Ingelace "policy statement" with "direction".	25
(1) (2) 30C 30D (1) (2) (3)	Section In	y state headiction 4 on 47 ction 4 on 48 ment a nce the nal direction 4 ction 4 ction 4	ments) ng to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction". 6B, replace "policy statement" with "direction". amended (Board of inquiry) 7(1), replace "policy statement" with "direction". amended (Public notification of proposed national policy and inquiry) heading to section 48 with "Public notification of proposal for rection and inquiry". 8(1), replace "policy statement" with "direction". 8(2)(a), (ab), and (b), replace "policy statement" with "direction". amended (Submissions to board of inquiry)	25
(1) (2) 30C 30D (1) (2) (3) 30E	In the In section In s	y state headi etion 4 on 47; etion 4 on 48; ment a ace the nal di etion 4 etion 4 on 49; etion 4 on 50;	ments) Ing to section 46B, replace "policy statements" with "direction". Ing to section 46B, replace "policy statement" with "direction". Ingelace "policy statement" with "Public notification of proposal for rection and inquiry". Ingelace "policy statement" with "direction".	25

30G	Section 51 amended (Matters to be considered and board of inquiry's report)	
	In section 51(1)(b) and (c), replace "policy statement" with "direction".	
30H	Section 52 amended (Consideration of recommendations and approval or withdrawal of statement)	5
(1)	In section 52(1), replace "The Minister,—" with "In the case of a national policy statement, whether made in accordance with section 46A(3)(a) or (b) , the Minister—".	
(2)	In section 52(1)(a), replace "section 51" with "section 46A(4)(c) or 51, as the case requires".	10
(3)	In section 52(1)(c),—	
	(a) replace "a further" with "an"; and	
	(b) replace "section 32AA" with "section 32".	
33	Section 55 amended (Local authority recognition of national policy statements)	15
(1AA	A) In section 55(2)(b), after "statement", insert "; or".	
(1AB	3) After section 55(2)(b), insert:	
	(c) if it is necessary to make the document consistent with any constraint of limit set out in the statement.	or
(1)	In section 55(3), replace "specified in" with "directed by".	20
(2)	Repeal section 55(4).	
35	Section 56 amended (Purpose of New Zealand coastal policy statements)	
	In section 56, after "state", insert "objectives and".	
35A	Section 57 amended (Preparation of New Zealand coastal policy statements)	25
	In section 57(1), replace "section 46A(1)" with "section 46A(3)".	
36	Section 58 amended (Contents of New Zealand coastal policy statements)	
	In section 58, insert as subsections (2) and (3):	
(2)	A New Zealand coastal policy statement may also include any of the matter specified in section 45A(2) and (4) (which applies as if references to a national policy statement were references to a New Zealand coastal policy statement).	a- 30
(3)	A New Zealand coastal policy statement or any provisions of it may apply—	
	(a) generally within the coastal environment; or	
	(b) to any specified part of the coastal environment.	35

36A Section 58A repealed (Incorporation of material by reference in New Zealand coastal policy statements)

Repeal section 58A.

37 New sections 58B to 58J and cross-heading inserted

After section 58A, insert:

5

10

15

National planning standards

58B Purposes of national planning standards

- (1) The purposes of national planning standards are—
 - (a) to assist in achieving the purpose of this Act; and
 - (b) to set out requirements or other provisions relating to any aspect of the structure, format, or content of regional policy statements and plans to address any matter that the Minister considers—
 - (ii) requires national consistency:
 - (iia) is required to support the implementation of a national environmental standard, a national policy statement, a New Zealand coastal policy statement, or regulations made under this Act:
 - is required to assist people to comply with the procedural principles set out in section 18A.
- (2) In this section and **sections 58C to 58J**, references to the Minister are to be read as references to the Minister of Conservation if, and to the extent that, a matter relates to the coastal marine area.

58C Scope and contents of national planning standards

- (1) National planning standards must—
 - (a) give effect to national policy statements; and
 - (b) be consistent with—

25

30

- (i) national environmental standards; and
- (ii) regulations made under this Act; and
- (iii) water conservation orders.
- (1A) National planning standards may specify—
 - (a) any of the matters specified in **section 45A(2) and (4)** (which applies as if the national planning standard were a national policy statement):
 - (b) objectives, policies, methods (including rules), and other provisions to be included in plans:
 - (c) objectives, policies, methods (but not rules), and other provisions to be included in regional policy statements:

10

15

20

25

35

- (d) that a local authority must review, under section 128(1), a discharge, coastal, or water permit, or a land use consent required in relation to a regional rule.
- (2) For the purpose of **subsection (1A)(b)**, national planning standards may include any rules that could be included in any plan under section 68, 68A to 70A, 76, or 77A to 77D.
- (3) A national planning standard may also—
 - (a) specify the structure and form of regional policy statements and plans:
 - (b) direct local authorities—
 - (i) to use a particular structure and form for regional policy statements and plans:
 - (ii) to include specific provisions in their policy statements and plans:
 - (iii) to choose from a number of specific provisions to be included in their policy statements and plans:
 - (c) direct whether a national planning standard applies generally, to specific regions or districts, or to other parts of New Zealand:
 - (d) include time frames for local authorities to give effect to the whole or part of a national planning standard, including different time frames for different local authorities:
 - (e) specify where local provisions must or may be included in regional policy statements and plans:
 - (f) include requirements that relate to the electronic accessibility and functionality of policy statements and plans.
- (5) National planning standards may incorporate material by reference, and Schedule 1AA applies for the purposes of this subsection as if references to a national environmental standard, national policy statement, or New Zealand coastal policy statement included references to the national planning standards.
- (6) National planning standards may, for ease of reference, set out (or incorporate by reference) provisions of a national policy statement, New Zealand coastal policy statement, or regulations (including a national environmental standard), but those provisions do not form part of a national planning standard for the purposes of any other provision of this Act or for any other purpose.

58D Preparation of national planning standards

- (1) If the Minister decides to prepare a national planning standard, the Minister must prepare it in accordance with this section and **sections 58E to 58J**.
- (2) In preparing or amending a national planning standard, the Minister may have regard to—
 - (b) whether it is desirable to have national consistency in relation to a resource management issue:

	(ba)	natio	her the national planning standard supports the implementation of nal environmental standards, national policy statements, a New and coastal policy statement, or regulations made under this Act:	
	(bb)		her the national planning standard should allow for local circumes and, if so, to what extent:	5
	(bc)		her it is appropriate for the national planning standard to apply to a fied district, region, or other parts of New Zealand rather than na- lly:	
	(c)	any o	other matter that is relevant to the purpose of the national planning ard.	10
(3)	Befor	re appr	roving a national planning standard, the Minister must—	
	(a)	prepa	are a draft national planning standard; and	
	(b)	ticula	are an evaluation report in accordance with section 32 and have par- ar regard to that report before deciding whether to publicly notify raft; and	15
	(c)	publi	cly notify the draft; and	
	(d)	estab	lish a process that—	
		(i)	the Minister considers gives the public, local authorities, and iwi authorities adequate time and opportunity to make a submission on the draft; and	20
		(ii)	requires a report and recommendations to be made to the Minister on those eomments—submissions and the subject matter of the draft.	
58E	Appr	oval o	f national planning standard	
(1)	Befor	re appr	roving a national planning standard, the Minister must—	25
	(a)		der the report and recommendations made under section 3)(d)(ii); and	
	(b)	accor	out a further evaluation of the draft national planning standard in dance with section 32AA and have particular regard to that evaluwhen deciding whether to approve the national planning standard.	30
(2)	The N	Ministe	er may—	
	(a)		ove a national planning standard after changing the draft in the man- nat the Minister thinks fit; or	
	(b)		draw all or part of a draft national planning standard and give public e of the withdrawal, including the reasons for the withdrawal.	35
(4)		Ministe Gazer	er must give notice of the approval of a national planning standard tte.	

(5)	instru	onal planning standards are disallowable instruments, but not legislative aments, for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012 and must be presented the House of Representatives under section 41 of that Act.	
58F	Publ	ication of national planning standards and other documents	
(1)	The I	Minister must ensure that—	5
	(a)	public notice is given of the approval of a national planning standard; and	
	(ab)	all national planning standards are published together in an integrated format that will assist the implementation of the national planning standards; and	10
	(b)	copies of all national planning standards are provided to every local authority.	
(2)	and 58D (lish t	Minister must publish all the national planning standards and the reports any recommendations on them made to the Minister under section 3)(d) on an Internet site to which the public has free access, and may pubhe national planning standards and the reports and recommendations in other way or form that the Minister considers appropriate.	15
58FA	First	set of national planning standards	
(1)		Minister must ensure that a first set of national planning standards is ap- ed not later than 2 years after the date on which this section comes into .	20
(2)		first set of national planning standards must include the following min- requirements (the minimum requirements):	
	(a)	a structure and form for policy statements and plans, including references to relevant national policy statements, national environmental standards, and regulations made under this Act; and	25
	(b)	definitions; and	
	(c)	requirements for the electronic functionality and accessibility of policy statements and plans.	
(3)	natio	Minister must ensure that, at all times after the approval of the first set of nal planning standards, the minimum requirements are included in a planstandard.	30

58G Changing, replacing, or revoking national planning standards

- (1) The Minister may change or replace a national planning standard, following the process set out in **sections 58D and 58E**.
- (2) If a change to a national planning standard has not more than a minor effect or corrects errors or makes similar technical alterations, the Minister may make the change without following the process set out in sections 58D and 58E,

		than to give notice of the change in the <i>Gazette</i> and on the Internet site ed to in section 58F(2) .	
(3)		Minister wishes to revoke a national planning standard in whole or in the Minister—	
	(a)	must give the public and iwi authorities notice, with adequate time and opportunity to comment on the proposed revocation; but	5
	(b)	may make the revocation and give notice of it in the manner provided for notification of a change in subsection (2) .	
(5)	have	evocation of the whole or part of a national planning standard does not the effect of revoking any provision of a plan included at the direction of, reliance on, a revoked provision of the national planning standard.	10
58H	Local	authority recognition of national planning standards	
(1)	In thi	s section and sections 58I and 58J , document means any of the folg:	
	(a)	a regional policy statement:	15
	(b)	a proposed regional policy statement:	
	(c)	a proposed plan:	
	(d)	a plan:	
	(e)	a variation:	
	(f)	a change.	20
	Mana	latory directions	
(2)		ational planning standard so directs, a local authority must amend each of cuments—	
	(a)	to include specific provisions in the documents; and	
	(b)	to ensure that the document is consistent with any constraint or limit placed on the content of the document under section 58C(1A)(a) to (c).	25
(2A)	An ar	nendment required by subsection (2) must—	
	(a)	be made without using any of the processes set out in Schedule 1; and	
	(b)	be made within the time specified in the national planning standard or (in the absence of a specified time) within 1 year after the date of the notification in the <i>Gazette</i> of the approval of the national planning standard; and	30
	(c)	amend the document to include the provisions as directed; and	
	(d)	include any consequential amendments to any document as necessary to avoid duplication or conflict with the amendments; and	35
	(e)	be publicly notified not later than 5 working days after the amendments are made under paragraph (d) .	

Discretionar	v directions

- (3) If a national planning standard directs a local authority to choose from a number of specific provisions in a national planning standard, the local authority must—
 - (a) choose an appropriate provision; and

10

25

30

35

- (b) use one of the processes set out in Schedule 1 in order to apply the provision to the local circumstances, but not to decide the content of the provision set by the national planning standard; and
- (c) notify any amendment required under this section within the time specified in the national planning standard, using any of the processes provided for by Schedule 1; and
- (d) make any consequential amendments to its documents needed to avoid duplication or inconsistency, but without using a process set out in Schedule 1; and
- (e) publicly notify any amendments made under **paragraph** (d) not later than 5 working days after the amendments are made.
- (4) A document is amended as from the date of the relevant public notice under subsection (2A)(e) or (3)(c).
- (4A) For the purpose of **subsection (3)(a)**, a national planning standard may specify how local authorities are to choose relevant provisions from the national planning standard.

Other changes that may be directed

- (5) A local authority must—
 - (a) make all other amendments to any document that are required to give effect to any provision in a national planning standard that affects the document, using one of the processes set out in Schedule 1; and
 - (b) notify all amendments required under **paragraph** (a) not later than 1 year after the date of the notification in the *Gazette* of the approval of the national planning standard or at another time specified in the national planning standard.

(8) A local authority must also take any other action that is directed by a national planning standard.

(9) This section and **section 581** are subject to the obligations of local authorities, or of any particular local authority, under any other Act that relates to the preparation or change of a policy statement or plan under this Act.

58I Time frames applying under first set of national planning standards

(1) In the case of the first set of national planning standards, if a process provided by Schedule 1 is required, a local authority must make any amendments re-

	-	I not later than the fifth anniversary of the date on which the first set is ed in the <i>Gazette</i> under section 58J , unless—	
	(a)	a different time is specified in the first set; or	
	(b)	subsection (3) applies.	
(2)	Subs	ection (3) applies if—	5
	(a)	a local authority has notified a proposed policy statement or plan before the first set of national planning standards is notified in the <i>Gazette</i> ; and	
	(b)	a process provided by Schedule 1 is required.	
(3)	If this quired	s subsection applies, the local authority must make the amendments re-	10
	(a)	within the time specified in the national planning standard; or	
	(b)	if no time is specified, not later than 5 years after the date on which the proposed policy statement or plan becomes operative.	
		Publication of documents	
58J	Oblig	gation to publish documents	15
	tional its do	atter than 1 year after the date on which the approval of the first set of naplanning standards is notified in the <i>Gazette</i> , a local authority must make cuments publicly available, free of charge on a single searchable Internet is they relate to a particular district or region.	
38	New	subpart 2 of Part 5 and new subpart 3 heading in Part 5 inserted	20
	After	section 58J (as inserted by section 37 of the Resource Legislation adment Act 2015), insert:	
Sul	opart i	2—Mana Whakahono a Rohe: Iwi participation arrangements	
58K	Defin	itions	
	In this	s subpart and Schedule 1,—	25
		of interest means the area that the iwi and hapū represented by an iwi auy identify as their traditional rohe	
	initia	ting iwi authority has the meaning given in section 58N(1)	
	any lo	articipation legislation means legislation (other than this Act), including egislation listed in Schedule 3 of the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975, that des a role for iwi or hapū in processes under this Act	30
		Whakahono a Rohe means an iwi participation arrangement entered in- der this subpart	
	parti	cipating authorities has the meaning given in section 58N(5)	
	parti	cipating iwi authorities means the iwi authorities that—	35

- (a) have agreed to participate in a Mana Whakahono a Rohe; and
- (b) have agreed the order in which negotiations are to be conducted

relevant iwi authority means an iwi authority whose area of interest overlaps with, or is adjacent to, the area of interest of an initiating iwi authority

relevant local authority means a district or regional council whose area of interest overlaps with, or is adjacent to, the area of interest represented by the initiating iwi authority.

Purpose and guiding principles

58L Purpose of Mana Whakahono a Rohe

The purpose of a Mana Whakahono a Rohe is—

10

5

- (a) to provide a mechanism for iwi authorities and local authorities to discuss, agree, and record ways in which tangata whenua may, through their iwi authorities, participate in resource management and decision-making processes under this Act; and
- (b) to assist local authorities to comply with their statutory duties under this Act, including through the implementation of sections 6(e), 7(a), and 8.

15

20

58M Guiding principles

In initiating, developing, and implementing a Mana Whakahono a Rohe, the participating authorities must use their best endeavours—

- (a) to achieve the purpose of the Mana Whakahono a Rohe in an enduring manner:
- (b) to enhance the opportunities for collaboration amongst the participating authorities, including by promoting—
 - (i) the use of integrated processes:
 - (ii) co-ordination of the resources required to undertake the obligations and responsibilities of the parties to the Mana Whakahono a Rohe:
- (c) in determining whether to proceed to negotiate a joint or multi-party Mana Whakahono a Rohe, to achieve the most effective and efficient means of meeting the statutory obligations of the participating authorities:
- (d) to work together in good faith and in a spirit of co-operation:
- (e) to communicate with each other in an open, transparent, and honest manner:
- (f) to recognise and acknowledge the benefit of working together by sharing their respective vision and expertise:
- (g) to commit to meeting statutory time frames and minimise delays and costs associated with the statutory processes:

(h) to recognise that a Mana Whakahono a Rohe under this subpart does not limit the requirements of any relevant iwi participation legislation or the agreements associated with that legislation.

5

10

20

25

35

Initiating Mana Whakahono a Rohe

58N Initiation of Mana Whakahono a Rohe

Invitation from 1 or more iwi authorities

(1) At any time other than in the period that is 90 days before the date of a triennial election under the Local Electoral Act 2001, 1 or more iwi authorities representing tangata whenua (the **initiating iwi authorities**) may invite 1 or more relevant local authorities in writing to enter into a Mana Whakahono a Rohe with the 1 or more iwi authorities.

Obligations of local authorities that receive invitation

- (2) As soon as is reasonably practicable after receiving an invitation under **subsection (1)**, the local authorities—
 - (a) may advise any relevant iwi authorities and relevant local authorities that the invitation has been received; and
 - (b) must convene a hui or meeting of the initiating iwi authority and any iwi authority or local authority identified under **paragraph (a)** (the **parties**) that wishes to participate to discuss how they will work together to develop a Mana Whakahono a Rohe under this subpart.
- (3) The hui or meeting required by **subsection (2)(b)** must be held not later than 60 working days after the invitation sent under **subsection (1)** is received, unless the parties agree otherwise.
- (4) The purpose of the hui or meeting is to provide an opportunity for the iwi authorities and local authorities concerned to discuss and agree on—
 - (a) the process for negotiation of 1 or more Mana Whakahono a Rohe; and
 - (b) which parties are to be involved in the negotiations; and
 - (c) the times by which specified stages of the negotiations must be concluded.
- (5) The iwi authorities and local authorities that are able to agree at the hui or meeting how they will develop a Mana Whakahono a Rohe (the **participating authorities**) must proceed to negotiate the terms of the Mana Whakahono a Rohe in accordance with that agreement and this subpart.
- (6) If 1 or more local authorities in an area are negotiating a Mana Whakahono a Rohe and a further invitation is received under **subsection (1)**, the participating iwi authorities and relevant local authorities may agree on the order in which they negotiate the Mana Whakahono a Rohe.

	Othe	r matters relevant to Mana Whakahono a Rohe	
(7)	ship ment	iwi authority and a local authority have at any time entered into a relation- agreement, to the extent that the agreement relates to resource manage- matters, the parties to that agreement may, by written agreement, treat agreement as if it were a Mana Whakahono a Rohe entered into under this art.	5
(8)	The j	participating authorities must take account of the extent to which resource agement matters are included in any iwi participation legislation and seek inimise duplication between the functions of the participating authorities r that legislation and those arising under the Mana Whakahono a Rohe.	10
(9)	ing,	ing in this subpart prevents a local authority from commencing, continuor completing any process under the Act while waiting for a response, or negotiating a Mana Whakahono a Rohe with, 1 or more iwi author-	
580	Othe	er opportunities to initiate Mana Whakahono a Rohe	15
	Later	r initiation by iwi authority	
(1)	whal no a at an	wi authority that, at the time of receiving an invitation to a meeting or hui r section 58N(2)(b) , does not wish to participate in negotiating a Mana kahono a Rohe, or withdraws from negotiations before a Mana Whakaho-Rohe is agreed, may participate in, or initiate, a Mana Whakahono a Rohe y later time (other than within the period that is 90 days before a triennial ion under the Local Electoral Act 2001).	20
(2)	as the	Mana Whakahono a Rohe exists and another iwi authority in the same area e initiating iwi wishes to initiate a Mana Whakahono a Rohe under sec-58N(1) , that iwi authority must first consider joining the existing Mana kahono a Rohe.	25
(3)	The p	provisions of this subpart apply to any initiation under subsection (1).	
	Initia	ntion by local authority	
(4)		cal authority may initiate a Mana Whakahono a Rohe with an iwi authority ith hapū.	30
(5)	The l	ocal authority and iwi authority or hapū concerned must agree on—	
	(a)	the process to be adopted; and	
	(b)	the time period within which the negotiations are to be concluded; and	
	(c)	how the Mana Whakahono a Rohe is to be implemented after negotiations are concluded.	35
(6)	sect autho	or more hapū are invited to enter a Mana Whakahono a Rohe under sub- ion (4) , the provisions of this subpart apply as if the references to an iwi prity were references to 1 or more hapū, to the extent that the provisions to the contents of a Mana Whakahono a Rohe (<i>see</i> sections 58L, 58M,	

58Q, 58S, and 58T).

58P	Time	e fram	e for concluding Mana Whakahono a Rohe	
			tion is initiated under section 58N(1) , the participating authorities ade a Mana Whakahono a Rohe within—	
	(a)	18 m	onths after the date on which the invitation is received; or	
	(b)	any c	other period agreed by all the participating authorities.	5
			Contents	
58Q	Cont	tents o	f Mana Whakahono a Rohe	
(1)	A M	ana Wl	nakahono a Rohe must—	
	(a)	be re	corded in writing; and	
	(b)	ident	ify the participating authorities; and	10
	(c)	recor	d the agreement of the participating authorities about—	
		(i)	how an iwi authority may participate in the preparation or change of a policy statement or plan, including the use of any of the pre- notification, collaborative, or streamlined planning processes under Schedule 1; and	15
		(ii)	how the participating authorities will undertake consultation requirements, including the requirements of section 34A(1A) and clause 4A of Schedule 1; and	
		(iii)	how the participating authorities will work together to develop and agree on methods for monitoring under the under this Act; and	20
		(iv)	how the participating authorities will give effect to the requirements of any relevant iwi participation legislation, or of any agreements associated with, or entered into under, that legislation; and	25
		(v)	a process for identifying and managing conflicts of interest; and	
		(vi)	the process that the parties will use for resolving disputes about the implementation of the Mana Whakahono a Rohe, including the matters described in subsection (2) .	
(2)	The	dispute	resolution process recorded under subsection (1)(c)(vi) must—	30
	(a)		ut the extent to which the outcome of a dispute resolution process constitute an agreement—	
		(i)	to alter or terminate a Mana Whakahono a Rohe (see subsection (5)):	
		(ii)	to conclude a Mana Whakahono a Rohe at a time other than that specified in section 58P :	35
		(iii)	to complete a Mana Whakahono a Rohe at a later date (see section 58S(2)):	

at a later date (see section 58S(3)):

(iv)

jointly to review the effectiveness of a Mana Whakahono a Rohe

		(v) to undertake any additional reporting (see section 585(5)); and	
	(b)	require each of the participating authorities to bear its own costs for any dispute resolution process undertaken.	5
3)	comn	dispute resolution process must not require a local authority to suspend nencing, continuing, or completing any process under the Act while the te resolution process is in contemplation or is in progress.	
4)	A Ma	na Whakahono a Rohe may also specify—	
	(a)	how a local authority is to consult or notify an iwi authority on resource consent matters, where the Act provides for consultation or notification:	10
	(b)	the circumstances in which an iwi authority may be given limited notification as an affected party:	
	(c)	any arrangement relating to other functions, duties, or powers under this Act:	15
	(d)	if there are 2 or more iwi authorities participating in a Mana Whakahono a Rohe, how those iwi authorities will work collectively together to participate with local authorities:	
	(e)	whether a participating iwi authority has delegated to a person or group of persons (including hap $\bar{\rm u}$) a role to participate in particular processes under this Act.	20
5)	Unles	s the participating authorities agree,—	
	(a)	the contents of a Mana Whakahono a Rohe must not be altered; and	
	(b)	a Mana Whakahono a Rohe must not be terminated.	
5)	Rohe conte	r more iwi authorities collectively have entered into a Mana Whakahono a with a local authority, any 1 of the iwi authorities, if seeking to amend the nts of the Mana Whakahono a Rohe, must negotiate with the local author-r that purpose rather than seek to enter into a new Mana Whakahono a	25
8R		lution of disputes that arise in course of negotiating Mana kahono a Rohe	30
1)		section applies if a dispute arises among participating authorities in the e of negotiating a Mana Whakahono a Rohe.	
2)	The p	articipating authorities—	
	(a)	may by agreement undertake a binding process of dispute resolution; but	35
	(b)	if they do not reach agreement on a binding process, must undertake a non-binding process of dispute resolution.	
3)		her the participating authorities choose a binding process or a non-binding ss, each authority must—	

	(a)	jointly appoint an arbitrator or a mediator; and	
	(b)	meet its own costs of the process.	
(4)	taken	e dispute remains unresolved after a non-binding process has been under, the participating authorities may individually or jointly seek the assist-of the Minister.	5
(5)		Minister, with a view to assisting the participating authorities to resolve ispute and conclude a Mana Whakahono a Rohe, may—	
	(a)	appoint, and meet the costs of, a Crown facilitator:	
	(b)	direct the participating authorities to use a particular alternative dispute resolution process for that purpose.	10
58S	Revi	ew and monitoring	
(1)	must	al authority that enters into a Mana Whakahono a Rohe under this subpart review its policies and processes to ensure that they are consistent with Iana Whakahono a Rohe.	
(2)	mont	review required by subsection (1) must be completed not later than 6 hs after the date of the Mana Whakahono a Rohe, unless a later date is d by the participating authorities.	15
(3)	Every sixth anniversary after the date of a Mana Whakahono a Rohe, or at any other time by agreement, the participating authorities must jointly review the effectiveness of the Mana Whakahono a Rohe, having regard to the purpose of a Mana Whakahono a Rohe stated in section 58L and the guiding principles set out in section 58M .		
(4)		obligations under this section are in addition to the obligations of a local prity under—	
	(a)	section 27 (the provision of information to the Minister):	25
	(b)	section 35 (monitoring and record keeping).	
(5)	-	additional reporting may be undertaken by agreement of the participating prities.	
58T	Relat	tionship with iwi participation legislation	
		ana Whakahono a Rohe does not limit any relevant provision of any iwi cipation legislation or any agreement under that legislation.	30
	S	subpart 3—Local authority policy statements and plans	
39		on 61 amended (Matters to be considered by regional council (policy ments))	
(1)	After	section 61(1)(d), insert:	35
	(da)	a national policy statement, a New Zealand coastal policy statement, and a national planning standard; and	

(2)	In section 61(2), replace "62(2)" with "62(3)".	
40	Section 62 amended (Contents of regional policy statements)	
(1)	Repeal section 62(1)(i)(ii).	
(2)	In section 62(3), replace "or New Zealand coastal policy statement" with ", a New Zealand coastal policy statement, or a national planning standard".	5
41	Section 65 amended (Preparation and change of other regional plans)	
(1)	Replace section 65(3)(c) with:	
	(c) any risks from natural hazards:	
(2)	In section 65(4), after "set out in", insert "Part 2 of".	
(3)	In section 65(5), replace "by the regional council in the manner set out in Schedule 1" with "in the manner set out in the relevant Part of Schedule 1".	10
(4)	In section 65(7), replace "local authority" with "regional council".	
42	Section 66 amended (Matters to be considered by regional council (plans))	
	After section 66(1)(e), insert:	
	(ea) a national policy statement, a New Zealand coastal policy statement, and a national planning standard; and	15
43	Section 67 amended (Contents of regional plans)	
	After section 67(3)(b), insert:	
	(ba) a national planning standard; and	
44	Section 69 amended (Rules relating to water quality)	20
	Section of amenaca (Naies relating to water quanty)	20
	After section 69(3), insert:	20
(4)	•	20
(4) 45	After section 69(3), insert: On and from the commencement of this subsection, Schedule 3 ceases to be ap-	20
45	After section 69(3), insert: On and from the commencement of this subsection, Schedule 3 ceases to be applicable to fresh water.	25
, ,	After section 69(3), insert: On and from the commencement of this subsection, Schedule 3 ceases to be applicable to fresh water. Section 73 amended (Preparation and change of district plans)	
45 (1)	After section 69(3), insert: On and from the commencement of this subsection, Schedule 3 ceases to be applicable to fresh water. Section 73 amended (Preparation and change of district plans) Replace section 73(1) with: There must at all times be 1 district plan for each district, prepared in the man-	
45 (1) (1)	After section 69(3), insert: On and from the commencement of this subsection, Schedule 3 ceases to be applicable to fresh water. Section 73 amended (Preparation and change of district plans) Replace section 73(1) with: There must at all times be 1 district plan for each district, prepared in the manner set out in the relevant Part of Schedule 1.	
45 (1) (1) (2)	After section 69(3), insert: On and from the commencement of this subsection, Schedule 3 ceases to be applicable to fresh water. Section 73 amended (Preparation and change of district plans) Replace section 73(1) with: There must at all times be 1 district plan for each district, prepared in the manner set out in the relevant Part of Schedule 1. Replace section 73(1A) with: A district plan may be changed in the manner set out in the relevant Part of	25

After section 74(1)(e), insert:

	(ea) a national policy statement, a New Zealand coastal policy statement, and a national planning standard; and	
47	Section 75 amended (Contents of district plans)	
	After section 75(3)(b), insert: (ba) a national planning standard; and	5
		3
48	Cross-heading above section 78 repealed	
	Repeal the cross-heading above section 78.	
49	New cross-heading above section 79 inserted	
	Before section 79, insert:	
	Review	10
<u>49A</u>	Section 79 amended (Review of policy statements and plans)	
<u>(1)</u>	In section 79(2), replace "Part 1" with "Parts 1, 4, or 5".	
<u>(2)</u>	In section 79(3)(b), replace "Part 1" with "Parts 1, 4, or 5".	
<u>(3)</u>	In section 79(6), replace "Part 1" with "Parts 1, 4, or 5".	
<u>(4)</u>	In section 79(7)(b), replace "Part 1" with "Parts 1, 4, or 5 ".	15
50	New cross-heading above section 80 inserted	
	Before section 80, insert:	
	Combined documents	
51	Section 80 amended (Combined regional and district documents)	
(1)	After section 80(6), insert:	20
(6A)	In preparing or amending a combined document, the relevant local authorities must apply the requirements of this Part, as relevant for the documents comprising the combined document.	
(6B)	The relevant local authorities may also, in preparing the provisions of a regional plan or a district plan, as the case may be, for a combined document that includes a regional policy statement,—	25
	(a) give effect to a proposed regional policy statement; and	
	(b) have regard to an operative regional policy statement.	
(2)	In section 80(7), replace "(6)" with "(6B)".	
52	New subparts 4 and 5 of Part 5 and new subpart 6 heading in Part 5 inserted	30
	After section 80, insert:	

Subpart 4—Collaborative planning process 80A Use of collaborative planning process (1) This subpart, subpart 7, and Part 4 of Schedule 1 apply if a local authority gives public notice in accordance with clause 38 of Schedule 1 of its intention to use the collaborative planning process— 5 to prepare or change a proposed policy statement or plan: (a) (b) to prepare or change a combined regional and district document under section 80. If this subpart applies,— (2) (a) clauses 1, 1A(1), 1B, 20, and 20A of Schedule 1 apply; but 10 (b) the rest of Part 1 of Schedule 1 does not apply, except to the extent that it is expressly applied by this subpart or **Part 4** of Schedule 1. Subpart 5—Streamlined planning process 80B Purpose, scope, application of Schedule 1, and definitions This subpart and Part 5 of Schedule 1 provide a process, through a direction 15 (1) of the responsible Minister, for the preparation of a planning instrument in order to achieve an expeditious planning process that is proportionate to the complexity and significance of the planning issues being considered. Under this subpart, Schedule 1 applies as follows: (2) clauses **1A** to 3C, 6, **6A**, 16, and 20A apply; and 20 (a) (b) clauses 4, 9, 13, 21 to 27 (other than clauses 25(2)(a)(i) and (ii) and 26(b)), and 28(2) to (6) apply; but (c) the rest of Part 1 does not apply unless it is expressly applied by— (i) this subpart; or (ii) Part 5 of Schedule 1; or 25 a direction given under clause 77 of Schedule 1. In this subpart and **Part 5** of Schedule 1,— (3) **national direction** means a direction made by a national planning template standard; or (a) (b) a national environmental standard; or 30 (c) regulations made under section 360; or (d) a national policy statement planning instrument— (a) means a policy statement or plan; and includes a change or variation to a policy statement or plan 35 (b)

responsible Minister means the Minister or Ministers who give a directi	on in
accordance with this subpart and Part 5 of Schedule 1, namely,—	

- (a) the Minister of Conservation, in the case of a regional coastal plan:
- (b) both the Minister and the Minister of Conservation, in the case of a proposed planning instrument that is to encompass matters within the jurisdiction of both those Ministers:

15

25

35

(c) the Minister, in every other case.

80C Application to responsible Minister for direction

- (1) If a local authority determines that, in the circumstances, it would be appropriate to use the streamlined planning process to prepare a planning instrument, it may apply in writing to the responsible Minister in accordance with **clause 74** of Schedule 1 for a direction to proceed under this subpart.
- (2) However, a local authority may apply for a direction only if the local authority is satisfied that the application satisfies at least 1 of the following criteria:
 - (a) the proposed planning instrument will implement a national direction:
 - (b) as a matter of public policy, the preparation of a planning instrument is urgent:
 - (c) the proposed planning instrument is required to meet a significant community need:
 - (d) a plan or policy statement raises an issue that has resulted in unintended consequences:
 - (e) the proposed planning instrument will combine several policy statements or plans to develop a combined document prepared under section 80:
 - (f) the expeditious preparation of a planning instrument is required in any circumstance comparable to, or relevant to, those set out in **paragraphs** (a) to (e).
- (2A) In relation to a private plan change accepted under clause 25(2)(b) of Schedule 1, a local authority must obtain the agreement of the person requesting the change before the local authority applies for a direction under this section.
- (3) If an application is made under this section, it must be submitted to the responsible Minister before the local authority gives notice—
 - (a) under clause 5 or **5A** of Schedule 1, in relation to a proposed planning instrument; or
 - (b) under **clause 38** of Schedule 1, if it intends to use the collaborative planning process; or
 - (c) under clauses 25(2)(a)(i) and 26(b) of Schedule 1, in relation to a request for a private plan change.

Subpart 6—Miscellaneous matters

53 Section 82 amended (Disputes	
	1

- (1) In section 82(1)(c), after "New Zealand coastal policy statement", insert "or a national planning standard".
- (2) In section 82(2), after "New Zealand coastal policy statement,", insert "a national planning standard,".
- (3) In section 82(4), after "New Zealand coastal policy statement", insert "or a national planning standard".
- (4) In section 82(4), after "the other policy statement", insert "or a national planning standard".
- (5) In section 82(4), after "section 55", insert "or **58H**".

25

30

35

5

- (6) In section 82(5), after "the other policy statement", insert "or a national planning standard".
- (7) In section 82(5), after "purpose of the policy statement,", insert "national planning standard,".
- (8) In section 82(6), after "section 55(2)", insert ", and giving effect to the national planning standard includes giving effect to it by complying with **section 58H(2)**".

Section 85 amended (Compensation not payable in respect of controls on land)

- (1) Replace the heading to section 85 with "Environment Court may give directions in respect of land subject to controls".
- (2) In section 85(2)(a), delete "Part 1 of".
- (3) Replace section 85(3) and (4) with:
- (3) **Subsection (3A)** applies in the following cases:
 - (a) on an application to the Environment Court to change a plan under clause 21 of Schedule 1:
 - (b) on an appeal to the Environment Court in relation to a provision of a proposed plan or change to a plan.
- (3A) The Environment Court, if it is satisfied that the grounds set out in **subsection (3B)** are met, may,—
 - (a) in the case of a plan or proposed plan (other than a regional coastal plan or proposed regional coastal plan), direct the local authority to do whichever of the following the local authority considers appropriate:
 - (i) modify, delete, or replace the provision in the plan or proposed plan in the manner directed by the court:
 - (ii) acquire all or part of the estate or interest in the land under the Public Works Act 1981, as long as—

			(A)	the person with an estate or interest in the land or part of it agrees; and		
			(B)	the requirements of subsection (3D) are met; and		
	(b)	in the		e of a regional coastal plan or proposed regional coastal	5	
		(i)	-	t its findings to the applicant, the regional council concerned, he Minister of Conservation; and		
		(ii)		de a direction to the regional council to modify, delete, or re- the provision in the manner directed by the court.		
(3B)	The g		are th	nat the provision or proposed provision of a plan or proposed	10	
	(a)	makes	s any la	and incapable of reasonable use; and		
	(b)	-	an un	nfair and unreasonable burden on any person who has an inland.		
(3C)			_	its jurisdiction under subsection (3A) , the Environment egard to—	15	
	(a)	Part 3	(inclu	ading the effect of section 9(3); and		
	(b)	the ef	fect of	Subsection (1) of this section.		
(3D)			nment ınless–	t Court must not give a direction under subsection —	20	
	(a)	-	d (or th	with the estate or interest in the land or part of the land con- he spouse, civil union partner, or de facto partner of that per-		
		(i)	the da	acquired the estate or interest in the land or part of it before ate on which the provision or proposed provision was first ed or otherwise included in the relevant plan or proposed and	25	
		(ii)	-	rovision or proposed provision remained in substantially the form; and		
	(b)	-		with the estate or interest in the land or part of the land congiving of the direction.	30	
(4)	-	Any direction given or report made under subsection (3A) has effect under this Act as if it were made or given under clause 15 of Schedule 1.				
(4)	Repla	ce sect	tion 85	5(5) to (7) with:		
(5)		under		sections (3) to (3D) limits the powers of the Environment se 15 of Schedule 1 on an appeal under clause 14 of that		
(6)	In this	s section	n,—			

provision of a plan or proposed plan does not include a designation or a

	heritage order or a requirement for a designation or a heritage order	
	reasonable use , in relation to land, includes the use or potential use of the land for any activity whose actual or potential effects on any aspect of the environment or on any person (other than the applicant) would not be significant.	5
55	Section 86 amended (Power to acquire land)	
	In section 86(2), replace "section 185 and section 198" with " sections 85(3A)(a)(ii) , 185, and 198".	
56	Cross-heading above section 86A replaced	
	Replace the cross-heading above section 86A with:	10
	Subpart 7—Legal effect of rules	
57	Section 86A amended (Purpose of sections 86B to 86G)	
	In section 86A(1), delete "or change described in section 86B(6)".	
58	Section 86B amended (When rules in proposed plans and changes have legal effect)	15
(1)	In the heading to section 86B, delete "and changes".	
(2)	In section 86B(2)(a), delete "publicly".	
(3)	In section 86B(2)(b), delete "public".	
59	Section 86D amended (Environment Court may order rule to have legal effect from date other than standard date)	20
(1)	In section 86D(1)(a), delete "or change".	
(2)	In section 86D(1)(b), delete "or (6)".	
60	Section 86E amended (Local authorities must identify rules having early or delayed legal effect)	
(1AA) In section 86E(1)(a), after "clause 5", insert ", or given limited notification under clause 5A".	25
(1)	Repeal section 86E(2).	
(2)	In section 86E(3), delete "or change" in each place.	
(3)	In section 86E(3), delete "or (2)".	
60A	Section 86F amended (When rules in proposed plans must be treated as operative) In section 86F, insert as subsection (2):	30
	,	

(2)	on al	ever, until the decisions have been given under clause 10(4) of Schedule 1 l submissions, subsection (1) does not apply to the rules in a proposed that was given limited notification.				
61	opera	on 86G amended (Rule that has not taken legal effect or become ative excluded from references to rule in this Act and regulations e under this Act)	5			
(1)	In sec	etion 86G(1), delete "or a change".				
(2)	In sec	etion 86G(1), delete "or change".				
		Amendments to Part 6 of principal Act				
64A	Secti	on 123A amended (Duration of consent for aquaculture activities)	10			
(1)	In sec	etion 123A(2)(b), after "managed", insert "; or".				
(2)	After	section 123A(2)(b), insert:				
	(c)	a national environmental standard expressly allows a shorter period.				
64B	Secti revie	on 128 amended (Circumstances when consent conditions can be wed)	15			
	Repla	Replace section 128(1)(ba) with:				
	(ba)	in the case of a coastal, water, or discharge permit, or a land use consent granted by a regional council, when relevant national environmental standards or national planning standards have been made; or				
	(bb)	in the case of a land use consent, in relation to a relevant regional rule; or	20			
65		on 139 amended (Consent authorities and Environmental Protection ority to issue certificates of compliance)				
(1)	In sec	etion 139(13)(c), after "making the request", insert "; and".				
(2)	After	section 139(13)(c), insert:	25			
	(d)	if the EPA requires a person to pay costs recoverable under paragraph (c), the costs are a debt due to the Crown that is recoverable in any court of competent jurisdiction.				
		Amendments to Part 6AA of principal Act				
65A	Secti	on 141 amended (Interpretation)	30			
(1)		etion 141, definition of matter , paragraph (c), after "local authority)", inor part of such a request".				
(2)		etion 141, definition of matter , paragraph (d), after "local authority)", inor part of such a request".				

(3)

In section 141, definition of matter, paragraph (e), after "plan", insert "or part

	of a ch	hange to a plan".		
(4)		tion 141, definition of matter , paragraph (f), after "plan", insert "or part ariation to a proposed plan".		
66		on 142 amended (Minister may call in matter that is or is part of osal of national significance)	5	
1	After	section 142(3)(a)(iii), insert:		
		(iiia) gives effect to a national policy statement and is one that is speci- fied in any of paragraphs (c) to (f) of the definition of matter in section 141; or	10	
67	Sectio	on 144 amended (Restriction on when Minister may call in matter)		
		ce section 144(a) with:		
	(a)	later than 5 working days before the date fixed for the commencement of the hearing, if the local authority has notified the matter; or		
68	Sectio direct	on 149C amended (EPA must give public notice of Minister's tion)	15	
	After	section 149C(3)(e), insert:		
	(ea)	specify an electronic address for sending submissions; and		
69		on 149E amended (EPA to receive submissions on matter if public e of direction has been given)	20	
(1)	After	section 149E(3), insert:		
(3A)	mission and has applied	erson who makes an electronic submission on a matter to which the sub- on relates has specified an electronic address as an address for service, as not requested a method of service specified in section 352(1)(b) (as an ed by subsection (3B)), any further correspondence relating to the ar must be served by sending it to that electronic address.	25	
(3B)	If subsection (3A) does not apply, the further correspondence may be served by any of the methods specified in section 352(1)(b) .			
(2)	In sect	tion 149E(9), replace "20 working days" with "30 working days".		
70		on 149F amended (EPA to receive further submissions if matter is est, change, or variation)	30	
(1)	After	section 149F(2)(d), insert:		
	(da)	an electronic address for sending further submissions; and		
(2)	After	section 149F(5), insert:		
(5A)	further	erson who makes a further electronic submission on a matter to which the er submission relates has specified an electronic address as an address for e, and has not requested a method of service specified in section	35	

	-	\	as applied by subsection (5B)), any further correspondence relatatter must be served by sending it to that electronic address.			
(5B)			ion (5A) does not apply, the further correspondence may be served as methods specified in section 352(1)(b) .			
71	infor	Section 149G amended (EPA must provide board or court with necessary finformation) In section 149G(3)(a), after "New Zealand coastal policy statement,", insert "a national planning standard,".				
72 (1) (2)	In sec	tion 1	OJ amended (Minister to appoint board of inquiry) 49J(3)(b), replace "must be" with "may (but need not) be". n 149J(3), insert:	10		
(3A)	The N (a) (b)	invite	er may, if he or she considers it appropriate,— e the EPA to nominate persons to be members of the board: int a member of the EPA board to be a member of the board of ry.	15		
(3B)			er may, as he or she sees fit, set terms of reference about administra- relating to the inquiry.			
73	Section	on 149	K amended (How members appointed)			
	Repla	ce sec	tion 149K(4) with:			
(4)		-	ng members, the Minister must consider the need for the board to ble to it, from its members,—	20		
	(a)	know (i) (ii)	this Act; and the matter or type of matter that the board will be considering; and			
		(iia) (iii) (iv)	tikanga Māori; and the local community; and the exercise of control over the manner of examining and cross-	25		
	<i>a</i> >	` /	examining witnesses; and			
	(b) (c)	techn	expertise; and ical expertise in relation to the matter or type of matter that the will be considering.	30		
74			n 149KA inserted (EPA may make administrative decisions) n 149K, insert:			
149K			make administrative decisions			

(1)

The EPA may—

	(a)			ons regarding administrative and support matters that are in- incillary to the conduct of an inquiry under this Part; or	
	(b)	allow	the bo	pard of inquiry to make those decisions.	
(2)	unnec	essary	delay	ve regard to the purposes of minimising costs and avoiding when exercising its powers or performing its functions (1)(a) or (b).	5
75	Section	on 149	L ame	ended (Conduct of inquiry)	
	Repla	ice sec	tion 14	19L(2) to (4) with:	
2)	If a h	earing	is to b	e held, the EPA must—	
	(a)		-	for the hearing, which must be near to the area to which the es; and	10
	(b)	fix th	e comi	mencement date and time for the hearing; and	
	(c)	_		s than 10 working days' notice of the matters stated in para- and (b) to—	
		(i)	the ap	oplicant; and	15
		(ii)	or she	person who made a submission on the matter stating that he wished to be heard and who has not subsequently advised pard that he or she no longer wishes to be heard.	
(3)				ovide a board of inquiry with an estimate of the amount of process a nationally significant proposal.	20
4)	A boa	ard of i	inquiry		
	(a)			ct its inquiry in accordance with any terms of reference set ster under section 149J(3B) :	
	(b)	must	carry o	out its duties in a timely and cost-effective manner:	
	(c)	may o	direct t	hat briefs of evidence be provided in electronic form:	25
	(d)	must	keep a	full record of all hearings and proceedings:	
	(e)	may a	allow a	party to question any other party or witness:	
	(f)	may p	permit	cross-examination:	
	(g)	may,	withou	t limiting sections 39, 40 to 41D , 99, and 99A,—	
		(i)		that a conference of a group of experts be held:	30
		(ii)	direct	that a conference be held with—	
			(A)	any of the submitters who wish to be heard at the hearing; or	
			(B)	the applicant; or	
			(C)	any relevant local authority; or	35
			(D)	any combination of such persons:	

	(h)	must, in relation to a nationally significant proposal, have regard to the most recent estimate provided to the board of inquiry by the EPA under subsection (3) .			
(5)	A bo	ard of inquiry may obtain planning advice from the EPA in relation to—			
	(a)	the relevant district and regional plans, regional and national policy statements, a national planning standard, national environmental standards, and other similar documents:	5		
	(b)	the issues raised by the matter being considered by the board.			
76		ion 149O amended (Public notice and submissions where EPA receives osed plan or change from local authority under section 149N)	10		
(1)	Repl	ace section 149O(2) with:			
(2)		eceiving a copy of the proposed plan or change, the EPA must give public the of the proposed plan or change that—			
	(a)	states the Minister's reasons for making a direction in relation to the matter; and	15		
	(b)	states where the proposed plan or change, accompanying information, and any further information may be viewed; and			
	(c)	specifies any rule in the proposed plan or change that has legal effect on and from the date that public notice of the proposed plan or change is given under this section; and	20		
	(d)	states that any person may make submissions to the EPA on the proposed plan or change; and			
	(e)	specifies the closing date for receiving submissions; and			
	(f)	specifies an electronic address for sending submissions; and			
	(g)	specifies the address for service of the EPA and the applicant.	25		
(2)	In se	ction 149O(4), replace "20 working days" with "30 working days".			
(3)	After	r section 149O(4), insert:			
(4A)	If a person who makes an electronic submission under subsection (3) on a matter to which the submission relates has specified an electronic address as an address for service, and has not requested a method of service specified in section 352(1)(b) (as applied by subsection (4B)), any further correspondence relating to the matter must be served by sending it to that electronic address.				
(4B)		absection (4A) does not apply, the further correspondence may be served my of the methods specified in section 352(1)(b) .			
77	Secti	ion 149Q repealed (Board to produce draft report)	35		
	Repeal section 149Q.				

78 Section 149R amended (Board to produce final rep

- (1AA) In the heading to section 149R, delete "final".
- (1) Replace section 149R(1) with:
- (1) As soon as practicable after the board of inquiry has completed its inquiry on a matter, it must—
 - (a) make its decision; and
 - (b) produce a written report.
- (2) In section 149R(2), replace "do everything under subsection (1)" with "perform the duties in **subsection (1)**".
- (3) Replace section 149R(2A) and (2B) with:

15

5

- (2A) For the purposes of subsection (2), the 9-month period excludes—
 - (a) the period starting on 20 December in any year and ending with 10 January in the following year:
 - (b) any time while an inquiry is suspended under section 149ZG(3) (as calculated from the date of notification of suspension under section 149ZG(5) to the date of notification of resumption under section 149ZG(5)).
- (4) In section 149R(3)(e), after "New Zealand coastal policy statement", insert "or to a national planning standard".
- (5) In section 149R(3)(f), after "New Zealand coastal policy statement,", insert "a 20 national planning standard,".
- (6) In section 149R(4), replace "must send" with "must provide".
- (7) After section 149R(7), insert:
- (8) For the purposes of subsection (4)(d), the EPA is to be taken to have provided a copy of the final report to a submitter if—

25

- (a) the EPA has published the final report on an Internet site maintained by the EPA to which the public has free access; and
- (b) the submitter has specified an electronic address as an address for service (and has not requested that the final report be provided in hard copy form); and

30

35

- (c) the EPA has sent the submitter at that electronic address a link to the final report published on the Internet site referred to in **paragraph** (a).
- 79 Section 149RA amended (Minor corrections of board decisions, etc)

In section 149RA(1), replace "minor mistakes or defects" with "minor omissions, errors, or other defects".

80 Section 149S amended (Minister may extend time by which board must report)

After section 149S(3), insert:

(3A) For the purposes of subsection (2)(b), the period of 18 months excludes any time while an inquiry is suspended under **section 149ZG(3)** (as calculated from the date of notification of suspension under **section 149ZG(5)** to the date of notification of resumption under **section 149ZG(5)**).

ed 5

81 New sections 149ZF and 149ZG inserted

After section 149ZE, insert:

149ZF Liability to pay costs constitutes debt due to EPA or the Crown

10

- (1) This section applies when—
 - (a) the EPA or the Minister has required a person to pay costs recoverable under section 149ZD(2), (3), or (4); and
 - (b) the requirement to pay is final, in that the person who is required to pay—

15

- (i) has not objected under section 357B or appealed under section 358 within the time permitted by this Act; or
- (ii) has objected or appealed and the objection or the appeal has been decided against that person.
- (2) The costs referred to in **subsection (1)** are a debt due to either the EPA or the Crown that is recoverable by the EPA, or the EPA on behalf of the Crown, in any court of competent jurisdiction.

20

149ZG Process may be suspended if costs outstanding

- (1) This section applies if—
 - (a) the EPA or the Minister has required a person to pay costs recoverable under section 149ZD(2), (3), or (4); and

25

- (b) the EPA has given the person written notice that, unless the costs specified in the notice are paid,—
 - (i) the EPA may cease to carry out its functions in relation to the matter; and

30

- (ii) if it does so, the inquiry will be suspended.
- (2) If the person referred to in **subsection (1)(b)** fails to pay the costs in the required time, the EPA may cease carrying out its functions in respect of the matter.
- (3) If the EPA ceases to carry out its functions in respect of the matter, the inquiry is suspended.

(4)		e EPA ceases to carry out its functions in respect of the matter, but subsetuly the person required to pay the costs does so,—				
	(a)	the EPA must resume carrying out its functions in respect of the matter; and				
	(b)	the inquiry is resumed.	5			
(5)	sect	EPA must, as soon as practicable after an inquiry is suspended under subtion (3) or is resumed under subsection (4)(b) , notify the following that inquiry is suspended or has resumed (as the case may be):				
	(a)	the applicant; and				
	(b)	the board; and	10			
	(c)	the Minister; and				
	(d)	the relevant local authority; and				
	(e)	every person who has made a submission on the matter.				
(6)	unde does	ting in this section affects or prejudices the right of a person to object or section 357B or appeal under section 358, but an objection or an appeal not affect the right of the EPA under subsection (2) of this section to be carrying out its functions.	15			
		Amendments to Part 8 of principal Act				
82A	Sect	ion 170 amended (Discretion to include requirement in proposed plan)				
(1)	In se	ction 170, delete "publicly".	20			
(2)	In se	ction 170, insert as subsections (2) to (8) and subsection cross-headings:				
(2)	To obtain consent for the purposes of subsection (1), (4), or (8) , the territorial authority must—					
	(a)	notify the requiring authority as to which planning process it intends to use under Schedule 1; and	25			
	(b)	seek the consent of the requiring authority to use that planning process for considering the requirement; and				
	(c)	if a collaborative planning process is to be used, inform the requiring authority that it must nominate a representative for appointment to the collaborative group.	30			
	Whe	re proposal is to use collaborative planning process				
(3)	Sub	section (4) applies if a territorial authority—				
	(a)	receives notice of a requirement under section 168; and				
	(b)	proposes to notify that it will use a collaborative planning process under clause 38 of Schedule 1 within 40 working days of receiving the requirement.	35			

(4)		s subsection applies, the territorial authority may, if the requiring authority ents,—					
	(a)	include the requirement with the matters that will be subject to the proposed plan when it gives a notice under clause 38 of Schedule 1; and					
	(b)	include the requirement in the terms of reference set under clause 41 of Schedule 1, instead of complying with section 169.	5				
(5)		requiring authority agrees to be part of the relevant collaborative group, rovisions of Part 4 of Schedule 1 apply to the notice of requirement.					
(6)	or wi	requiring authority does not agree to be part of the collaborative group, thdraws from the group before the group delivers its report under clause Schedule 1, the notice of requirement must not proceed using the collaboration process proposed under subsection (3)(b) .	10				
	Wher	e proposal is to use streamlined planning process					
(7)	Subs	ection (8) applies if a territorial authority—					
	(a)	receives a notice of requirement under section 168; and	15				
	(b)	within 40 working days of receiving that notice of requirement, proposes to apply to the responsible Minister under section 80C for a direction to use a streamlined planning process.					
(8)	conse	s subsection applies, the territorial authority may, if the requiring authority ents, include in its application to the responsible Minister the requirement ell as the matters that will be the subject of the proposed planning instruinstead of complying with section 169.	20				
84	Secti	on 189 amended (Notice of requirement to territorial authority)					
(1)	After section 189(1), insert:						
(1A)							
(2)	After section 189(5), insert:						
(6)	In this section,—						
	Crown includes—						
	(a)	the Sovereign in right of New Zealand; and					
	(b)	departments of State; and					
	(c)	State enterprises named in Schedule 1 of the State-owned Enterprises Act 1986; and					
	(d)	Crown entities within the meaning of section 7 of the Crown Entities Act 2004; and	35				
	(e)	the mixed ownership model companies named in Schedule 5 of the Public Finance Act 1989; and					

	(f)	local	authorities within the meaning of the Local Government Act 2002			
private land— (a) means any land hald in fee simple by any person other than the Cr						
	(a) means any land held in fee simple by any person other than the Crown; and					
	(b)	includ	des—	5		
		(i)	Maori land within the meaning of section 4 of Te Ture Whenua Maori Act 1993; and			
		(ii)	land held by a person under a lease or licence granted to the person by the Crown.			
86	News	section	ns 195B and 195C inserted	10		
	After	section	n 195A, insert:			
195B	Trans	sfer of	heritage order			
(1)			er may, on the Minister's own initiative, transfer responsibility for neritage order to another heritage protection authority.			
(1A)	However, the Minister must not exercise the power under subsection (1) if—					
	(a)	the he	eritage order relates to private land; and			
	(b)	the tr 188.	ansfer of the order is to a body corporate approved under section			
(2)			ing whether to transfer responsibility for an order under subsec -e Minister must take into account—	20		
	(a)	the he	eritage values of the place or area subject to the heritage order; and			
	(b)		asonable use of the place or area despite it being subject to a herit- rder; and			
	(c)	any o	ther matters that the Minister considers relevant, such as—			
		(i)	the effect of the heritage order on the property rights of the owner and occupier (if any) of the place or area:	25		
		(ii)	the ability of the heritage protection authority to whom the Minister proposes to transfer the heritage order to protect the place or area.			
(3)	Before the Minister may make a determination to transfer responsibility for a heritage order under this section, the Minister must serve written notice of the Minister's intention to do so on—					
	(a)	the horder:	eritage protection authority currently responsible for the heritage; and			
	(b)		eritage protection authority to whom the Minister proposes to transat responsibility; and	35		

	(c)	the owner and occupier (if any) of the place or area subject to the heritage order and any other person with a registered interest in that place or area; and			
	(d)	the territorial authority in whose district the place or area subject to the order is located.	5		
(4)	The persons or organisations served with a notice under subsection (3) may, within 20 working days after being served, make a written objection or submission to the Minister on the Minister's proposal.				
(5)	The Minister must take into account all objections and submissions received within the specified time before making a final determination.				
(6)	In subsection (1A), private land has the meaning given in section 189(6).				
195C	Noti	ce of determination			
(1)	The Minister must publish a notice in the <i>Gazette</i> of the Minister's determination under section 195B .				
(2)	The territorial authority in whose district the place or area subject to an order under section 195B is located must note the transfer of responsibility for the heritage order by amending the district plan accordingly as soon as is reasonably practicable without using a process set out in Schedule 1.				
		Amendments to Part 11 of principal Act			
89	Secti	ion 265 amended (Environment Court sittings)	20		
	In section 265(1)(c), after "Principal Environment Judge", insert "or an Environment Judge".				
90	Section 267 amended (Conferences)				
	Repl	ace section 267(1) with:			
(1)	An E	Environment Judge—	25		
	(a)	must, as soon as practicable after the lodging of proceedings, consider whether to convene a conference presided over by a member of the court; and			
	(b)	may, at any time after the lodging of proceedings, require the parties, or any Minister, local authority, or other person that or who has given notice of intention to appear under section 274, to be present at a conference presided over by a member of the court.	30		
(1A)	Each	person required to be present at a conference must—			
	(a)	be present in person; or			
	(b)	have at least 1 representative present who has the authority to make decisions on behalf of the person represented on any matters that may reasonably be expected to arise at the conference.	35		

10

15

20

25

91	Section 268 replaced	(Alternative disp	ute resolution)
----	----------------------	-------------------	-----------------

Replace section 268 with:

268 Alternative dispute resoluti

- (1) At any time after proceedings are lodged, the Environment Court may, for the purpose of facilitating the resolution of any matter, ask a member of the Environment Court or another person to conduct an ADR process before or at any time during the course of a hearing.
- (2) The Environment Court may act under this section on its own motion or on request.
- (3) A member of the Environment Court who conducts an ADR process is not disqualified from resuming his or her role to decide a matter if—
 - (a) the parties agree that the member should resume his or her role and decide the matter; and
 - (b) the member concerned and the court are satisfied that it is appropriate for him or her to do so.
- (4) In this section and **section 268A**, **ADR process** means an alternative dispute resolution process (for example, mediation) designed to facilitate the resolution of a matter.

268A Mandatory participation in alternative dispute resolution processes

- (1) This section applies to an ADR process conducted under **section 268**.
- (2) Each party to the proceedings must participate in the ADR process in person or by a representative, unless leave is granted under this section.
- (3) Each person required to participate in an ADR process must—
 - (a) be present in person; or
 - (b) have at least 1 representative present who has the authority to make decisions on behalf of the person represented on any matters that may reasonably be expected to arise in the ADR process.
- (4) A party to the proceedings may apply to the Environment Court for leave not to participate in the ADR process.
- (5) The Environment Court may grant leave if it considers that it is not appropriate for the party to participate in the ADR process.

92 Section 276 amended (Evidence)

After section 276(3), insert:

- (4) This section applies subject to **section 277A**.
- 93 New section 277A inserted (Powers of Environment Court in relation to evidence heard on appeal by way of rehearing)

After section 277, insert:

277A		ers of Environment Court in relation to evidence heard on appeal by			
(1)	This section applies to an appeal brought by way of a rehearing under clause 59 of Schedule 1.				
(2)	In conducting the appeal, the Environment Court has full discretion to rehear all or any part of the evidence received by the local authority or panel whose decision is the subject of the appeal.				
(3)	The Environment Court must rehear the evidence of a witness if the court has reason to believe that the record of evidence of that person made by direction of the local authority or panel is or may be incomplete in any material way.				
(4)	A party to the appeal may introduce new evidence with the leave of the Environment Court.				
(5)	The Environment Court may grant leave under subsection (4) , but only if it considers that the proposed new evidence was not able to be produced at the hearing conducted by the local authority or panel.				
94	4 Section 279 amended (Powers of Environment Judge sitting alone)				
	After	section 279(4), insert:			
(5)	In the case of an appeal under section 120, in addition to exercising the powers conferred by subsections (1) to (4), an Environment Judge sitting alone may—				
	(a)	exercise any other powers of the Environment Court that may be conferred by the Principal Environment Judge either generally or in relation to a particular matter; and	20		
	(b)	exercise those powers on any terms and conditions that the Principal Environment Judge may think fit.			
95	Section 280 amended (Powers of Environment Commissioner sitting without Environment Judge)				
(1)	After	section 280(1), insert:			
(1AA)) If proceedings relate to an appeal under section 120, 1 or more Environment Commissioners sitting without an Environment Judge may,—				
	(a)	in relation to a particular matter, exercise any of the powers conferred by section 279(1) to (4) on an Environment Judge sitting alone that may be conferred by the Environment Judge after a conference held under section 267 in relation to that matter; and	30		

exercise the powers referred to in paragraph (a) on any terms and con-

35

ditions that the Environment Judge may think fit.

(2) Repeal section 280(1A).

(b)

10

15

20

25

96 Section 281A replaced (Registrar may waive, reduce, or postpone payment of fee)

Replace section 281A with:

281 A	Registrar	may waive.	reduce.	or nost	tnone na	vment of	f fee
401A	ixceisu ai	may waive	, i cuucc,	OI DUSI	ipone pa		1100

- A person may apply to the Registrar for a waiver, reduction, or postponement of the payment to the court of any fee prescribed by regulations made under this Act.
- (2) The application must be made in the prescribed form (if any).
- (3) The Registrar may waive, reduce, or postpone the payment of the fee only if the Registrar is satisfied, after applying any prescribed criteria, that—

(a) the person responsible for paying the fee is unable to pay the fee in whole or in part; or

(b) in the case of proceedings concerning a matter of public interest, the proceedings are unlikely to be commenced or continued if the powers are not exercised.

98 Section 293 amended (Environment Court may order change to proposed policy statements and plans)

- (1) In section 293(3)(b), replace "the" with "a".
- (2) After section 293(3)(b), insert:

(ba) a national planning standard:

(3) In section 293(5)(a), replace "the New Zealand coastal policy statement," with "a New Zealand coastal policy statement, a national planning standard,".

Amendment to Part 11A of principal Act

98A Section 308B amended (Limit on making submissions)

In section 308B(3), delete "clause 6(4) or 29(1B) of".

Amendments to Part 12 of principal Act

99 Section 310 amended (Scope and effect of declaration)

- (1) In section 310(b)(i), after "New Zealand coastal policy statement", insert "or a national planning standard".
- (2) In section 310(ba)(i), after "for the region", insert "or a relevant provision or 30 proposed provision of a national planning standard".
- (3) In section 310(bb)(i), after "regional policy statement", insert "or a relevant provision or proposed provision of a national planning standard".

Amendments to Part 14 of principal Act

100	Section 352A amended (Mode of service of summons on master or own	er
	of ship)	

In section 352A(4), definition of **Registrar**, replace "section 2(1)" with "section 5".

5

10

15

20

25

30

101 Section 357B amended (Right of objection in relation to imposition of additional charges or recovery of costs)

In section 357B(a), replace "section 36(3)" with "section 36(5)".

Section 357D amended (Decision on objections made under sections 357 to 357B)

In section 357D(1)(c), replace "section 36(3)" with "section 36(5)".

- 103 Section 360 amended (Regulations)
- (1) After section 360(1)(b), insert:
 - (baa) prescribing, for the purpose of the Registrar deciding whether to waive, reduce, or postpone the payment of a fee under **section 281A**, the criteria that the Registrar must apply to—
 - (i) assess a person's ability to pay a fee; and
 - (ii) identify proceedings that concern matters of public interest:
- (2) In section 360(1)(ba), after "under this Act", insert "(including offences prescribed under **paragraph (ho)**)".
- (3) Replace section 360(1)(bb) with:
 - (bb) prescribing forms for infringement notices and any particulars to be contained in infringement notices, including infringement fees (which may be different fees for different offences)—
 - (i) not exceeding a fee of \$2,000 for each infringement offence prescribed under **paragraph (ho)**:
 - (ii) not exceeding a fee of \$100 per stock unit for each infringement offence prescribed under **paragraph** (ho) that is differentiated on the basis of the number of stock units, to a maximum fee of \$2,000 for each infringement offence:
 - (iii) not exceeding a fee of \$1,000 in any other case:
- (4) After section 360(1)(d), insert:
 - (da) prescribing the form and content (including conditions) of water permits and discharge permits:
- (5) In section 360(1)(hk), replace "section 35(2)(a)(ii)" with "section 35(2) and 35 (2AA)".
- (6) After section 360(1)(hk)(i), insert:

matters by reference to which monitoring must be carried out:

(ia)

After section 360(1)(hm), insert:

(7)

	(hn)	-	ribing measures for the purpose of excluding stock from water bod- stuaries, and coastal lakes and lagoons, including regulations that—	
		(i)	apply generally in relation to stock or to specified kinds of stock (for example, dairy cattle):	5
		(ii)	apply generally in relation to water bodies, estuaries, and coastal lakes and lagoons or to specified kinds of water bodies, estuaries, and coastal lakes and lagoons:	
		(iii)	apply different measures to different kinds of stock or to different kinds of water bodies, estuaries, and coastal lakes and lagoons:	10
		(iv)	prescribe technical requirements for the purposes of the regula- tions (for example, the minimum height and other specifications with which any required means of exclusion must comply, such as requirements for fencing or riparian planting):	15
	(ho)	-	ribing infringement offences for the contravention of, or non-com- ee with, any regulations made under paragraph (hn) :	
	(hp)	fied re	ribing requirements that apply to the use of models (being simpli- epresentations of systems, for example, farms, catchments, and re-) under this Act by—	20
		(i)	local authorities:	
		(ii)	the holders of resource consents:	
		(iii)	other persons:	
	(hq)	-	de that, despite sections 68(2) and 76(2), a more stringent rule in a prevails over a regulation made under paragraph (hn) :	25
(8)	After	section	n 360(2), insert:	
(2AA)	(1)(bl	o), (hn	altation undertaken before the commencement of subsection a), or (ho) , in relation to a regulation made under those paragraphs, consultation requirements in relation to that regulation.	
(9)	After	section	n 360(2E), insert:	30
(2F)	Regul	ations	made under subsection (1)(hn) or (ho) may specify—	
	(a)	that amend	rules inconsistent with those regulations be withdrawn or ded—	
		(i)	to the extent necessary to remove the inconsistency; and	
		(ii)	as soon as practicable after the date on which the regulations come into force; but	35
		(iii)	without using any of the processes under Schedule 1 for changing a plan or proposed plan; and	

(b)

tions,—

in relation to a rule made before the commencement of the regula-

		(i)	the extent to which a matter that the regulations apply to continues to have effect; or		
		(ii)	the period for which a matter that the regulations apply to continues to have effect.	5	
(2G)	conce	erned n	ns specify a matter under subsection (2F) , the local authorities must publicly notify that the rules have been withdrawn or amended in 5 working days after they are withdrawn or amended.		
104			B amended (Conditions to be satisfied before regulations made on 360A)	10	
	After	section	n 360B(2)(c)(iii)(B), insert:		
			(BA) a national planning standard; and		
105	New	section	as 360D, 360DA, and 360E inserted		
	After	section	n 360C, insert:	15	
360D	Regulations that permit or prohibit certain rules Regulations that prohibit or remove certain rules				
(1)	of the	Minis	or-General may, by Order in Council made on the recommendation ster, make regulations to prohibit or remove specified rules or types at would duplicate, overlap with, or deal with the same subject included in other legislation.	20	
(1)	of the	e Minis	or-General may, by Order in Council made on the recommendation ster but subject to subsection (1A) , make regulations to prohibit pecified rules or types of rules that would duplicate, overlap with, the same subject matter that is included in other legislation.	25	
(1A)			(1) does not apply to rules or types of rules that regulate the crops that are genetically modified organisms.		
<u>(1B)</u>	In subsection (1A), genetically modified organisms has the meaning given in section 2(1) of the Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996.				
(4)	_		made under this section may require that rules inconsistent with tions be withdrawn or amended—	30	
	(a)	to the	extent necessary to remove the inconsistency; and		
	(b)	as soo	on as practicable after the date on which the regulations come into but		
	(c)		ut using any of the processes under Schedule 1 for changing a plan posed plan.	35	

(4A)	amer	dment	ns include a requirement under subsection (4) , their withdrawal or timust be publicly notified by the local authority not later than 5 ys after they have been withdrawn or amended.	
(5)	Regu	lations	s made under this section—	
	(a)	•	specify, in relation to a rule made before the commencement of the lations,—	5
		(i)	the extent to which a matter that the regulations apply to continues to have effect; or	
		(ii)	the period for which a matter that the regulations apply to continues to have effect; and	10
	(b)	may	apply—	
		(i)	generally; or	
		(ii)	to any specified district or region; or	
		(iii)	to any specified part of New Zealand.	
(6)	Secti	on 360	0(2) and (4) applies to regulations made under this section.	15
360D	A Pro	ocedu	res relevant to making rules under section 360D	
		re reco must—	ommending that regulations be made under section 360D , the Min-	
	(a)		by the public, relevant local authorities, and relevant iwi authorities e proposed regulations; and	20
	(b)	estab	olish a process that—	
		(i)	the Minister considers gives the public, the relevant local authorities, and the relevant iwi authorities adequate time and opportunity to comment on the proposed regulations; and	
		(ii)	requires a report and recommendation to be made to the Minister on the comments received under subparagraph (i); and	25
	(c)	ensu	re that an evaluation report is prepared under section 32; and	
	(d)		particular regard to that report when deciding whether to recom- d that regulations be made; and	
	(e)	-	icly notify the report and recommendation required under para- bh (b)(ii) .	30
360E	Regu	ılation	s relating to administrative charges and other amounts	
(1)	The Governor-General may, by Order in Council made on the recommendation of the Minister, make regulations for the purpose of specifying the charges that			35
(2)	Regu	lations	s made under this section—	

(a)

must not fix the amount to be charged by local authorities under section

	36(1)	; but	
(b)	may	require local authorities—	
	(i)	to fix charges for hearings commissioners determining plan changes or resource consent applications, in accordance with a delegation from the local authority under section 34A(1), where a hearing is held:	5
	(ii)	before a hearing commences, to set the overall charge payable by the applicant for a plan change or resource consent hearing:	
(c)	-		10
Regu	lations	that relate to a function referred to in section 36(1)(b)—	
(a)			
(b)			15
	(i)	the class of application; and	
	(ii)	the complexity of the class of application to which the charges apply; and	
(c)	may	specify a class or classes of additional charges that may apply.	20
		Amendment to Part 15 of principal Act	
		\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \	
Repla	ice sec	tion 401B(a) with:	
(a)		1, , ,	25
		Part 16 of principal Act repealed	
Part	16 rep	pealed	
	(c) Regui (a) (b) Section Repla (a)	(b) may in second (ii) (c) may in second (iii) (a) must charg (b) must fixed (ii) (iii) (c) may second (iii) Section 401 deemed cond (iii) Replace second (iii)	 (i) to fix charges for hearings commissioners determining plan changes or resource consent applications, in accordance with a delegation from the local authority under section 34A(1), where a hearing is held: (ii) before a hearing commences, to set the overall charge payable by the applicant for a plan change or resource consent hearing: (c) may require local authorities to fix charges for the functions referred to in section 36(1)(b). Regulations that relate to a function referred to in section 36(1)(b)— (a) must specify the class or classes of application in respect of which each charge is to be fixed; and (b) must include a schedule of charges to be applied by local authorities, fixed on the basis of— (i) the class of application; and (ii) the complexity of the class of application to which the charges apply; and (c) may specify a class or classes of additional charges that may apply. Amendment to Part 15 of principal Act Section 401B amended (Obligation to pay coastal occupation charge deemed condition of consent) Replace section 401B(a) with: (a) authorises the holder to occupy any part of the common marine and coastal area; and

Amendments to Schedule 1 of principal Act

Amend Schedule 1 as set out in **Schedule 1** of this Act.

30

72

108

Part 16 is repealed.

Schedule 1 amended

5

10

15

20

Amendment to Schedule 1AA of principal Act

108A	Sche	dule	1 A A	amend	ed

In Schedule 1AA, after clause 1(3), insert:

- (4) Any material or documents that may be incorporated by reference under this schedule may be in electronic form, and may include any electronic tools, models, and databases that are appropriate for inclusion in a national environmental standard, a national policy statement, or a New Zealand coastal policy statement.
- (5) A requirement to provide a copy of any material or document incorporated by reference under this schedule is satisfied if an electronic copy is provided.

Amendments to Schedule 4 of principal Act

109 Schedule 4 amended

In Schedule 4,—

- (a) clause 6(1)(c), delete "substances and"; and
- (b) clause 7(1)(f), delete "or the use of hazardous substances".

Amendments to Schedule 12 of principal Act

110 Schedule 12 amended

Amend Schedule 12 as set out in **Schedule 2** of this Act.

Consequential amendments commencing on day after Royal assent

111 Consequential amendments commencing on day after Royal assent

Amend the enactments specified in **Schedule 3** as set out in that schedule.

Subpart 2—Amendments that commence 6 months after Royal assent

Amendments to Part 1 of principal Act

112 Section 2 amended (Interpretation)

(1) In section 2(1), insert in their appropriate alphabetical order:

25

30

boundary activity and boundary rule have the meanings given in section 87AAB

fast-track application has the meaning given in section 87AAC

infringed boundary, in relation to a boundary activity, has the meaning given in **section 87AAB**

public boundary has the meaning given in section 87AAB

(2) In section 2(1), replace the definition of **public notice** with:

public notice has the meaning given in section 2AB

113 Section 2AA amended (Definitions relating to notific
--

Replace section 2AA(2) with:

- (2) In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires, affected customary marine title group has the meaning given in section 95G affected person means a person who, under section 95E or 149ZCF, is an affected person in relation to the application or matter
 - **affected protected customary rights group** has the meaning given in section 95F

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

limited notification means serving notice of the application or matter on any affected person within the time limit specified by section 95, 169(1), or 190(1)

notification means public notification or limited notification of the application or matter

public notification means giving public notice by—

- (a) giving notice of the application or matter in the manner required by **section 2AB**; and
- (b) giving that notice within the time limit specified by **section 95, 169(1), or 190(1)**; and
- (c) serving notice of the application or matter on every prescribed person.

114 New section 2AB inserted (Meaning of public notice)

After section 2AA, insert:

2AB Meaning of public notice

- (1) If this Act requires a person to give **public notice** of something, the person must—
 - (a) publish on an Internet site to which the public has free access a notice that—
 - (i) includes all the information that is required to be publicly notified; and
 - (ii) is in the prescribed form (if any); and
 - (b) publish a short summary of the notice, along with details of the Internet site where the notice can be accessed, in 1 or more newspapers circulating in the entire area likely to be affected by the matter to which the notice relates.
- (2) The notice and the short summary of the notice must be worded in a way that is clear and concise.

Amendments to Part 3 of principal Act

115 Section 11 amended (Restrictions on subdivision of la

- (1) Replace section 11(1)(a) with:
 - (a) a subdivision permitted by subsection (1A); or
- (2) After section 11(1), insert:

5

10

15

- (1A) A person may subdivide land under subsection (1)(a) if—
 - (a) either—
 - (i) the subdivision is expressly allowed by a resource consent; or
 - (ii) the subdivision does not contravene a national environmental standard, a rule in a district plan, or a rule in a proposed district plan for the same district (if there is one); and
 - (b) the subdivision is shown on a survey plan that is—
 - (i) deposited under Part 10 by the Registrar-General of Land, in the case of a survey plan described in paragraph (a)(i) or (b) of the definition of survey plan in section 2(1); or
 - (ii) approved as described in section 228 by the Chief Surveyor, in the case of a survey plan described in paragraph (a)(ii) of the definition of survey plan in section 2(1).

Amendments to Part 4 of principal Act

116 Section 35 amended (Duty to gather information, monitor, and keep records)

20

In section 35(5)(ga), after "37", insert ", **87BA, 87BB**".

117 Section 36 amended (Administrative charges)

After section 36(1)(ad), insert:

- (ae) charges payable by persons proposing to undertake an activity, for the carrying out by the local authority of its functions in relation to issuing a notice under **section 87BA or 87BB** stating whether the activity is a permitted activity:
- (af) charges payable by a person making an objection under section 357A(1)(f) or (g), if the person requests under **section 357AB** that the objection be considered by a hearings commissioner, for the cost of the objection being considered and decided in accordance with the request:

30

25

118 Section 41A amended (Control of hearings)

In section 41A, replace "section 41B or section 41C" with "any of sections 41B to **41D**".

119		on 41C amended (Directions and requests before or at hearings) al section 41C(7) to (9).
120	New	section 41D inserted (Striking out submissions)
	After	section 41C, insert:
41D	Strik	ing out submissions
(1)	direc	uthority conducting a hearing on a matter described in section 39(1) may t that a submission or part of a submission be struck out if the authority is fied that at least 1 of the following applies to the submission or the part:
	(a)	it is frivolous or vexatious:
	(b)	it discloses no reasonable or relevant case:
	(c)	it would be an abuse of the hearing process to allow the submission or the part to be taken further:
	(d)	it is supported only by evidence that, though purporting to be independent expert evidence, has been prepared by a person who is not independent or who does not have sufficient specialised knowledge or skill to give expert evidence on the matter:
	(e)	it contains offensive language.
(3)	An a	uthority—
	(a)	may make a direction under this section before, at, or after the hearing; and
	(b)	must record its reasons for any direction made.
(4)	-	rson whose submission is struck out, in whole or in part, has a right of obon under section 357.
		Amendment to Part 5 of principal Act
120A		ion 48 amended (Public notification of proposed national policy ment and inquiry)
	Repla	ace section 48(1) with:
(1)	As so	oon as practicable after its appointment, a board of inquiry must ensure –
	(a)	public notice of the proposed national policy statement and inquiry is given; and
	(b)	a copy of the short summary of the notice referred to in section

2AB(1)(b), along with details of the Internet site where the notice can be accessed, is published in a daily newspaper in each of the cities of Auck-

35

land, Wellington, Christchurch, and Dunedin.

Amendments to Part 6 of principal Act

121 New sections 87AAB to 87AAD inserted

After section 87AA, insert:

87A	AB M	[eaning	g of boundary activity and related terms	
(1)	An a	ctivity	is a boundary activity if—	5
	(a)		ctivity requires a resource consent because of the application of 1 or boundary rules, but no other district rules, to the activity; and	
	(b)	no in	fringed boundary is a public boundary.	
(2)	In th	is secti	on,—	
		ndary a	rule means a district rule, or part of a district rule, to the extent that —	10
	(a)	the d	listance between a structure and 1 or more boundaries of an allot-	
	(b)		limensions of a structure in relation to its distance from 1 or more daries of an allotment	15
	infri	inged b	poundary , in relation to a boundary activity,—	
	(a)	mear	ns a boundary to which an infringed boundary rule applies:	
	(b)	corne be m	ere is an infringement to a boundary rule when measured from the er point of an allotment (regardless of where the infringement is to leasured from under the district plan), means every allotment bounthat intersects with the point of that corner:	20
	(c)	that the c	ere is an infringement to a boundary rule that relates to a boundary forms part of a private way, means the allotment boundary that is on apposite side of the private way (regardless of where the infringe- tis to be measured from under the district plan)	25
	lake,	, coast,	ndary means a boundary between an allotment and any road, river, esplanade reserve, esplanade strip, other reserve, or land owned by thority or by the Crown.	
87A	AC M	leaning	g of fast-track application	
(1)	An a	pplicat	tion is a fast-track application if—	30
	(a)		application is for a resource consent for 1 or both of the following, to other, activities:	
		(i)	a controlled activity that requires consent under a district plan (other than a subdivision of land):	
		(ii)	an activity prescribed, or identified in the manner prescribed, under section 360F(1)(a) ; and	35

	(b)	the application includes an address for service that is an electronic address.	
(2)	An a tion i	pplication described in subsection (1) ceases to be a fast-track applicatif—	
	(a)	a consent authority gives public or limited notification of the application; or	5
	(b)	a hearing is to be held for the application; or	
	(c)	at the time the application is lodged, the applicant notifies the consent authority that the applicant wishes to opt out of the fast track process.	
(3)		void doubt, if an application ceases to be a fast-track application under section (2)(a) or (b),—	10
	(a)	the application is not incomplete by reason only that it does not include the information referred to in section 88(2)(c) ; but	
	(b)	a consent authority may, under section 92, request the applicant to provide any of the information referred to in section 88(2)(c) .	15
(4)	To av	void doubt, when an application ceases to be a fast-track application,—	
	(a)	the application becomes subject to the standard processing requirements (including any time periods for doing anything) under this Act that would have applied if the application had not been a fast-track application; and	20
	(b)	those time periods are deemed to have been running from the time they would have begun if this section had not applied and are not reset as from the time the application ceases to be fast-track.	
87A		verview of application of this Part to boundary activities and fast- k applications	25
(1)	If an	activity is a boundary activity,—	
	(a)	the activity may be a permitted activity if the requirements of section 87BA are satisfied:	
	(b)	there are restrictions on who may be notified of an application for a resource consent for the activity (see sections 95A(4) and (5) and 95B(7)):	30
	(c)	the right of appeal under section 120 against the whole or any part of a decision of a consent authority is excluded unless the decision relates to a resource consent for a non-complying activity.	
(2)	If an	application is a fast-track application,—	35
	(a)	a consent authority must, within the time limit specified in section 95 for fast-track applications, decide whether to give public or limited notification of the application; and	

	(b)		e of a decision on the application must be given within the time specified in section 115(4A) ; and	
	(c)	the ap	ot as provided for in paragraphs (a) and (b) , this Act applies to application in the same way as it applies to any other application for ource consent.	5
(3)			ew is by way of explanation only. If any provision of this Act connis overview, that provision prevails.	
122	New	section	ns 87BA and 87BB inserted	
	After	section	n 87B, insert:	
87BA		•	activities approved by neighbours on infringed boundaries are activities	10
1)	A bou	ındary	activity is a permitted activity if—	
	(a)	-	erson proposing to undertake the activity provides to the consent crity—	
		(i)	a description of the activity; and	15
		(ii)	a plan (drawn to scale) of the site at which the activity is to occur, showing the height, shape, and location on the site of the proposed activity; and	
		(iii)	the full name and address of each owner of the site; and	
		(iv)	the full name and address of each owner of an allotment with an infringed boundary; and	20
	(b)	each	owner of an allotment with an infringed boundary—	
		(i)	gives written approval for the activity; and	
		(ii)	signs the plan referred to in paragraph (a)(ii); and	
	(c)		onsent authority notifies the person proposing to undertake the actual that the activity is a permitted activity.	25
(2)			proposing to undertake an activity provides information to a consent der this section, the consent authority must,—	
	(a)		bsection (1)(a) and (b) are satisfied, give a notice under subsec- (1)(c); or	30
	(b)		bsection (1)(a) and (b) are not satisfied, notify the person of that nd return the information to the person.	
(2A)	within	n 10 w	t authority must take the appropriate action under subsection (2) vorking days after the date on which it receives the information it ke a decision under subsection (2)(a) or (b) .	35
(3)			ven under this section must be in writing.	
4)	-		has submitted an application for a resource consent for a boundary is a permitted activity under this section, the application need not	

	be fu	orther processed, considered, or decided and must be returned to the appli-				
(5)		A notice given under subsection (1)(c) lapses 5 years after the date of the notice unless the activity permitted by the notice is given effect to.				
87BE	3 Acti	vities meeting certain requirements are permitted activities	5			
(1)	An a	ctivity is a permitted activity if—				
	(a)	the activity would be a permitted activity except for a marginal or temporary non-compliance with requirements, conditions, and permissions specified in this Act, regulations (including any national environmental standard), a plan, or a proposed plan; and	10			
	(b)	any adverse environmental effects of the activity are no different in character, intensity, or scale than they would be in the absence of the marginal or temporary non-compliance referred to in paragraph (a) ; and				
	(c)	any adverse effects of the activity on a person are less than minor; and				
	(d)	the consent authority, in its discretion, decides to notify the person proposing to undertake the activity that the activity is a permitted activity.	15			
(2)	A consent authority may give a notice under subsection (1)(d)—					
	(a)	after receiving an application for a resource consent for the activity; or				
	(b)	on its own initiative.				
(3)	The 1	notice must be in writing and must include—	20			
	(a)	a description of the activity; and				
	(b)	details of the site at which the activity is to occur; and				
	(c)	the consent authority's reasons for considering that the activity meets the criteria in subsection (1)(a) to (c) , and the information relied on by the consent authority in making that decision.	25			
(4)	If a person has submitted an application for a resource consent for an activity that is a permitted activity under this section, the application need not be further processed, considered, or decided and must be returned to the applicant.					
(5)		tice given under subsection (1)(d) lapses 5 years after the date of the e unless the activity permitted by the notice is given effect to.	30			
123	Secti	on 88 amended (Making an application)				
(1)	Repla	ace section 88(2)(b) with:				
	(b)	in the case of a fast-track application, include the prescribed information relating to the activity (if any) (see section 360F(1)(b)); and				
	(c)	in the case of any other application or a fast-track application where there are no prescribed information requirements relating to the activity, include the information relating to the activity, including an assessment	35			

		of the activity's effects on the environment, that is required by Schedule 4.				
(2)	Replace section 88(3)(b) with:					
	(b)	include the information required by subsection (2)(b) or (c) (as applicable).	5			
125	Secti	ons 95 to 95B replaced				
	Repl	ace sections 95 to 95B with:				
95	Time	e limit for public notification or limited notification				
(1)	A co	nsent authority must, within the time limit specified in subsection (2) ,—				
	(a)	decide, in accordance with sections 95A and 95B , whether to give public or limited notification of an application for a resource consent; and	10			
	(b)	notify the application if it decides to do so.				
(2)	The 1	time limit is,—				
	(a)	in the case of a fast-track application, 10 working days after the day the application is first lodged; and	15			
	(b)	in the case of any other application, 20 working days after the day the application is first lodged.				
95A	Publ	ic notification of consent applications				
(1)		nsent authority must follow the steps set out in this section, in the order n, to determine whether to publicly notify an application for a resource ent.	20			
	Step	1: mandatory public notification in certain circumstances				
(2)		rmine whether the application meets any of the criteria set out in subsec- (3) and,—	25			
	(a)	if the answer is yes, publicly notify the application; and				
	(b)	if the answer is no, go to step 2.				
(3)	The	criteria for step 1 are as follows:				
	(a)	the applicant has requested that the application be publicly notified:				
	(b)	public notification is required under section 95C:	30			
	(c)	the application is made jointly with an application to exchange recreation reserve land under section 15AA of the Reserves Act 1977.				
	-	2: if not required by step 1, public notification precluded in certain mstances				
(4)		rmine whether the application meets either of the criteria set out in sub- ion (5) and,—	35			

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

- if the answer is yes, go to step 4 (step 3 does not apply); and (a) (b) if the answer is no, go to step 3. The criteria for step 2 are as follows: the application is for a resource consent for 1 or more activities, and each activity is subject to a rule or national environmental standard that 5 precludes public notification: the application is for a resource consent for 1 or more of the following, (b) but no other, activities: (i) a controlled activity: a restricted discretionary or discretionary activity, but only if the 10 (ii) activity is a subdivision of land or a residential activity: a restricted discretionary, discretionary, or non-complying activity, but only if the activity is a boundary activity: a prescribed activity (see section 360G(1)(a)(i)). (iii) In subsection (5), residential activity means an activity that requires re-15 source consent under a regional or district plan and that is associated with the construction, alteration, or use of 1 or more dwellinghouses on land that, under a district plan, is intended to be used solely or principally for residential purposes. Step 3: if not precluded by step 2, public notification required in certain 20 circumstances Determine whether the application meets either of the criteria set out in subsection (8) and, if the answer is yes, publicly notify the application; and (a) (b) if the answer is no, go to step 4. 25 The criteria for step 3 are as follows: the application is for a resource consent for 1 or more activities, and any (a) of those activities is subject to a rule or national environmental standard that requires public notification: the consent authority decides, in accordance with section 95D, that the 30 (b) activity will have or is likely to have adverse effects on the environment that are more than minor.
- Step 4: public notification in special circumstances
- (9) Determine whether special circumstances exist in relation to the application that warrant the application being publicly notified and,—
 - (a) if the answer is yes, publicly notify the application; and
 - (b) if the answer is no, do not publicly notify the application, but determine whether to give limited notification of the application under **section 95B**.

95B	Lim	ited notification of consent applications							
(1)	A consent authority must follow the steps set out in this section, in the order given, to determine whether to give limited notification of an application for a resource consent, if the application is not publicly notified under section 95A .								
	Step	Step 1: certain affected groups and affected persons must be notified							
(2)	Dete	rmine whether there are any—							
	(a)	affected protected customary rights groups; or							
	(b)	affected customary marine title groups (in the case of an application for a resource consent for an accommodated activity).							
(3)	Dete	rmine—	10						
	(a)	whether the proposed activity is on or adjacent to, or may affect, land that is the subject of a statutory acknowledgement made in accordance with an Act specified in Schedule 11; and							
	(b)	whether the person to whom the statutory acknowledgement is made is an affected person under section 95E .	15						
(4)		fy the application to each affected group identified under subsection (2) each affected person identified under subsection (3) .							
	-	2: if not required by step 1, limited notification precluded in certain unstances							
(5)	Determine whether the application meets either of the criteria set out in subsection (6) and,—								
	(a)	if the answer is yes, go to step 4 (step 3 does not apply); and							
	(b)	if the answer is no, go to step 3.							
(6)	The	criteria for step 2 are as follows:							
	(a)	the application is for a resource consent for 1 or more activities, and each activity is subject to a rule or national environmental standard that precludes limited notification:	25						
	(b)	the application is for a resource consent for either or both of the following, but no other, activities:							
		(i) a controlled activity that requires consent under a district plan (other than a subdivision of land):	30						
		(ii) a prescribed activity (see section 360G(1)(a)(ii)).							
	Step notif	3: if not precluded by step 2, certain other affected persons must be îed							
(7)		rmine whether, in accordance with section 95E , the following persons affected persons:	35						
	(a)	in the case of a boundary activity, an owner of an allotment with an infringed boundary; and							

(b)

in the case of any activity prescribed under section 360G(1)(b), a pre-

	scribed person in respect of the proposed activity.						
(8)	In the case of any other activity, determine whether a person is an affected person in accordance with section 95E .						
(9)	Notify each affected person identified under subsections (7) and (8) of the application.	5					
	Step 4: further notification in special circumstances						
(10)	Determine whether special circumstances exist in relation to the application that warrant notification of the application to any persons to whom limited notification would otherwise be precluded other persons not already determined to be eligible for limited notification under this section (excluding persons assessed under section 95E as not being affected persons), and,—	10					
	(a) if the answer is yes, notify those persons; and						
	(b) if the answer is no, do not notify anyone else.						
126	Section 95C amended (Public notification of consent application after request for further information or report)	15					
	In section 95C(1), replace "Despite section 95A(1), a consent authority must publicly notify an application for a resource consent if" with "A consent authority must publicly notify an application for a resource consent (see section 95A(2) and (3)) if".	20					
	Section 95D amended (Consent authority decides if adverse effects likely						
127	Section 95D amended (Consent authority decides if adverse effects likely to be more than minor)						
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
(1)	to be more than minor)						
(1) (1A)	to be more than minor) In section 95D, replace "section 95A(2)(a)" with "section 95A(8)(b)".	25					
(1)	to be more than minor) In section 95D, replace "section 95A(2)(a)" with "section 95A(8)(b)". In section 95D(c),—	25					
(1) (1A)	to be more than minor) In section 95D, replace "section 95A(2)(a)" with "section 95A(8)(b)". In section 95D(c),— (a) delete "controlled or"; and (b) delete "reserves control or". Section 95E replaced (Consent authority decides if person is affected person)	25					
(1) (1A)	to be more than minor) In section 95D, replace "section 95A(2)(a)" with "section 95A(8)(b)". In section 95D(c),— (a) delete "controlled or"; and (b) delete "reserves control or". Section 95E replaced (Consent authority decides if person is affected	25					
(1) (1A) 129	to be more than minor) In section 95D, replace "section 95A(2)(a)" with "section 95A(8)(b)". In section 95D(c),— (a) delete "controlled or"; and (b) delete "reserves control or". Section 95E replaced (Consent authority decides if person is affected person)	25					
(1) (1A) 129 95E	to be more than minor) In section 95D, replace "section 95A(2)(a)" with "section 95A(8)(b)". In section 95D(c),— (a) delete "controlled or"; and (b) delete "reserves control or". Section 95E replaced (Consent authority decides if person is affected person) Replace section 95E with:						
(1)	In section 95D, replace "section 95A(2)(a)" with "section 95A(8)(b)". In section 95D(c),— (a) delete "controlled or"; and (b) delete "reserves control or". Section 95E replaced (Consent authority decides if person is affected person) Replace section 95E with: Consent authority decides if person is affected person For the purpose of giving limited notification of an application for a resource consent for an activity to a person under section 95B(4) and (9) (as applicable), a person is an affected person if the consent authority decides that the activity's adverse effects on the person are minor or more than minor (but are	30					

-						
	(a)	may disregard an adverse effect of the activity on the person if a rule or a national environmental standard permits an activity with that effect; and				
	(b)	must, if the activity is a controlled activity or a restricted discretionary activity, disregard an adverse effect of the activity on the person if the effect does not relate to a matter for which a rule or a national environmental standard reserves control or restricts discretion; and	5			
	(d)	must have regard to every relevant statutory acknowledgement made in accordance with an Act specified in Schedule 11.				
(4)	-	son is not an affected person in relation to an application for a resource nt for an activity if—	10			
	(a)	the person has given, and not withdrawn, approval for the proposed activity in a written notice received by the consent authority before the authority has decided whether there are any affected persons; or				
	(b)	the consent authority is satisfied that it is unreasonable in the circumstances for the applicant to seek the person's written approval.	1.			
(5)	Subs	ection (4) prevails over subsection (1).				
130	Section	on 95F amended (Status of protected customary rights group)				
(1)		heading to section 95F, replace "Status of" with "Meaning of affected".				
(2)	In section 95F, replace "A consent authority must decide that a protected customary rights group is an affected protected customary rights group" with "A protected customary rights group is an affected protected customary rights group."					
131	Section	on 95G amended (Status of customary marine title group)				
(1)		e heading to section 95G, replace "Status of" with "Meaning of	25			
(2)	ine tit	tion 95G, replace "A consent authority must decide that a customary marle group is an affected customary marine title group" with "A customary e title group is an affected customary marine title group ".				
131A	Section	on 104 amended (Consideration of applications)				
	After	section 104(1)(a), insert:	30			
	(ab)	any measure proposed or agreed to by the applicant for the purpose of ensuring positive effects on the environment to offset or compensate for any adverse effects on the environment that will or may result from allowing the activity; and				
132	Section activi	on 104D amended (Particular restrictions for non-complying ties)	3.5			
		etion 104D(1), replace "for the purpose of section 95A(2)(a)" with "for urpose of notification".				

133			6 amended (Consent authority may refuse subdivision consent circumstances)					
(1)	Replace section 106(1)(a) and (b) with:							
` /	(a)	there	e is a significant risk from natural hazards; or					
(2)	After section 106(1), insert:							
(1A)		-	rpose of subsection (1)(a) , an assessment of the risk from natural juires a combined assessment of—					
	(a)		ikelihood of natural hazards occurring (whether individually or in bination); and					
	(b)		material damage to land in respect of which the consent is sought, r land, or structures that would result from natural hazards; and	1				
	(c)	soug	likely subsequent use of the land in respect of which the consent is that would accelerate, worsen, or result in material damage of the referred to in paragraph (b).					
133A	Sect	ion 10	8 amended (Conditions of resource consents)	1				
	In se	ction 1	108(1), replace "subject to any regulations" with "subject to section d any regulations".					
133B	8 New section 108AA inserted (Requirements for conditions of resource consents)							
	After	r sectio	on 108, insert:	2				
108A	A Re	quire	ments for conditions of resource consents					
(1)	A co	-	authority must not include a condition in a resource consent for an					
	(a)	the a	applicant for the resource consent agrees to the condition; or					
	(b)	the c	condition is directly connected to 1 or both of the following:	2				
		(i)	an adverse effect of the activity on the environment:					
		(ii)	an applicable district or regional rule, or a national environmental standard; or					
	(c)		condition relates to administrative matters that are essential for the ient implementation of the relevant resource consent.	3				
(2)	Subs	sectio	on (1) does not limit this Act or regulations made under it.					
(3)	class	es of a	on does not limit section 77A (power to make rules to apply to activities and specify conditions), 106 (consent authority may refuse a consent in certain circumstances), or 220 (condition of subdivision					

For the purpose of this section, a district or regional rule or a national environ-

mental standard is applicable if the application of that rule or standard to the

35

(4)

for the activity.

activity is the reason, or one of the reasons, that a resource consent is required

(5)	Nothing in this section affects section 108(2)(a) (which enables a resource consent to include a condition requiring a financial contribution).						
134	Section 115 amended (Time limits for notification of decision)						
After section 115(4), insert:							
(4A)	Despite anything else in this section, if the application is a fast-track application, notice of the decision must be given within 10 working days after the date the application was first lodged with the authority.						
135	Secti	on 120 amended (Right to appeal)	10				
(1)	After	section 120(1), insert:					
(1A)	part	ever, there is no right of appeal under this section against the whole or any of a decision of a consent authority referred to in subsection (1) to the exthat the decision relates to 1 or more of the following, but no other, activities	15				
	(a)	a boundary activity, unless the boundary activity is a non-complying activity:					
	(b)	a subdivision, unless the subdivision is a non-complying activity:					
	(c)	a residential activity as defined in section 95A(6) , unless the residential activity is a non-complying activity.	20				
(1B)	appe	erson who has a right of appeal under this section subsection (1)(b) may all only in respect of a matter raised in the person's submission (excluding part of the submission that is struck out under section 41D).					
(2)	In se	ction 120(2), after "sections 357A,", insert "357AB,".					
136		on 139 amended (Consent authorities and Environmental Protection ority to issue certificates of compliance)	25				
(1AA) Aft	er section 139(8), insert:					
(8A)		authority must not issue a certificate if a notice for the activity is in force r section 87BA(1)(c) or 87BB(1)(d).					
(1)	In se	ction 139(9), after "357A", insert ", 357AB ,".	30				
(2)	In se	ction 139(12), replace "120" with "120(1) or (2)".					
137		on 139A amended (Consent authorities to issue existing use ficates)					
(1AA) In s	ection 139A(9), after "119", insert ", 120(1A) and (1B) ,".					
(1)	In se	ction 139A(10), after "357A", insert ", 357AB ,".	35				

Amendments to Part 6AA of principal Act

137A	Section 149ZB amended (How EPA must deal with certain applications and notices of requirement)							
		ction 149ZB(3), replace "sections 95A to 95G" with " sections 149ZCB 19ZCF ".	5					
137B	Section 149ZC amended (Minister to decide whether application or notice of requirement to be notified)							
(1)		ction 149ZC(2), replace "sections 95A to 95G (but without the time limit fied by section 95)" with "sections 149ZCB to 149ZCF".						
<u>(1)</u>	Repla	ace section 149ZC(2) with:	10					
<u>(2)</u>		Minister must apply sections 149ZCB to 149ZCF in making his or her ion under subsection (1).						
(2)	In se 95)".	ction 149ZC(4), delete "(but ignoring the time limit specified by section						
137C	New	sections 149ZCA to 149ZCF inserted	15					
	After	section 149ZC, insert:						
149 Z (CA A	application of sections 149ZCB to 149ZCF						
	section	Sions 149ZCB to 149ZCF apply to the EPA's recommendation under on 149ZB and the Minister's decision under section 149ZC on whether to y an application or a notice to which section 149ZB relates.	20					
149Z	СВ Р	ublic notification of application or notice at Minister's discretion						
(1)	The I	Minister may, in his or her discretion, decide whether to require the EPA to cly notify an application or a notice.						
(2)	Desp tice i	ite subsection (1) , the EPA must publicly notify an application or a no-f—	25					
	(a)	the Minister decides (under section 1492CE) that the activity that is the subject of the application or notice will have, or is likely to have, adverse effects on the environment that are more than minor; or						
	(b)	the applicant requests public notification of the application or notice; or						
	(c)	a rule or national environmental standard requires public notification of the application or notice.	30					
(3)	-	ite subsections (1) and (2)(a) , the EPA must not publicly notify the aption or notice if—						
	(a)	a rule or national environmental standard precludes public notification of the application or notice; and	35					
	(b)	subsection (2)(b) does not apply.						

5

10

15

20

25

35

(4)	Despite subsection (3), the EPA may publicly notify an application or a no-
	tice if the Minister decides that special circumstances exist in relation to the ap-
	plication or notice.

(5) To avoid doubt, if an application or notice is to be publicly notified in accordance with this section, section 149ZC(3) applies sections 149C to 149E apply.

149ZCC Limited notification of application or notice

- (1) If the Minister decides not to require the EPA to publicly notify an application or a notice, the Minister must decide if there are any affected persons (under **section 1492CF**), affected protected customary rights groups, or affected customary marine title groups in relation to the activity.
- (1) If the Minister decides not to require the EPA to publicly notify an application or a notice, the Minister must, in relation to the activity,—
 - (a) decide if there is any affected person (under section 149ZCF); and
 - (b) identify any affected protected customary rights group or affected customary marine title group.
- (2) The EPA must give limited notification of the application or notice to any affected person unless a rule or national environmental standard precludes limited notification of the application or notice.
- (3) The EPA must give limited notification of the application or notice to an affected protected customary rights group or affected customary marine title group even if a rule or national environmental standard precludes public or limited notification of the application or notice.
- (4) In **subsections (1) and (3)**, the requirements relating to an affected customary marine title group apply only in the case of applications for accommodated activities.
- (5) To avoid doubt, if an application or notice is to be limited notified in accordance with this section, section 149ZC (4) applies.

149ZCD Public notification of application or notice after request for further information

- (1) Despite **section 149ZCB(1)**, the EPA must publicly notify an application or notice if—
 - (a) the Minister has not already required the EPA to give public or limited notification of the application or notice; and
 - (b) subsection (2) applies.
- (2) This subsection applies if the EPA requests further information on the application or notice under section $\frac{149(2)}{149(2)(a)}$, but the applicant—
 - (a) does not provide the information before the deadline concerned; or
 - (b) refuses to provide the information.

(3) This section applies despite any rule or national environmental standard that precludes public or limited notification of the application or notice. 149ZCE Minister to decide if adverse effects likely to be more than minor For the purpose of deciding under **section 149ZCB(2)(a)** whether an activity will have or is likely to have adverse effects on the environment that are more 5 than minor, the Minister must disregard any effects on persons who own or occupy— (a) the land in, on, or over which the activity will occur or apply; or (ii) any land adjacent to that land; and may disregard an adverse effect of the activity if a rule or national envir-10 (b) onmental standard permits an activity with that effect; and in the case of a controlled activity or a restricted discretionary activity, (c) must disregard an adverse effect of the activity that does not relate to a matter for which a rule or national environmental standard reserves control or restricts discretion; and 15 must disregard trade competition and the effects of trade competition; (d) (e) must disregard any effect on a person who has given written approval in relation to the relevant application or notice. 149ZCF Minister to decide if person is affected person 20 The Minister must decide that a person is an affected person, in relation to an (1) activity, if the adverse effects of the activity on the person are minor or more than minor (but are not less than minor). (2) The Minister, in making his or her decision, may disregard an adverse effect of the activity on the person if a rule or 25 (a) national environmental standard permits an activity with that effect; and in the case of a controlled activity or a restricted discretionary activity, (b) must disregard an adverse effect of the activity on the person if the activity does not relate to a matter for which a rule or national environmental standard reserves control or restricts discretion; and 30 (c) must have regard to every relevant statutory acknowledgement made in accordance with an Act specified in Schedule 11. Despite anything else in this section, the Minister must decide that a person is (3) not an affected person ifthe person has given, and not withdrawn, approval for the activity in a 35 (a)

written notice received by the authority before the authority has decided

whether there are any affected persons; or

(b)

it is unreasonable in the circumstances to seek the person's written ap-

			Amendment to Part 7 of principal Act	
138			amended (Interpretation) 1, repeal the definition of public notice.	5
			Amendment to Part 7A of principal Act	
138A	Secti	on 165	C amended (Interpretation)	
		ction 16 2AB ".	65C, definition of public notice , replace "section 151" with " sec-	
			Amendments to Part 8 of principal Act	10
138B	Secti	on 168.	A amended (Notice of requirement by territorial authority)	
(1)	Repla	ace sect	ion 168A(1A) with:	
(1A)	ment	under	al authority must decide whether to notify the notice of require- sections 149ZCB to 149ZCF, which apply with all necessary as and as if	15
	(a)		rence to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of ement; and	
	(b)		rence to an applicant, the Minister, or the EPA were a reference to ritorial authority; and	
	(c)	a refe i	rence to an activity were a reference to the designation.	20
<u>(1)</u>	Repla	ace sect	ion 168A(1A) with:	
<u>(1A)</u>		territori under–	al authority must decide whether to notify the notice of require-	
	<u>(a)</u>	subse	ection (1AA); or	
	<u>(b)</u>		ons 149ZCB(1) to (4), 149ZCC(1) to (4), 149ZCE, and CF, which apply with all necessary modifications and as if—	25
		<u>(i)</u>	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of requirement; and	
		<u>(ii)</u>	a reference to an applicant, the Minister, or the EPA were a reference to the territorial authority; and	30
		<u>(iii)</u>	a reference to an activity were a reference to the designation.	
(1AA	/		ction 149ZCB(1), a territorial authority must publicly notify the	
	notic			
	<u>(a)</u>		not already decided whether to give public or limited notification notice; and	35

	<u>(b)</u>	either-	<u></u>	
		<u>(i)</u>	further information is requested from the territorial authority under section 92(1), but the territorial authority—	
			(A) does not provide the information before the deadline concerned; or	
			(B) refuses to provide the information; or	
		<u>(ii)</u>	the territorial authority is notified under section 92(2)(b) in relation to the commissioning of a report, but the territorial authority—	
				0
			(B) refuses to agree to the commissioning of the report.	
(1AB)			on (1AA) applies despite any rule or national environmental stand- eludes public or limited notification of the notice of requirement.	
(2)			tion 168A(2) with:	
(2)			, 97, and 99 to 103 apply to the notice of requirement with all odifications and as if—	5
	(a)	a refe	erence to a resource consent were a reference to the requirement;	
	(b)		rence to an applicant or a consent authority were a reference to the orial authority; and	0
	(c)		erence to an application for a resource consent were a reference to otice of requirement; and	
	(d)	a refe	rence to an activity were a reference to the designation.	
(3)	After	section	n 168A(3), insert:	
(3A)	fects of environment,	on the onment as lon	to be considered under subsection (3) may include any positive ef- environment to offset or compensate for any adverse effects on the t that will or may result from the activity enabled by the require- ng as those effects result from measures proposed or agreed to by g authority.	5
138C			amended (Further information, notification, submissions, and notice of requirement to territorial authority)	0
(1)	Repla	ce sect	tion 169(1) with:	
(1)	territo notice	rial au under	al authority is given a notice of requirement under section 168, the athority must, within 10 working days, decide whether to notify the resections 1492CB to 1492CF, which apply with all necessary as and as if—	5
	(a)		erence to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of erement; and	

	(b)	a refe	erence to an applicant were a reference to the requiring authority;							
	(e)		rence to the Minister or the EPA were a reference to the territorial rity; and							
	(d)	a refe	a reference to an activity were a reference to the designation.							
(1A)	Despi notice		etion 149ZCB(1), a territorial authority must publicly notify the							
	(a)		not already decided whether to give public or limited notification notice; and							
	(b)		erritorial authority notifies the requiring authority under section (b) that it wants to commission a report, but the requiring author-	10						
		(i)	does not respond before the deadline concerned; or							
		(ii)	refuses to agree to the commissioning of the report.							
(1)	Repla	ce sec	tion 169(1) with:	15						
(1) If a territorial authority is given notice of a requirement under section 1 territorial authority must, within 10 working days, decide whether to no notice under—										
	<u>(a)</u>	<u>subs</u>	ection (1A); or							
	<u>(b)</u>		ons 149ZCB(1) to (4), 149ZCC(1) to (4), 149ZCE, and CF, which apply with all necessary modifications and as if—	20						
	<u>(b)</u>			20						
	(b)	149Z	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the no-	2025						
	<u>(b)</u>	<u>149Z</u> (i)	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of requirement; and a reference to an applicant were a reference to the requiring au-							
	(b)	149Z (i) (ii)	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of requirement; and a reference to an applicant were a reference to the requiring authority; and a reference to the Minister or the EPA were a reference to the ter-							
(1A)		(i) (ii) (iii) (iv) te sec	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of requirement; and a reference to an applicant were a reference to the requiring authority; and a reference to the Minister or the EPA were a reference to the territorial authority; and							
(1A)	Despi	(i) (ii) (iii) (iv) te sec if— it has	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of requirement; and a reference to an applicant were a reference to the requiring authority; and a reference to the Minister or the EPA were a reference to the territorial authority; and a reference to an activity were a reference to the designation.	25						
(1A)	Despi notice	(i) (ii) (iii) (iv) te sec if— it has	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of requirement; and a reference to an applicant were a reference to the requiring authority; and a reference to the Minister or the EPA were a reference to the territorial authority; and a reference to an activity were a reference to the designation. Extion 1492CB(1), a territorial authority must publicly notify the not already decided whether to give public or limited notification notice; and	25						
(1A)	Despi notice (a)	(ii) (iii) (iv) te second that of the	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of requirement; and a reference to an applicant were a reference to the requiring authority; and a reference to the Minister or the EPA were a reference to the territorial authority; and a reference to an activity were a reference to the designation. Extion 1492CB(1), a territorial authority must publicly notify the not already decided whether to give public or limited notification notice; and	25						

			<u>(B)</u>	refuses to provide the information; or	
		<u>(ii)</u>		erritorial authority notifies the requiring authority under sec-	
				22(2)(b) that it wants to commission a report, but the requiruthority—	
			(A)	does not respond before the deadline concerned; or	5
			(B)	refuses to agree to the commissioning of the report.	
(1B)	Subs	ection	1 (1A)	applies despite any rule or national environmental standard	
	that p	reclude	es pub	lic or limited notification of the notice of requirement.	
(2)	Repla	ce sect	tion 16	59(2) with:	
(2)				ial authority applies section 170, sections 92 to 92B and 96 to otice of requirement with all necessary modifications and as	10
	(a)	a refe	erence	to a resource consent were a reference to the requirement;	
	(b)	a refe	erence	to an applicant were a reference to the requiring authority;	15
	(c)			to an application for a resource consent were a reference to f requirement; and	
	(d)		rence y; and	to a consent authority were a reference to the territorial au-	20
	(e)	a refe	rence 1	to an activity were a reference to the designation; and	
	(f)			to a decision on the application for a resource consent were a a recommendation by the territorial authority under section	
138D	Section	on 171	amen	nded (Recommendation by territorial authority)	25
				1), insert:	
(1B)	fects of environtion, a	on the	enviro t that v as tho	considered under subsection (1) may include any positive ef- onment to offset or compensate for any adverse effects on the will or may result from the activity enabled by the designa- ose effects result from measures proposed or agreed to by the	30
138E		on 189 orial a		ended (Notice of requirement for heritage order by rity)	
(1)	Repla	ce sect	tion 18	39A(2) with:	
(2)	ment	under	secti	hority must decide whether to notify the notice of require- ons 149ZCB to 149ZCF, which apply with all necessary as if—	35

	(a)		erence to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of rement; and		
	(b)		erence to an applicant, the Minister, or the EPA were a reference to erritorial authority; and		
	(c)	a refe	erence to an activity were a reference to the heritage order.	5	
<u>(1)</u>	Repla	ice sec	tion 189A(2) with:		
(2)	The territorial authority must decide whether to notify the notice of requirement under—				
	<u>(a)</u>	subs	section (2A); or		
	<u>(b)</u>		ions 149ZCB(1) to (4), 149ZCC(1) to (4), 149ZCE, and CCF, which apply with all necessary modifications and as if—	10	
		<u>(i)</u>	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of requirement; and		
		<u>(ii)</u>	a reference to an applicant, the Minister, or the EPA were a reference to the territorial authority; and	15	
		<u>(iii)</u>	a reference to an activity were a reference to the heritage order.		
(2A)	Despite section 149ZCB(1) , a territorial authority must publicly notify the notice if—				
	<u>(a)</u>		s not already decided whether to give public or limited notification e notice; and	20	
	<u>(b)</u>	either	<u>r—</u>		
		<u>(i)</u>	further information is requested from the territorial authority under section 92(1), but the territorial authority—		
			(A) does not provide the information before the deadline concerned; or	25	
			(B) refuses to provide the information; or		
		<u>(ii)</u>	the territorial authority is notified under section 92(2)(b) in relation to the commissioning of a report, but the territorial authority—		
			(A) does not respond before the deadline concerned; or	30	
			(B) refuses to agree to the commissioning of the report.		
(2B)			n (2A) applies despite any rule or national environmental standard les public or limited notification of the notice of requirement.		
(2)	Repla	ice sec	tion 189A(9) with:		
(9)	Sections 99 to 103 apply to the notice of requirement with all necessary modifications and as if—				
	(a)	a refe	erence to a resource consent were a reference to the requirement;		

(b)

a reference to an applicant or a consent authority were a reference to the

		territo	orial authority; and			
	(c)		erence to an application for a resource consent were a reference to otice of requirement; and			
	(d)	a refe	erence to an activity were a reference to the heritage order.	5		
38F	Section 190 amended (Further information, notification, submissions, and hearing for notice of requirement to territorial authority)					
1)	Repla	ce sec	tion 190(1) with:			
1)	territo notico	orial au e unde	al authority is given a notice of requirement under section 189, the athority must, within 10 working days, decide whether to notify the resections 1492GB to 1492GF, which apply with all necessary as and as if—	10		
	(a)		erence to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of rement; and			
	(b)		erence to an applicant were a reference to the heritage protection au- y; and	15		
	(e)		erence to the Minister or the EPA were a reference to the territorial prity; and			
	(d)	a refe	erence to an activity were a reference to the heritage order.			
lA)	Despite section 149ZCB(1) , a territorial authority must publicly notify the notice if—					
	(a)	it has not already decided whether to give public or limited notification of the notice; and				
	(b) the territorial authority notifies the requiring authority under 92(2)(b) that it wants to commission a report, but the requiring ity—			25		
		(i)	does not respond before the deadline concerned; or			
		(ii)	refuses to agree to the commissioning of the report.			
1)	Repla	ce sec	tion 190(1) with:			
<u>1)</u>	If a territorial authority is given a notice of requirement under section 189, the territorial authority must decide whether to notify the notice under—					
	(a) subsection (1A); or					
	<u>(b)</u>		ions 149ZCB(1) to (4), 149ZCC(1) to (4), 149ZCE, and CF, which apply with all necessary modifications and as if—			
		<u>(i)</u>	a reference to an application or notice were a reference to the notice of requirement; and	35		
		<u>(ii)</u>	a reference to an applicant were a reference to the heritage protection authority; and			

		<u>(iii)</u>	a reference to the Minister or the EPA were a reference to the territorial authority; and	
		<u>(iv)</u>	a reference to an activity were a reference to the heritage order.	
(1A)	Despi	te sec	tion 149ZCB(1), a territorial authority must publicly notify the	
	notice	<u>if—</u>		5
	<u>(a)</u>		not already decided whether to give public or limited notification notice; and	
	<u>(b)</u>	either		
		<u>(i)</u>	the territorial authority requests further information from the heritage protection authority under section 92(1), but the heritage protection authority—	10
			(A) does not provide the information before the deadline concerned; or	
			(B) refuses to provide the information; or	
		(ii)	the territorial authority notifies the heritage protection authority under section 92(2)(b) that it wants to commission a report, but the heritage protection authority—	
			(A) does not respond before the deadline concerned; or	
			(B) refuses to agree to the commissioning of the report.	
<u>(1B)</u>			(1A) applies despite any rule or national environmental standard es public or limited notification of the notice of requirement.	20
(2)	Repla	ce sec	ion 190(7) with:	
(7)			to 92B and 98 to 103 apply to the notice of requirement with all odifications and as if—	
	(a)	a refe	rence to a resource consent were a reference to the requirement;	25
	(b)		rence to an applicant were a reference to the requiring heritage pro- a authority; and	
	(c)		rence to an application for a resource consent were a reference to tice of requirement; and	30
	(d)		rence to a consent authority were a reference to the territorial au- y; and	
	(e)	a refe	rence to an activity were a reference to the heritage order; and	
	(f)		rence to a decision on the application for a resource consent were a nee to a recommendation by the territorial authority under section	

139 Section 198AD amended (Excluded time periods relating to other matters)
In section 198AD(1), replace "95E(3)" with "149ZCF(3)".

Amendment to Part 9 of principal Act

140 Section 204 amended (Public notification of application)

Replace section 204(1)(a) with:

- (a) public notice of the application is given; and
- (ab) a copy of the short summary of the notice referred to in **section 2AB(1)(b)**, along with details of the Internet site where the notice can be accessed, is published in a daily newspaper in each of the cities of Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, and Dunedin; and

Amendments to Part 10 of principal Act

141 Section 220 amended (Condition of subdivision consents)

10

15

5

In section 220(1)(d),—

- (a) replace "erosion, subsidence, slippage, or inundation" with "natural hazards"; and
- (b) replace "subsidence, slippage, erosion, or inundation" with "natural hazards".

Amendments to Part 14 of principal Act

142 Section 352 amended (Service of documents)

- (1) Replace section 352(1) with:
- (1) Where a notice or other document is to be served on a person for the purposes of this Act,—

20

- (a) if the person has specified an electronic address as an address for service for the matter to which the document relates, and has not requested a method of service listed in **paragraph** (b), the document must be served by sending it to the electronic address:
- (b) if the person has not specified an electronic or other address as an address for service or if the person has requested any of the following methods of service, the document may be served by the requested method or any of the following methods:
 - (i) delivering it personally to the person (other than a Minister of the Crown):

30

35

- (ii) delivering it at the usual or last known place of residence or business of the person:
- (iii) sending it by pre-paid post addressed to the person at the usual or last known place of residence or business of the person:
- (iv) posting it to the PO box address that the person has specified as an address for service:

(v)

(vi)

for service:

dress for service.

leaving it at a document exchange for direction to the document

exchange box number that the person has specified as an address

sending it to the fax number that the person has specified as an ad-

(1A)	However, if the document is to be served on a person to commence, or in the course of, court proceedings, subsection (1) does not apply if the court, whether expressly or in its rules or practices, requires a different method of service.	
(2) (3)	In section 352(4A)(b), replace "email address" with "electronic address". In section 352(5), replace "subsection (1)(c) or (d)" with "subsection (1)(b)(iii) or (iv)".	10
143	Section 357 amended (Right of objection against certain decisions) In section 357(2), replace "section 41C(7)" with " section 41D ".	
144	New section 357AB inserted (Objection under section 357A(1)(f) or (g) may be considered by hearings commissioner) After section 357A, insert:	15
357A	B Objection under section 357A(1)(f) or (g) may be considered by hearings commissioner	
(1)	An applicant for a resource consent who has a right of objection under section 357A(1)(f) or (g) (as applied by section 357A(2) to (5)) may, when making the objection, request that the objection be considered by a hearings commissioner.	20
(2)	If a consent authority receives a request under this section, the authority must, under section 34A(1), delegate its functions, powers, and duties under sections 357C and 357D to 1 or more hearings commissioners who are not members of the consent authority.	25
145	Section 357C amended (Procedure for making and hearing objection under sections 357 to 357B) After section 357C(2), insert:	
(2A)		30
146	New section 357CA inserted (Powers of hearings commissioner considering objection under section 357A(1)(f) or (g)) After section 357C, insert:	35

357C	Powers of hearings commissioner considering objection under section
	57A(1)(f) or (g)
(1)	This section applies if a hearings commissioner is considering an objecti

- on made under section 357A(1)(f) or (g) (see section 357AB).
- (2) The hearings commissioner may do 1 or more of the following:
- 5

10

15

20

25

- (a) require the person or body making the objection to provide further information:
- require the consent authority to provide further information: (b)
- (c) commission a report on any matter raised in the objection.
- (3) However, the hearings commissioner must not require further information or commission a report unless he or she considers that the information or report will assist the hearings commissioner to make a decision on the objection.

Section 358 amended (Appeals against certain decisions or objections) 148

- In section 358(1), delete "Appeals from objections under section 357(3A), (4), (1) or (8) or, for objections only to a board of inquiry, under section 357(2) are excluded."
- After section 358(1), insert: (2)
- (1A) However, appeals from the following objections are excluded:
 - an objection under section 357A(1)(f) or (g) in respect of a consent authority's decision decision of a consent authority or hearings commissioner on an application or a review described in section 357A(2) to (5), if the right of appeal against the decision to the Environment Court in the first instance is excluded by section 120(1A):
 - an objection to an authority under section 357(2), if the submission re-(a) lates to an application for a resource consent, a review of a resource consent, or an application to change or cancel a condition of a resource con-
 - an objection to an authority under section 357(3A) or (8): (b)
 - an objection to a board of inquiry under section 357(2) or (4). (c)

149 Section 360 amended (Regulations)

30

- In section 360(1)(hi), replace "sections 41B and 41C" with "sections 41B to (1) 41D".
- (2) In section 360(1)(hj), after "section 127", insert ", or for decisions on activities permitted under section 87BA(1)(c),".
- Section 360E amended (Regulations relating to administrative charges and 35 other amounts)

After section 360E(2)(c) (as inserted by section 105 of the Resource **Legislation Amendment Act 2015)**, insert:

5

10

15

20

25

(d) may require local authorities to fix charges listed in section 36(1) for notices issued under section 87BA or 87BB stating whether an activity is a permitted activity.

151 New sections 360F and 360G inserted

After section 360E (as inserted by section 105 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015), insert:

360F Regulations relating to fast-track applications

- (1) The Governor-General may, by Order in Council made on the recommendation of the Minister, make regulations—
 - (a) prescribing, for the purpose of **section 87AAC** (meaning of fast-track application), particular activities or classes of activities, or the methods or criteria that a consent authority must use to identify particular activities or classes of activities; and
 - (b) prescribing, for the purpose of **section 88(2)(b)** (making an application), the information that an application for a resource consent must include if it is a fast-track application.
- (2) The Minister—
 - (a) must not recommend that regulations be made under **subsection (1)(a)** unless he or she is satisfied that the scale and complexity of the activities are unlikely to warrant a consent authority taking more than 10 working days to notify an applicant of the authority's decision on a relevant application; and
 - (b) must not recommend that regulations be made under **subsection (1)(b)** unless he or she is satisfied that the prescribed information requirements are proportional to the likely effects of activities that may be the subject of a fast-track application.
- (3) In **subsection (2)**, **relevant application**, in relation to an activity, means an application for a resource consent for the activity.
- (4) Section 360(2) and (4) applies to regulations made under this section.

360G Regulations relating to notification of consent applications

- (1) The Governor-General may, by Order in Council made on the recommendation of the Minister, make regulations for all or any of the following purposes:
 - (a) prescribing particular activities or classes of activities, or the methods or criteria that a consent authority must use to identify particular activities or classes of activities.—
 - (i) for the purpose of **section 95A(5)(b)(iii)** (to preclude public notification of an application for a resource consent for the activity):
 - (ii) for the purpose of **section 95B(6)(b)(ii)** (to preclude limited notification of an application for a resource consent for the activity):

101

30

- (b) prescribing, for the purpose of **section 95B(7)** (to limit who may be considered an affected person in respect of an application for a resource consent),—
 - (i) particular activities or classes of activities, or the methods or criteria that a consent authority must use to identify particular activities or classes of activities:
 - (ii) particular persons or classes of persons, or the methods or criteria that a consent authority must use to identify particular persons or classes of persons.

(2) The Minister must not—

- (a) make a recommendation for the purpose of **subsection (1)(a)(i)** unless the Minister is satisfied that the nature and likely effects of the activities are unlikely to warrant public notification of a relevant application or review in accordance with section 95D; or
- (b) make a recommendation for the purpose of **subsection (1)(a)(ii)** unless the Minister is satisfied that the nature and likely effects of the activities are unlikely to warrant limited notification of a relevant application or review in accordance with **section 95B** to affected persons under **section 95E section 95B(1)** to (9); or
- (c) make a recommendation for the purpose of **subsection (1)(b)** unless the Minister is satisfied that the nature and likely effects of the activities referred to in **subsection (1)(b)(i)** are unlikely to warrant limited notification of a relevant application or review in accordance with **section 95B** to affected persons referred to in **section 95B(8)** other than persons or classes of persons referred to in **subsection (1)(b)(ii)**.
- (3) In **subsection (2)**, relevant application or review, in relation to an activity, means an application for a resource consent for the activity, a review of a resource consent for the activity, or an application to change or cancel a condition of a resource consent for the activity.
- (4) Section 360(2) and (4) applies to regulations made under this section.

Amendment to Schedule 1 of principal Act

152 Schedule 1 amended

(1) In Schedule 1, after clause 10, insert:

10A Application to Minister for extension of time

(1) A local authority must, before the time for making its decision under clause 10, apply to the Minister for an extension of the time for giving a decision under that clause if the local authority is unable, or is likely to be unable, to meet the requirement of clause 10(4)(a) (under which decisions must be given within 2 years of notification of a proposed policy statement or plan).

102

10

5

20

15

25

(2)	An application under subclause (1) must be in writing, and must set out—						
	(a)	the reasons for the request for an extension; and					
	(b)	the duration of the extension required.					
(3)	Befo	Before applying for an extension, a local authority must take into account—					
	(a)	the interests of any person who, in its opinion, may be directly affected by an extension; and	5				
	(b)	the interests of the community in achieving adequate assessment of the effects of the proposed policy statement or plan or change to a policy statement or plan; and					
	(c)	its duty under section 21 to avoid unreasonable delay.	10				
(4)	The	Minister—					
` ′	(a)	(a) may decline or agree to an extension applied for under subclause (1) ; but					
	(b)	in the case of a regional coastal plan, must consider the views of the Minister of Conservation before granting an extension.	15				
(5)	The Minister must serve notice of his or her decision on the local authority.						
(6)	If the Minister grants an extension, the local authority must give public notice of that extension.						
(7)		This clause applies instead of section 37 if the time limit prescribed by clause $10(4)(a)$ is to be extended.					
(2)	In Schedule 1, after clause 69(1)(g) (as inserted by section 108 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015), insert:						
	(h)	section 41D (which provides for submissions to be struck <u>out</u> before or at a hearing).					
(3)	In Schedule 1, after clause 69(1) (as inserted by section 108 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015), insert:						
(1A)	If a p	If a panel exercises a power under section 41D ,—					
	(a)	a person whose submission is struck out has a right to objection under section 357 as if the references in that section to an authority were references to the panel; and	30				
	(b)	sections 357C to 358 apply to the panel as the body to which the objection is made under section 357.					
Sı	ubpaı	t 3—Amendments that commence 5 years after Royal assent					
		Amendments to Part 6 of principal Act					
153	Section 108 amended (Conditions of resource consents)						
	Repe	eal section 108(2)(a), (9), and (10).					

153A	Section 108AA amended (Requirements for conditions of resource consents)				
	Repeal section $108\mathrm{AA}(5)$ (as inserted by section 133B of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015).				
154	Section 110 repealed (Refund of money and return of land where activity does not proceed) Repeal section 110.				
155	Section 111 repealed (Use of financial contributions) Repeal section 111.				
	Amendments to Part 10 of principal Act	10			
156	Section 222 amended (Completion certificates) In section 222(1),— (a) delete "or on the making of a financial contribution (as defined in section 108(9))"; and				
	(b) delete "or make the financial contribution (as the case may be)".	15			
	Amendments to Part 15 of principal Act				
157	Section 407 amended (Subdivision consent conditions)				
	In section 407(1), delete "108(2)(a) or".				
158	Section 409 repealed (Financial contributions for developments) Repeal section 409.				
159	Section 411 repealed (Restriction on imposition of conditions as to financial contributions) Repeal section 411.				
	Amendment to Schedule 12 of principal Act				
160	Schedule 12 amended In Schedule 12, after clause 16 (as inserted by section 110 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015), insert the clauses set out in Schedule 4 of this Act.	25			
	Consequential amendments				
161	Consequential amendments relating to financial contributions Amend the enactments specified in Schedule 5 as set out in that schedule.	30			

Part 2 Amendments to Reserves Act 1977

162	Princ	ipal A	Act			
	This I pal A	,	other than section 165) amends the Reserves Act 1977 (the princi-	5		
163	Section	on 15	amended (Exchange of reserves for other land)			
(1)	In the ise ex		ing to section 15, replace "Exchange" with "Minister may authorge".			
(2)			15(2), replace "scheme under the Town and Country Planning Act "plan under the Resource Management Act 1991".	10		
164			n 15AA inserted (Administering body may authorise exchange on reserve land for other land)			
	After	sectio	n 15, insert:			
15AA	Adm for ot		ering body may authorise exchange of recreation reserve land	15		
(1)	A person may apply to the administering body of a recreation reserve to exchange all or part of the land comprised in the reserve (the recreation reserve land) for other land to be held for the same purposes if—					
	(a)	the a	pplication is made jointly—			
		(i)	with an application for a resource consent under section 88(1) and (1A) of the Resource Management Act 1991 (the RMA); or	20		
		(ii)	with a request for a change to a district plan or a regional plan (including a regional coastal plan) under section 65(4) and (4A) or 73(2) and (2A) of the RMA; and			
	(b)	the re	ecreation reserve land is vested in the administering body for the re-	25		
	(c)		dministering body of the reserve is also the relevant local authority r the RMA.			
(2)	If an application is made under subsection (1)(a)(i) , subsection (4) appli if—		ation is made under subsection (1)(a)(i), subsection (4) applies	30		
	(a)	the a	pplication to exchange the recreation reserve land has been—			
		(i)	processed in accordance with section 88(6)(a) of the RMA; and			
		(ii)	publicly notified under section 95A of the RMA; and			
	(b)	the re	esource consent—			
		(i)	has been granted; but	35		

		(ii)	is subject to the granting of the application to exchange the recreation reserve land; and	
	(c)		me allowed under the RMA for appeals against the decision to the resource consent has expired and any appeals have been deter- d.	5
(3)	If an plies i		eation is made under subsection (1)(a)(ii), subsection (4) ap-	
	(a)	the ap	oplication to exchange the recreation reserve land has been—	
		(i)	processed in accordance with clause 21(5)(a) of Schedule 1 of the RMA; and	10
		(ii)	publicly notified under clause 26 of Schedule 1 of the RMA; and	
	(b)	the pl	an change—	
		(i)	has been approved by the local authority; but	
		(ii)	is subject to the granting of the application to exchange the recreation reserve land; and	15
	(c)		me allowed under the RMA for appeals against the decision to ge the plan has expired and any appeals have been determined.	
(4)	If this	subse	ection applies, the administering body must—	
	(a)	make land;	a decision on the application to exchange the recreation reserve and	20
	(b)		ecides to grant the application, authorise the exchange of the recre- reserve land by notice in the <i>Gazette</i> ; and	
	(c)	advis	e the applicant of the decision.	
(5)	The a	dminis	stering body must not grant the application unless—	
	(a)	durin	had regard to any submissions that were made on the application g the public notification process under the RMA and that relate to schange; and	25
	(b)		risiders that the exchange would result in a net benefit for recreation runities for the community that uses, benefits from, or enjoys the ve.	30
(6)			nistering body authorises the exchange, section 15(3) to (8) applies hange were an exchange effected under section 15.	
165	Cons	equen	tial amendments to Resource Management Act 1991	
(1)	This s	ection	amends the Resource Management Act 1991.	
	Section	n 36		35
(2)	After	section	n 36(1), insert:	
(1A)			oubt, charges may be fixed under subsection (1) to recover costs in- the consent authority for performing its functions under—	

(b)

	(a)	sections 88 to 88F, 91(1) and (2), 91A to 92B, 95, 95A(2) , and 96 to 103B in relation to an application to exchange recreation reserve land under section 15AA of the Reserves Act 1977 that is made jointly with an application for a resource consent:	
	(b)	Part 2 of Schedule 1 in relation to an application to exchange recreation reserve land under section 15AA of the Reserves Act 1977 that is made jointly with a request for a change to a district plan or regional plan.	5
	Section	on 65	
(3)	After	section 65(4), insert:	
(4A)	chang	quest for a plan change may be made jointly with an application to exge recreation reserve land under section 15AA of the Reserves Act 1977 regional council—	10
	(a)	is also the administering body in which the recreation reserve land is vested; and	
	(b)	agrees that the request and application may be made jointly.	15
	Section	on 73	
(4)	After	section 73(2), insert:	
(2A)	chang	quest for a plan change may be made jointly with an application to exge recreation reserve land under section 15AA of the Reserves Act 1977 territorial authority—	20
	(a)	is also the administering body in which the recreation reserve land is vested; and	
	(b)	agrees that the request and application may be made jointly.	
	Section	on 88	
(5)	After	section 88(1), insert:	25
(1A)	of rec	rson may make a joint application for a resource consent and an exchange creation reserve land under section 15AA of the Reserves Act 1977 if the ant consent authority—	
	(a)	is also the administering body in which the recreation reserve land is vested; and	30
	(b)	agrees that the applications may be made jointly.	
(6)	After	section 88(5), insert:	
(6)		oint application is made under subsection (1A) , the application to exge recreation reserve land must be—	
	(a)	processed, with the resource consent application, in accordance with sec-	35

tions 88 to 88F, 91(1) and (2), 91A to 92B, **95, 95A(2)**, and 96 to 103B;

decided under **section 15AA** of the Reserves Act 1977.

35

~ .	~
Section	05.4
DECLION	7.1/1

((7)	After section	95A	(2)(h)	insert.
١	. <i>/]</i>	Alter section	JJH	しないひん	msert.

(ba) the application is made jointly with an application to exchange recreation reserve land under **section 15AA** of the Reserves Act 1977; or

Section 114 5

- (8) After section 114(7), insert:
- (8) If a resource consent is subject to the grant of an application to exchange recreation reserve land under **section 15AA** of the Reserves Act 1977, the consent authority must advise the applicant that—
 - (a) the resource consent is subject to a decision by the administering body on the application to exchange the recreation reserve land; and

10

15

25

30

35

- (b) the decision on the exchange will be made under **section 15AA** of the Reserves Act 1977 after the time allowed for appeals against the decision to grant the resource consent has expired and any appeals have been determined; and
- (c) the resource consent will not commence until the date determined under **section 116B**.

Section 116

- (8A) In section 116(1), replace "section 116A" with "sections 116A and **116B**".

 New section 116B

 20
- (9) After section 116A, insert:

116B When resource consent commences if subject to grant of application to exchange recreation reserve land

If a resource consent is subject to the grant of an application to exchange recreation reserve land under **section 15AA** of the Reserves Act 1977,—

- (a) the consent authority must notify the applicant when the procedures in sections 15 and **15AA** of that Act are complete; and
- (b) the resource consent commences on—
 - (i) the date of the notification under paragraph (a); or
 - (ii) any later date that is specified in the notification.

Schedule 1

- (10) In Schedule 1, after clause 21(4), insert:
- (5) If a request for a plan change is made jointly with an application to exchange recreation reserve land (as permitted by **section 65(4A) or 73(2A)**), the application must be—
 - (a) processed, with the request for a plan change, in accordance with this Part, other than clauses 27 and 29(4) to (8); then

108

decided under **section 15AA** of the Reserves Act 1977.

(b)

(11)	In Schedule 1, after clause 29(8), insert:	
(8A)	If the decision to change a plan is subject to the grant of an application to exchange recreation reserve land under section 15AA of the Reserves Act 1977, the local authority must advise the person who requested the plan change that—	5
	(a) the plan change is subject to a decision by the administering body on the application to exchange the recreation reserve land; and	
	(b) the decision on the exchange will be made under the Reserves Act 1977 after the time allowed for appeals against the decision on the plan change has expired and any appeals have been completed.	10
	Part 3	
	Amendments to Public Works Act 1981	
166	Principal Act	
	This Part amends the Public Works Act 1981 (the principal Act).	15
167	New section 2A inserted (Transitional, savings, and related provisions) After section 2, insert:	
2A	Transitional, savings, and related provisions	
	The transitional, savings, and related provisions set out in Schedule 1AA have effect according to their terms.	20
168	Section 4C amended (Delegation of Minister's powers) Replace section 4C(2) with:	
(2)	Despite subsection (1), the Minister for Land Information must not delegate the power to issue a notice of intention to take land under section 23(1).	
169	Section 24 amended (Objection to be heard by Environment Court)	25
	After section 24(6), insert:	
(6A)	The Environment Court may, whether or not the parties consent,—	
	(a) accept evidence that was presented at a hearing described in section 39(1) of the Resource Management Act 1991, or at a related inquiry or appeal heard by the court; and	30
	(b) direct how evidence is to be given to the court.	
170	Section 59 amended (Interpretation)	
	In section 59, replace the definition of owner with:	
	owner, in relation to land, includes—	

	(a)	-		no occupies the land under a lease, sublease, or licence, or a lease, sublease, or licence, that—	
		(i)	_	anted by the owner of the fee simple of the land or by the e of the land; and	
		(ii)	is not	<u>;</u>	5
			(A)	a weekly tenancy agreement; or	
			(B)	a monthly tenancy agreement; or	
			(C)	a tenancy to which the Residential Tenancies Act 1986 applies; or	
			(D)	a statutory tenancy (as defined in section 207 of the Property Law Act 2007):	10
	(b)	a tena	nt for	life of the land:	
	(c)	a ben	eficial	owner of the land	
171	Section dwell		amend	led (Additional compensation for acquisition of notified	15
(1)	Repla	ce sec	tion 72	2(1) with:	
(1)	Comp	ensati	on of u	up to \$50,000 must be paid to the owner of land if—	
	(a)	the la	nd has	been notified; and	
	(b)	the la fied;		taken or acquired for the public work for which it was noti-	20
	(c)			ntains a dwelling that is used as the land owner's principal idence; and	
	(d)	the pa	aymen	t of compensation is not excluded by subsection (2) or (3).	
(1A)				mpensation paid under subsection (1) must be determined a section 72A.	25
(1B)		-	nsation ardless	n paid under subsection (1) must not in total exceed s of—	
	(a)	the nu	ımber	of owners of the land; or	
	(b)	the n		of the estate or interest that the various owners of the land	30
(3)				replace "had he been a weekly or a monthly tenant" with "if ssee had been a tenant (as defined in section 75(4))".	
172	New	section	ıs 72A	to 72E inserted	

After section 72, insert:

72.4	A 4 C 40	4 1 • 1	1 4.	72
12A	Amount of compensation	to be baid	l under sectio	n 72

- (1) The amount of compensation paid under **section 72(1)** must be determined as follows:
 - (a) \$35,000 must be paid to the owner of the land if the owner qualifies for compensation under **section 72(1)**; and
 - (b) a further \$10,000 must be paid to the owner if—
 - (i) the Minister or local authority, as applicable, and the owner, within 6 months after the negotiation start date, execute an agreement for the sale and purchase of the land under section 17; and
 - (ii) the agreement specifies a date on which vacant possession of the land, and all buildings and structures on the land, will be given to the notifying authority; and
 - (c) a further \$5,000 may be paid to the owner if the Minister (if the land is taken or acquired for a Government work) or local authority (if the land is taken or acquired for a local work) decides, in his, her, or its discretion, that—
 - the personal circumstances of the owner warrant such a payment and compensation is not otherwise paid under this Act for this purpose; or
 - (ii) the circumstances concerning the acquisition of the owner's principal place of residence warrant such a payment and compensation is not otherwise paid under this Act for this purpose.
- (2) In this section, **negotiation start date** means the earlier of the following:
 - (a) the date on which the notifying authority notifies the owner of land in writing that it intends to acquire the land under section 17:
 - (b) the date on which the notifying authority serves notice in relation to land in accordance with section 18(1)(a).

72B Definitions of terms used in sections 72C and 72D

In this section and **sections 72C and 72D**, unless the context otherwise requires,—

category value means the portion of total land value for each category of interest or estate in land (for example, for all leasehold interests in land)

individual value means the portion of category value that is payable to a qualifying owner, determined by the percentage of the relevant category of interest or estate that is held by the owner in land

land means all land that is acquired or taken from an owner under this Act by the Minister or a local authority for a particular notified public work

notification date means the date on which land is notified

111

5

10

15

25

30

35

	qualifying owners means the owners of land who qualify for compensation under section 72C(1) and are not disqualified under section 72D(2)							
			value means the total amount of compensation payable under this essed in accordance with section 62, for land					
		-	ssession date means the date on which vacant possession of land, ldings and structures on the land, is given to the notifying authority.	5				
72 C	Add	itional	l compensation for acquisition of notified land					
(1)	Com	pensat	tion must be paid to an owner of land if—					
	(a)	the l	and has been notified; and					
	(b)	the l fied;	and is taken or acquired for the public work for which it was noti-	10				
	(c)	eithe	er of the following applies:					
		(i)	the land does not contain a dwelling that was used as the owner of the land's principal place of residence for the period between the notification date and the vacant possession date:	15				
		(ii)	the owner used a dwelling on the land as his or her principal place of residence for less than a substantial part of the period between the notification date and the vacant possession date; and					
	(d)	the p	payment of compensation is not excluded by section 72D .					
(2)	The	compe	ensation paid under subsection (1) must—	20				
	(a)	equa	al 10% of the total land value; or					
	(b)	be \$2	250 if 10% of the total land value is equal to or less than \$250; or					
	(c)	be \$ \$25,	\$25,000 if 10% of the total land value is equal to or more than 000.					
(3)			the compensation paid under subsection (1) must not in total ex-00 regardless of—	25				
	(a)	the n	number of owners of the land; or					
	(b)	the n	nature of the estate or interest each of the owners has in the land.					
(4)		-	sation is paid under subsection (1) for land that is owned by more on, the compensation must be—	30				
	(a)	paid	only to the qualifying owners; and					
	(b)		ortioned between the qualifying owners in proportion to the individualue each owner has in the land.					
(5)	lesse	e or s	nt of compensation paid under this section to an owner who is a ublessee of the land under a lease or sublease that will expire less after the vacant possession date—	35				

must be reduced so that it bears the same proportion as the period from

(a)

			to a period of 5 years; but	
	(b)	receiv	not be reduced to less than the amount that the owner would have wed under section 75 if the owner had been a tenant (as defined in ion 75(4)).	5
6)	conta	ins a r	coses of subsection (5) , the date on which a lease or sublease that right of renewal will expire is deemed to be the date on which it expired if the right of renewal had been exercised.	
2 D	Circu	ımstar	nces in which compensation must not be paid under section 72C	10
1)	unless	s vacai	on must not be paid to an owner of land under section 72C(1) nt possession of the land and all buildings and structures on the land the notifying authority by that owner—	
	(a)	ty all	before the vacant possession date, or any later date that the authoriows, if the land is acquired under an agreement that specifies a vacossession date:	15
	(b)	vendo that v	n 1 month after the date on which the authority serves notice on the or or the person from whom the land is taken (as the case may be) vacant possession is required, or within any longer period that the prity allows, if—	20
		(i)	the land is acquired under an agreement that does not specify a vacant possession date; or	
		(ii)	no agreement for sale is entered into and the land is taken by Proclamation.	
2)	-		on must not be paid under section 72C(1) unless the person givossession—	25
	(a)	is one	e of the following:	
		(i)	an owner of the land on the notification date:	
		(ii)	the spouse, civil union partner, or de facto partner of an owner of the land on the notification date:	30
		(iii)	the person beneficially interested in the land if an owner dies after the notification date; and	
	(b)	was a	in owner of the land on the vacant possession date; and	
	(c)		in owner of the land for a substantial part of the period between the cation date and the vacant possession date; and	35
	(d)	was-		
		(i)	not a willing party to the taking or acquisition of the land; or	
		(ii)	a willing party to the taking or acquisition principally because the land had been notified.	

(3)	that	pensation must not be paid under section 72C(1) to an owner of land if person is paid compensation for the loss of a dwelling on that land under tion 72(1) .	
72 E	Adjı	ustment of compensation payable under section 72 or 72C	
(1)	The Governor-General may, by Order in Council made on the recommendation of the Minister, amend section 72, 72A , or 72C by doing any or all of the following:		5
	(a)	increasing the compensation limit in section 72(1) and (1B):	
	(b)	increasing the compensation limits in section 72A(1)(a) to (c):	
	(c)	increasing or decreasing the percentages in section 72C(2)(a) to (c):	10
	(d)	increasing the compensation limits in section 72C(2)(b) and (c) and (3).	
(2)	this	Minister must not recommend the making of an Order in Council under section unless the Minister is of the opinion that it is necessary or desirable as so having regard to the following:	15
	(a)	the purposes of the compensation payable under sections 72 and 72C (including the differences between the acquisition of land that includes the owner's home and the acquisition of land that does not include the owner's home):	
	(b)	national average land and house sale prices:	20
	(c)	the New Zealand Consumer Price Index:	
	(d)	the level of solatium or similar compensation payable in comparable circumstances in jurisdictions outside New Zealand that have similar property rights and land acquisition regimes:	
	(e)	changes to the matters referred to in paragraphs (b) to (d) since the compensation limits and percentages were last changed:	25
	(f)	comments received in response to public consultation under subsection (3) .	
(3)		ore recommending the making of an Order in Council under this section, Minister must publicly consult about the proposed changes.	30
(4)	An C	Order in Council cannot be made under subsection (1)—	
	(a)	until after the expiry of 5 years from the date of commencement of Part 3 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015; or	
	(b)	more frequently than once every 5 years.	
173		ion 75 amended (Compensation for tenants of residential and business nises)	35

In section 75(1)(b), delete "weekly or monthly".

After section 75(3), insert:

(1)

(2)

(4)	In this section, tenant means a person who has—	
()	(a) a weekly tenancy agreement; or	
	(b) a monthly tenancy agreement; or	
	(c) a tenancy to which the Residential Tenancies Act 1986 applies; or	
	(d) a statutory tenancy (as defined in section 207 of the Property Law Act 2007).	
174	Section 249 repealed (Transitional provision) Repeal section 249.	
175	New Schedule 1AA inserted	
	Before Schedule 1, insert the Schedule 1AA set out in Schedule 6 of this Act.	
	Part 4	
	Amendments to Conservation Act 1987	
176	Principal Act	
	This Part (other than sections 182A and 182B) amends the Conservation Act 1987 (the principal Act).	
176A	Section 2 amended (Interpretation)	
	In section 2(1), definition of working day , paragraph (c), replace "25 December in any year and ending with 15 January" with "20 December in any year and ending with 10 January".	
177	New section 3A inserted (Transitional, savings, and related provisions)	
	After section 3, insert:	
3A	Transitional, savings, and related provisions	
	The transitional, savings, and related provisions (if any) set out in Schedule 1AA have effect according to their terms.	
178	Sections 17S and 17T replaced	
	Replace sections 17S and 17T with:	
17S	Contents of application	
	Every application for a concession must include the following information:	
	(a) a description of the proposed activity:	
	(b) a description identifying the places where the proposed activity will be carried out (including the status of those places):	
	(c) a description of—	

		(i)	the potential effects of the proposed activity:				
		(ii)	any actions that the applicant proposes to take to avoid, remedy, or mitigate any adverse effects of the proposed activity:				
	(d)	details	s of the type of concession for which the applicant is applying:				
	(e)	a state	ement of—	5			
		(i)	the proposed duration of the concession; and				
		(ii)	the reasons for the proposed duration:				
	(f)		ant information relating to the applicant, including any information ant to the applicant's ability to carry out the proposed activity:				
	(g)		applicant applies for a lease, a licence granting an interest in land, easement,—	10			
		(i)	reasons for the request; and				
		(ii)	sufficient information to satisfy the Minister that, in terms of section 17U, it is both lawful and appropriate to grant the lease, licence, or easement (as the case may be).	15			
17SA	Minis	ster m	ay return application that lacks required information				
(1)		n requ	ter is satisfied that an application does not contain all of the inforired by section 17S , he or she may return the application to the				
(2)	The Moration	The Minister may only do so within 10 working days after receiving the appli-					
(3)			ter returns an application, he or she must give the applicant reasons ion to do so.				
(4)		If an application is resubmitted after having been returned, the application is to be treated as a new application.					
17SB	Minister may decline application that is obviously inconsistent with Act, etc						
(1)	or is c	bvious ion m	ter is satisfied that an application obviously does not comply with, sly inconsistent with, the provisions of this Act or any relevant conanagement strategy or conservation management plan, he or she the application.	30			
(2)	The Minister may make his or her decision on the basis of the information provided in or with the application, and without making further inquiry.						
(3)			er may only do so within 20 working days after the expiry of the red to in section 17SA(2) .	35			
(4)			ter declines an application, he or she must inform the applicant and licant reasons for the decision.				

17SC		lic notification of application for leases, licences, permits, or ments	
(1)	The 1	Minister must publicly notify every application for—	
	(a)	a lease; or	
	(b)	a licence for a term (including renewals) of more than 10 years.	5
(2)		Minister may publicly notify any other application for a licence if, having d to the effects of the licence, he or she considers it appropriate to do so.	
(3)	if, ha	Minister may publicly notify any application for a permit or an easement aving regard to the effects of the permit or easement, he or she considers it opriate to do so.	10
(4)	How	ever, this section does not apply to—	
	(a)	an application that—	
		(i) does not comply with section 17R(2); or	
		(ii) is returned under section 17SA or 17SD; or	
		(iii) is declined under section 17SB:	15
	(b)	an application for the grant of a lease or licence resulting from the exercise of a right of renewal or extension, or a right to a new lease or licence, that is contained in a lease or licence.	
17SD	Min	ister may require applicant to provide further information	
(1)	supp	Minister may, by notice in writing, require an applicant for a concession to ly any further information (including an environmental impact assessment) he Minister considers necessary to enable a decision to be made.	20
(2)		applicant must provide the information within any reasonable time that is fied in the notice.	
(3)		nvironmental impact assessment that is provided for the purposes of this on must be—	25
	(a)	in the form set out in Schedule 4 of the Resource Management Act 1991; or	
	(b)	in any other form that the Minister requires.	
(4)	time to en	e applicant does not provide all of the information within the specified and the Minister determines that the information not provided is necessary able a decision to be made on the application, the Minister may return the cation to the applicant with the reasons for the determination.	30
(5)		ever, the Minister cannot return the application under subsection (4)	
	if—		35
	(a)	the applicant, within the specified time, advises the Minister that some or all of the requested information will not be provided and requests that	

the application be considered anyway; or

	(b)	the application has been publicly notified.					
17SE	Minis	ster may commission report or advice					
(1)	The Minister may, at the applicant's expense,—						
	(a)	commission a report or seek advice from any person (including the Director-General) on any matters raised in relation to an application:	5				
	(b)	obtain, from any source, any existing relevant information on the proposed activity (or structure) that is the subject of the application.					
(2)	The M	Iinister must—					
	(a)	provide the applicant with a copy of any information obtained under subsection (1) ; and	10				
	(b)	provide the applicant with any reasonable time that the Minister considers appropriate in which to comment on the information provided.					
(3)		to avoid doubt, the report or advice under subsection (1) may include a reiew of the application and any information provided by the applicant.					
17T	Minis	nister to consider applications 15					
(1)	The Minister must consider an application for a concession if the application—						
	(a)	complies with section 17R(2); and					
	(b)	is not returned under section 17SA; and					
	(c)	is not declined under section 17SB; and					
	(d)	is not returned under section 17SD(4) .	20				
(2)	The M	linister must consider the application when,—					
	(a)	if public notification is required or the Minister considers it appropriate under section 17SC , section 49 has been complied with; and					
	(b)	if the Minister sought further information under section 17SD ,—					
		(i) the information has been provided; or	25				
		(ii) the time specified in the notice for providing the information has expired and the information has not been provided; and					
	(c)	if the Minister obtained any information under section 17SE , section 17SE(2) has been complied with.					
180	Section	on 17U amended (Matters to be considered by Minister)	30				
(1)		tion 17U(1)(d), replace "section 17S or section 17T" with "sections 17SD, and 17SE".					
(2)		section 17U(7), insert:					
(8)		ng in this Act or any other Act requires the Minister to grant any conces- f he or she considers that the grant of a concession is inappropriate in the	35				

5

10

15

25

circumstances of the particular application having regard to the matters set out in this section.

181 Section 49 amended (Public notice and rights of objection)

- (1) In section 49(2), after "gives public notice of intention to exercise any power conferred by this Act", insert "or gives public notice of an application for a concession".
- (2) Replace section 49(2)(b) with:
 - (b) the Minister must give persons and organisations wishing to make objections or submissions the following time to do so:
 - (i) in the case of the exercise of a power, at least 40 working days:
 - (ii) in the case of an application for a concession, at least 20 working days; and
 - (ba) every objection or submission must be sent to the Director-General at the place, and by the date, specified in the notice; and

182 New Schedule 1AA inserted

Before Schedule 1, insert as **Schedule 1AA** the schedule set out in **Schedule 7** of this Act.

182A Consequential amendment to Crown Minerals Act 1991

- (1) This section amends the Crown Minerals Act 1991.
- (2) In section 61C(3)(a), after "application were", insert "an application for a concession that is".

182B Consequential amendment to Wild Animal Control Act 1977

- (1) This section amends the Wild Animal Control Act 1977.
- (2) In section 12A(3)(a), after "modifications", insert "as if the giving of the notice under subsection (2) were an exercise of power under that Act".

Part 5

Amendments to Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012

183 Principal Act

This **Part** (other than **sections 236 and 237**) amends the Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012 (the **principal Act**).

183A Section 3 amended (Outline of Act)

(1) Replace section 3(6) to (8A) with:

(6)	Part 3	•	des for the making of regulations for the purposes of this Act.			
(7)		art 1	provides for activities to be permitted, discretionary, or prohibited			
(8)	Subp	art 2	provides for the Minister to make EEZ policy statements that state nd policies to support decision-making on applications for marine	5		
(8A)	Subp	arts 2	A to 2D set out the processes for—			
	(a)	apply	ing for marine consents; and			
	(b)		sure and notification of applications for marine consents and the ag of submissions; and	10		
	(c)	ment	deration of applications for marine consents, including the appoint- of boards of inquiry for applications relating to publicly notifiable in 20 activities; and			
	(d)		ing applications for marine consents, including the matters that be considered by the marine consent authority deciding the applica-	15		
(8B)	Subpart 2E sets out matters relating to marine consents, including their nature, when they commence, their duration, and their review, correction, and cancellation.					
(2)	After	section	1 3(9), insert:			
(9A)	_		sets out the processes for acceptance of decommissioning plans and ent of accepted plans.			
(3)	Repla	ce sect	tion 3(10) with:			
(10)	Subp	art 1	provides for objections to decisions of marine consent authorities.	25		
(10A)			1A and 1B provide for appeals to the High Court on questions of decisions of the EPA and of boards of inquiry.			
(10B)	Subp	art 10	provides for representation at proceedings before the High Court.			
184	Section	on 4 ar	nended (Interpretation)			
(1 AA)			4(1), definition of applicant , delete "or 87B".	30		
(1)	In sec	tion 4(1), replace the definition of dumping with:			
	dump	ing—				
	(a)	means	s—			
		(i)	any deliberate disposal into the sea of waste or other matter from ships, aircraft, and structures at sea; and	35		
		(ii)	any deliberate disposal into the sea of ships, aircraft, and structures at sea; and			

public notice has the meaning given in section 7A

		(iii)	any storage of waste or other matter in the seabed and the subsoil of the seabed from ships, aircraft and structures at sea; and	
		(iv)	any abandonment or toppling at site of structures at sea for the sole purpose of deliberate disposal; but	
	(b)	does 1	not include—	5
		(i)	the disposal into the sea of waste or other matter incidental to, or derived from, the normal operations of ships, aircraft, and structures at sea and their equipment, other than waste or other matter transported by or to ships, aircraft, and structures at sea, operating for the purpose of disposal of such matter or derived from the treatment of such waste or other matter on such ships, aircraft and structures; or	10
		(ii)	placement of matter for a purpose other than the mere disposal of the matter, but only if the placement is not contrary to the aims of the 1996 Protocol to the London Convention; or	15
		(iii)	abandonment in the sea of matter (for example, cables, pipelines, and marine research devices) placed for a purpose other than the mere disposal of it; and	
	(c)	arisin	not include the disposal or storage of waste or other matter directly g from, or related to, the exploration, exploitation, and associated ore processing of seabed mineral resources	20
(1A)	In sec	tion 4((1), replace the definition of marine consent with:	
	mariı	ne con	sent or consent means—	
	(a)		rine consent (including a marine discharge consent or a marine ing consent) granted under section 62; or	25
	(b)	an em	nergency dumping consent	
(2)	In section 4(1), definitions of marine discharge consent and marine dumping consent , replace "under section 87F" with "under section 62".			
(2A)			(1), definition of non-notified activity , paragraph (b), replace "no- "notified; or".	30
(2B)	In sec	tion 4((1), definition of non-notified activity , after paragraph (b), insert:	
	(c)	is the	subject of an application to which section 38(3) applies	
(2C)			(1), definition of permitted activity , replace "is permitted" with "is activity".	
(2D)			(1), definition of prohibited activity , replace "is prohibited" with ted activity".	35
(2E)	In sec	tion 4((1), replace the definition of public notice with:	

(2F)	In sec 48 ".	ction 4	4(1), c	lefinition of submitter, replace "section 46" with "section				
(3)	In section 4(1), insert in their appropriate alphabetical order:							
	_	ted d		missioning plan means a decommissioning plan accepted DOB	5			
	EEZ policy statement means a statement issued under section 37D							
	London Convention means the Convention on the Prevention of Marine Pollution by Dumping of Wastes and Other Matter (1972)							
	marine consent authority, in relation to an application for a marine consent, means,—							
	(a)	in the	case	of a non-notified activity, the EPA:				
	(b)	in the	case	of a publicly notifiable activity that is a section 20 activity,—				
		(i)	a boa	ard of inquiry appointed under section 53:				
		(ii)	the E	EPA—				
			(A)	before a board of inquiry is appointed:	15			
			(B)	in respect of any matter that is outside the scope of the functions, powers, and duties of the board of inquiry:				
	(c)		e case e EPA	of a publicly notifiable activity other than a section 20 activi-				
	_	•		le application means an application for a marine consent for ble activity	20			
	section 20 activity means an activity referred to in section 20(2) or (4)							
				to waste or other matter, means to treat so as to avoid, remedy, werse effects of dumping				
184A	New	sectio	ns 7A	and 7B inserted	25			
	After	sectio	n 7, in	sert:				
7A	Mear	ing of	f publ	ic notice				
(1)	If this	s Act 1	equire	es the Environmental Protection Authority to give public no , the EPA must—				
	(a)	publi	sh on	its Internet site a notice that—	30			
		(i)	incluand	ides all the information that is required to be publicly notified;				
		(ii)	is in	the prescribed form (if any); and				
	(b)	-	where	hort summary of the notice, along with details of the Internet the notice can be accessed, in 1 or more newspapers circulat-	35			

		(i)	the cities of Auckland, Wellington, Christchurch, and Dunedin; and	
		(ii)	the region adjacent to the area that is the subject of the matter to which the notice relates.	
(2)		otice a	nd the short summary of the notice must be worded in a way that is noise.	5
7B	Trans	sitiona	l, savings, and related provisions	
			onal, savings, and related provisions set out in Schedule 1 have ling to their terms.	
184B			mended (Application to ships and aircraft of New Zealand rce and foreign States)	10
	Repla	ce sect	tion 9(1A)(c) with:	
	(c)	_	arts 2A to 2E of Part 3A, to the extent that they relate to marine ing consents and marine discharge consents:	
184C	Section	on 10 a	amended (Purpose)	15
	In sec 29E".		0(3)(b), after "regulations", insert "under section 27, 29A, 29B, or	
184D	Section	on 12 a	amended (Treaty of Waitangi)	
(1)			2(a), replace "the Environmental Protection Authority" with "marauthorities".	20
(2)	In sec	tion 12	2(c), replace "the EPA" with "a marine consent authority".	
(3)	In sec	tion 12	2(d), replace "section 45" with "section 47".	
184E	Section	on 13 a	amended (Functions of Environmental Protection Authority)	
(1)	Repla	ce sect	tion 13(1)(d)(i) with:	
		(i)	Part 3A, which deals with marine consents:	25
(2)	After	section	13(1)(e), insert:	
	(ea)	to pro inquir	vide advice and administrative and secretarial services to boards of y:	
184E			6 amended (Restriction on Environmental Protection power to delegate)	30
	In sec	tion 16	6, insert as subsection (2):	
(2)			ion (1), a reference to a marine consent does not include a marine onsent or a marine dumping consent.	
184F	Section	on 18 r	replaced (Function of Māori Advisory Committee)	
	Repla	ce sect	tion 18 with:	35

18	Func	tion of Māori Advisory Committee					
	The N	Māori Advisory Committee may provide advice as follows:					
	(a)	to the Environmental Protection Authority in accordance with sections 19 and 20 of the Environmental Protection Authority Act 2011:					
	(b)	to a marine consent authority, if its advice is sought under section 57(1)(b) .	5				
184G	Secti dump	on 20 amended (Restriction on activities other than discharges and bing)					
	After	section 20(2)(b), insert:					
	(ba)	the abandonment of a submarine pipeline that is on or under the seabed:	10				
184H	Secti	on 21 amended (Certain existing activities may continue)					
(1)	In section 21(3), replace "one that is described in section 20" with "a section 20 activity or a discharge of a harmful substance,".						
(2)	In section 21(3)(b), replace "section 41" with "section 44".						
(3)	Replace section 21(4) and (5) with:						
(4)	If the application for a marine consent described in subsection (3) is returned by the EPA under section 44 , subsection (3) applies to any new application that replaces the returned application.						
184I	Section	on 22 amended (Planned petroleum activities may commence)					
(1)		ction 22(4), replace "Section 41 applies" with "Sections 41 to 44	20				
(2)	In sec	etion 22(6)(b), replace "section 41" with "section 44".					
(3)	Repla	ce section 22(7) and (8) with:					
(7)	by the	application for a marine consent described in subsection (6) is returned application eplaces the returned application.	25				
184J		on 25 amended (Duty of persons operating in exclusive economic zone continental shelf)					
	In sec	etion 25(4), replace "Part 3" with "Part 4".					
185	Part :	3 heading and subpart 1 heading in Part 3 replaced	30				
	Repla	ice the Part 3 heading and the subpart 1 heading in Part 3 with:					

Part 3
Regulations

5

10

15

20

25

30

185A New section 29E and cross-heading inser	185A	New section	29E and	cross-heading	inserte
--	------	-------------	---------	---------------	---------

After section 29D, insert:

D					1
Decomn	110	ain	mino	n	ana
Decomn	LL	SLO	ทแทย	111	ans
		~ • •		ρ.	

29E Decommissioning plans

- (1) The Governor-General may, by Order in Council made on the recommendation of the Minister, make regulations prescribing 1 or more of the following:
 - (a) information that must be included in a decommissioning plan under section 100A(2):
 - (b) the process for dealing with a decommissioning plan under **section** 100B(1)(a):
 - (c) the criteria against which a decommissioning plan must be assessed under **section 100B(1)(b)**.
- (2) However, the Minister must not recommend the making of regulations under this section unless section 32 has been complied with.

185B Section 32 amended (Process for developing or amending regulations)

- (1) In section 32(1), after "29A,", insert "29E,".
- (2) In section 32(2)(a)(ii), replace "or 29A" with ", 29A, or **29E**".

186 Section 34A amended (Matters to be considered for regulations relating to discharges and dumping)

In section 34A(3)(c)(ii), after "waste", insert "or other matter".

Cross-heading above section 35 replaced

Replace the cross-heading above section 35 with:

Part 3A Activities and consents

Sections 35 to 58 and cross-headings replaced

Replace sections 35 to 58 (and the headings and cross-headings in between) with:

Subpart 1—Activities

Types of activity

35 Permitted activities

187

188

(1) An activity is a **permitted activity** if it is described in regulations as a permitted activity.

(2)	A person may undertake a permitted activity without a marine consent if the activity complies with any terms and conditions specified (for the activity) in regulations.						
(3)	men	erson intending to undertake a permitted activity must notify the Environ- cal Protection Authority before undertaking the activity if required to do so egulations.	5				
36	Disc	retionary activities					
(1)	An a	ctivity is a discretionary activity if regulations—					
	(a)	describe the activity as discretionary; or					
	(b)	allow the activity with a marine consent; or	10				
	(c)	do not classify the activity as permitted, discretionary, or prohibited.					
(2)	A pety.	rson must have a marine consent before undertaking a discretionary activi-					
(3)	Sub	section (2) is subject to section 21.					
37	Prohibited activities						
(1)		An activity is a prohibited activity if it is described in regulations as a prohibited activity.					
(2)	No p	No person may apply for a marine consent for a prohibited activity.					
(3)	No n	narine consent may be granted for a prohibited activity.					
(4)	Subj	ect to section 23, no person may undertake a prohibited activity.	20				
		Subpart 2—EEZ policy statements					
		EEZ policy statements					
37A	Purp	oose and scope of EEZ policy statements					
(1)	port	purpose of EEZ policy statements is to state objectives and policies to sup- decision-making on applications for marine consents in accordance with surpose of this Act.	25				
(2)	An EEZ policy statement may apply to all or part of the exclusive economic zone and the continental shelf.						
(3)		etermining whether it is desirable to prepare an EEZ policy statement, the ster may have regard to—	30				
	(a)	the actual or potential effects of the use, development, or protection of natural resources:					
	(b)	New Zealand's obligations under any international conventions that relate to the marine environment:					
	(c)	the matters in subpart 2 of Part 1:	35				

	(d)	d) any other relevant matter.						
37B	Notification of, and consultation on, proposed EEZ policy statement							
	Befor	re issui	ng an EEZ policy statement, the Minister must—					
	(a)	-	y the public, iwi authorities, regional councils, and persons whose ng interests may be affected of—	5				
		(i)	the proposed statement; and					
		(ii)	the Minister's reasons for considering that the proposed statement will support decision-making on applications for marine consents; and					
	(b)	(b) establish a process that the Minister considers gives the public, iwi authorities, regional councils, and persons whose existing interests are likely to be affected adequate time and opportunity to comment on the subject matter of the proposed statement.						
37C			be considered by Minister when determining whether to issue statement	15				
		In determining whether to issue the EEZ policy statement, the Minister must consider—						
	(a)		ctual or potential effects of the use, development, or protection of al resources; and					
	(b)		Zealand's obligations under any international conventions that re- to the marine environment; and	20				
	(c)	the m	natters in subpart 2 of Part 1; and					
	(d)	any s	ubmissions received on the proposed EEZ policy statement; and					
	(e)	any o	ther matter that the Minister considers relevant.					
37D	Revis	sion, w	vithdrawal, and approval of proposed EEZ policy statements	25				
(1)	The Minister, after considering the matters in section 37C , may make any changes, or no changes, to the proposed EEZ policy statement, as he or she thinks fit.							
(2)	The Minister may withdraw all or part of a proposed EEZ policy statement at any time before the statement is approved under subsection (4) .							
(3)	The Minister must notify the persons mentioned in section 37B(a) of any withdrawal under subsection (2) , including the reasons for the withdrawal.							
(4)			nor-General may, by Order in Council, on the recommendation of c, approve an EEZ policy statement.					
(5)		Ministe approv	er must, as soon as practicable after an EEZ policy statement has ved,—	35				
	(a)	issue	the statement by notice in the <i>Gazette</i> ; and					

	(b)	publicly notify the statement; and						
	(c)	send a copy of the statement to the EPA; and						
	(d)	provide every person who made a submission on the proposal with a copy of the approved statement.						
37E	Cha	nges to, or review or revocation of, EEZ policy statements	5					
(1)	The Minister may review, change, or revoke an EEZ policy statement in accordance with sections 37B to 37D as if the review, change, or revocation were a proposed EEZ policy statement.							
(2)	with	ite subsection (1) , the Minister may amend an EEZ policy statement out regard to sections 37B to 37D if the amendment is of minor effect rects a minor error.	10					
(3)		n an EEZ policy statement is reviewed, the Minister must give notice of eview in the <i>Gazette</i> .						
(4)	If an	EEZ policy statement has been changed, the Minister must—						
	(a)	issue the revised statement by notice in the Gazette; and	15					
	(b)	send a copy of the revised statement to the EPA; and						
	(c)	provide every person who made a submission on the proposal with a copy of the approved statement.						
(5)		n an EEZ policy statement is revoked, the Minister must notify the revoca- by notice in the <i>Gazette</i> .	20					
37F	Inco	rporation of material by reference in EEZ policy statements						
		EZ policy statement may incorporate material by reference under sections to 157.						
37G	FF7							
	LLL	policy statement is disallowable instrument						
	An E	policy statement is disallowable instrument EEZ policy statement is a disallowable instrument, but not a legislative in- nent, for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012 and must be presented to louse of Representatives under section 41 of that Act.	25					
	An E	EEZ policy statement is a disallowable instrument, but not a legislative innent, for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012 and must be presented to	25					
38	An E strun the H	EEZ policy statement is a disallowable instrument, but not a legislative innent, for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012 and must be presented to louse of Representatives under section 41 of that Act.	25					
38 (1)	An E strum the E App Any conse	EEZ policy statement is a disallowable instrument, but not a legislative innent, for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012 and must be presented to louse of Representatives under section 41 of that Act. Subpart 2A—Applying for marine consents	25					
	An E strum the E App Any considiscr	EEZ policy statement is a disallowable instrument, but not a legislative innent, for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012 and must be presented to Jouse of Representatives under section 41 of that Act. Subpart 2A—Applying for marine consents lication for marine consent person may apply to the Environmental Protection Authority for a marine cent, marine discharge consent, or a marine dumping consent to undertake a						
(1)	An E strum the E App Any considiscr	EEZ policy statement is a disallowable instrument, but not a legislative innent, for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012 and must be presented to louse of Representatives under section 41 of that Act. Subpart 2A—Applying for marine consents lication for marine consent person may apply to the Environmental Protection Authority for a marine ent, marine discharge consent, or a marine dumping consent to undertake a etionary activity.						
(1)	An Estrum the E	DEZ policy statement is a disallowable instrument, but not a legislative innent, for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012 and must be presented to Jouse of Representatives under section 41 of that Act. Subpart 2A—Applying for marine consents lication for marine consent person may apply to the Environmental Protection Authority for a marine ent, marine discharge consent, or a marine dumping consent to undertake a etionary activity. pplication must—						

	(c)	and any requirements prescribed in regulations; and	
	(d)	if the application relates to an activity referred to in section 20(2)(a), (b), or (c), include a description in general terms of how and when it is proposed that the structure, submarine pipeline, or submarine cable will be dealt with at the end of its life.	5
(3)	with petro	e application relates to an activity that is to be undertaken in connection the decommissioning of an offshore installation used in connection with leum production, or a structure, submarine pipeline, or submarine cable tiated with such an installation,—	10
	(a)	the application must include an accepted decommissioning plan that covers the activity; and	
	(b)	the proposed carrying out of the activity must be in accordance with that plan.	
39	Impa	act assessment	15
(1)	An ir	mpact assessment must—	
	(a)	describe the activity (or activities) for which consent is sought; and	
	(b)	describe the current state of the area where it is proposed that the activity will be undertaken and the environment surrounding the area; and	
	(c)	identify persons whose existing interests are likely to be adversely affected by the activity; and	20
	(d)	identify the effects of the activity on the environment and existing interests (including cumulative effects and effects that may occur in New Zealand or in the sea above or beyond the continental shelf beyond the outer limits of the exclusive economic zone); and	25
	(e)	identify the effects of the activity on the biological diversity and integrity of marine species, ecosystems, and processes; and	
	(f)	identify the effects of the activity on rare and vulnerable ecosystems and habitats of threatened species; and	
	(g)	describe any consultation undertaken with persons described in paragraph (c) and specify those persons who have given written approval to the activity; and	30
	(h)	include copies of any written approvals to the activity; and	
	(i)	specify any possible alternative locations for, or methods for undertaking, the activity that may avoid, remedy, or mitigate any adverse effects; and	35
	(j)	specify the measures that could be taken to avoid, remedy, or mitigate the adverse effects identified (including measures that the applicant intends to take).	

(2)	An i	pact assessment must also,—					
	(a)	if it relates to an application for a marine discharge consent, describe the effects of the activity on human health:	ne				
	(b)	if it relates to an application for a marine dumping consent,—					
		(i) describe the effects of the activity on human health; and	5				
		(ii) specify any practical opportunities to reuse, recycle, or treat the waste or other matter:	ne				
	(c)	if it relates to any other application, describe the effects on human healthat may arise from the effects of the activity on the environment.	th				
(3)		pact assessment must contain the information required under subsection (1) and (2) in—	10				
	(a)	such detail as corresponds to the scale and significance of the effects th the activity may have on the environment and existing interests; and	at				
	(b)	sufficient detail to enable the Environmental Protection Authority ar persons whose existing interests are or may be affected to understand the nature of the activity and its effects on the environment and existing interests.	ne 15				
(4)	the I	The impact assessment complies with subsections (1)(c) to (f) and (2) if the Environmental Protection Authority is satisfied that the applicant has made a reasonable effort to identify the matters described in those provisions.					
(5)	The measures that must be specified under subsection (1)(j) include any measures required by another marine management regime and any measures required by or under the Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 that may have the effect of avoiding, remedying, or mitigating the adverse effects of the activity on the environment or existing interests.						
41	Envi	onmental Protection Authority must determine if application lete					
		nvironmental Protection Authority must, within 20 working days after reg an application, determine whether the application complies with sec 88 .					
42		onmental Protection Authority may commission independent review pact assessment	V				
(1)	view	nvironmental Protection Authority may commission an independent report of an impact assessment for the purpose of determining whether the inspectation seems with section 39.					
(2)	If the	EPA intends to commission a review, it must—					
	(a)	advise the applicant in writing; and					
	(b)	include, with that advice, the EPA's reasons for wanting to commission review.	a				

(3)		applicant may object under section 101 to a decision by the EPA to comion a review.				
(4)		EPA must, as soon as is reasonably practicable after receiving the results review, send a copy of the results to the applicant.				
43		ironmental Protection Authority may ask applicant to complete mplete application	5			
(1)	not on the H	e Environmental Protection Authority considers that an application does comply with section 38 (including because the impact assessment does comply with section 39 or any requirements prescribed in regulations), EPA may, in writing, request further information from an applicant to com- an application.	10			
(2)		pplicant must, within 5 working days after receiving a request under sub-				
		tion (1),—				
	(a)	provide the information; or				
	(b)	write to the EPA telling it that the applicant refuses to provide the information.	15			
(3)	The	EPA must continue to process an application even if the applicant—				
	(a)	does not respond to the request; or				
	(b)	refuses to provide the information.				
44	Envi	ronmental Protection Authority must return incomplete application	20			
(1)	The EPA must, within 20 working days after an incomplete application is received by the EPA,—					
	(a)	return the incomplete application; and				
	(b)	give the applicant a written explanation for its finding that the application is incomplete.	25			
(2)		Eter the EPA returns an application as incomplete, the application is sent to EPA again, the application must be treated as a new application.				
(3)	The (1) .	applicant may object under section 101 to a decision under subsection				
45	Join	t processing and decision making on related applications	30			
(1)		section applies if—				
	(a)	the Environmental Protection Authority receives more than 1 application for a marine consent in relation to the same proposal (related applications); and				
	(b)	at least 1 of the related applications must be publicly notified under section 47(1)(b)(i) ; and	35			
	(c)	the EPA considers that—				

(2)

(3)

(4)

46

- (i) the related applications should be heard (if more than 1 are to be heard) at the same time and place; or decisions on the related applications should be made on the same (ii) The EPA may extend a time period that applies to the processing of the related 5 applications in order to ensure that— (a) they are heard (if more than 1 are to be heard) at the same time and place: decisions on the related applications are made on the same date. (b) However, the EPA may not extend the time period beyond the latest date that 10 applies to any of the related applications. If any of the related applications is a publicly notifiable application for a section 20 activity, the EPA must delegate its functions under sections 51 to 75 in relation to any other applications to the board of inquiry to allow all of the applications to be determined together unless the applicant requests otherwise. 15 Subpart 2B—Disclosure and notification Copy of application for non-notified activity If the Environmental Protection Authority is satisfied that an application for a marine consent for a non-notified activity is complete, the EPAmust serve a copy of the application on any of the following that the 20 EPA considers may be affected by the application: (i) iwi authorities: (ii) customary marine title groups: protected customary rights groups: may serve a copy of the application on the following if the EPA con-25 (b) siders it appropriate in the circumstances:
 - for which consent is sought:

 (ii) Maritime New Zealand:
 - (iii) other persons that the EPA considers have existing interests that may be affected by the application:

Ministers with responsibilities that may be affected by the activity

30

(iv) regional councils whose regions may be affected by the application.

47 Copy of application for publicly notified activity

(1) If the Environmental Protection Authority is satisfied that an application for a marine consent for a publicly notifiable activity is complete, it must,—

	(a)	ister	in wri	cation is for a section 20 activity, immediately notify the Minting that an application has been made (to allow a board of the appointed under section 53); and	
	(b)	with	in 20 w	vorking days,—	
		(i)	give	public notice of the application; and	5
		(ii)	serve	e a copy of the notice on—	
			(A)	every other Minister with responsibilities that may be affected by the activity for which consent is sought:	
			(B)	Maritime New Zealand:	
			(C)	iwi authorities that the EPA considers may be affected by the application:	10
			(D)	customary marine title groups that the EPA considers may be affected by the application:	
			(E)	protected customary rights groups that the EPA considers may be affected by the application:	15
			(F)	other persons that the EPA considers have existing interests that may be affected by the application:	
			(G)	regional councils whose regions may be affected by the application.	
(2)	The	notice	under	subsection (1)(b)(i) must—	20
	(a)	be in	the pr	rescribed form; and	
	(b)	give	a sumi	mary of the application for consent; and	
	(c)	spec	ify who	ere the application is available for inspection.	
48	Mak	ing of	submi	issions	
(1)	-	-	-	make a submission to the Environmental Protection Authority on for a marine consent.	25
(2)	A su	bmissi	ion mus	st be in the prescribed form.	
(3)				provide a copy of the submission to the applicant as soon as cticable after serving it on the EPA.	
49	Time	e limit	for su	bmissions	30
				t be made not later than 30 working days after public notification under section 47 .	
50	Adv	ising a	pplica	nts of submissions	
	As se Envi	oon as ronme	is reas	sonably practicable after the closing date for submissions, the rotection Authority must give the applicant a list of all the t has received in relation to the relevant application.	35

Subpart 2C—Considering applications

Non-notified activities

-1	TT ·	•	4 6	1	c	4 * 6 * 1	4 • • 4 •
51	Hearings	in resn	ect ot an	plications	tor non	-notitied	activities
JI	11cai ings	III I CSD	cct or ap	piications	101 11011	mounica	activities

(1) The Environmental Protection Authority must conduct a hearing on an application for a marine consent for a non-notified activity if the applicant requests a hearing.

5

10

20

25

30

(2) The EPA may conduct a hearing, even if the applicant does not request one, if the EPA considers it necessary or desirable.

(3) **Schedule 2** applies to hearings of applications for marine consents for non-notified activities.

Publicly notifiable activities other than section 20 activities

52 Hearings in respect of applications for publicly notifiable activities other than section 20 activities

- (1) If an application is for a publicly notifiable activity other than a section 20 activity, the Environmental Protection Authority must conduct a hearing on an application if the applicant or a submitter requests a hearing.
- (2) The EPA may conduct a hearing, even if neither the applicant nor any submitter requests one, if the EPA considers it necessary or desirable.
- (3) **Schedule 3** applies to hearings under this section.

Publicly notifiable section 20 activities

Minister must appoint boards of inquiry for applications for publicly notifiable section 20 activities

- (1) As soon as practicable on being notified in accordance with **section 47(1)(a)**, the Minister must appoint a board of inquiry to—
 - (a) decide an application for a section 20 activity; and
 - (b) complete the performance or exercise of the functions, duties, and powers prescribed in this Part, in relation to the application (including any appeals in relation to the matter that are filed in any court).
- (2) The Minister may, as the Minister sees fit, set terms of reference about administrative matters relating to the inquiry.
- (3) The Minister must appoint 3 to 5 suitable persons to be members of the board of inquiry.
- (4) The Minister may, if he or she considers it appropriate.—
 - (a) invite the EPA to nominate persons to be members of the board:
 - (b) appoint a member of the EPA board to be a member of the board of 35 inquiry.

(5)	board	pointing a person to the board, the Minister must consider the need for the I to have available to it from its members, knowledge, skill, and experirelating to—	
	(a)	this Act; and	
	(b)	the activity or type of activities that the board will be considering; and	5
	(c)	tikanga Māori; and	
	(d)	legal expertise; and	
	(e)	relevant technical expertise.	
(6)	The I	Minister must appoint a chairperson.	
(7)		chairperson may (but need not) be a current, former, or retired Environ-Court Judge or a retired High Court Judge.	10
(8)		edule 4 applies to boards of inquiry and applications considered by a d of inquiry.	
(9)	omits	ember of a board of inquiry is not liable for anything the member does, or a to do, in good faith in performing or exercising the functions, duties, and ers of the board.	15
		Provisions that apply to all applications	
54	Oblig	gation to deal with application promptly	
(1)		arine consent authority must deal with any application for a marine consent comptly as is reasonable in the circumstances.	20
(2)	tion no m	ction 38(3) applies to the application (and it is not returned under sec-44), the Environmental Protection Authority must decide the application ore than 9 months after it determines under section 41 that the applicas complete.	
55	Requ	est for further information	25
(1)		urine consent authority may request that an applicant provide further infor- on relating to an application.	
(2)	A rec	juest may be made at any reasonable time—	
	(a)	before a hearing under section 51 or 52 or Schedule 4; or	
	(b)	if no hearing is held, before the marine consent authority makes a decision on the application.	30
(3)		quest must be in writing and set out the marine consent authority's reasons equesting further information.	
(4)	tion,	marine consent authority must, in the case of a publicly notified applica- provide a copy of the information provided by the applicant to every sub- r as soon as practicable after the later of—	35
	(a)	the date on which it receives the information; and	

	(b)	the date on which the submitter makes a submission.					
56	Resp	oonse to request					
(1)	An applicant who receives a request under section 55(1) must, within 5 working days after the date of the request,—						
	(a)	provide the information; or	5				
	(b)	write to the marine consent authority telling it that the applicant agrees to provide the information; or					
	(c)	write to the marine consent authority telling it that the applicant refuses to provide the information.					
(2)		r the marine consent authority receives the applicant's letter under sub-tion (1)(b) , the marine consent authority must—	10				
	(a)	set a reasonable time within which the applicant must provide the information; and					
	(b)	write to the applicant advising the applicant of the date by which the applicant must provide the information.	15				
(3)	The marine consent authority must consider the application under section 59 even if the applicant—						
	(a)	does not respond to the request; or					
	(b)	agrees to provide the information under subsection (1)(b) but does not do so; or					
	(c)	refuses to provide the information under subsection (1)(c) .					
57	Mar	ine consent authority may obtain advice or information					
(1)	A marine consent authority may—						
	(a)	(a) commission an independent review of an impact assessment (if no review was commissioned under section 42):					
	(b)	seek advice from the Māori Advisory Committee on any matter related to the application:					
	(c)	seek advice or information from any person on any aspect of—					
		(i) an application for a marine consent; or					
		(ii) the activity to which an application relates:	30				
	(d)	commission any person to provide a report on any aspect of—					
		(i) an application for a marine consent; or					
		(ii) the activity to which an application relates.					
(2)	The	marine consent authority must advise an applicant in writing—					
	(a)	if it intends to commission a review or report or seek advice or information; and	35				

	(b) of the reasons for wanting to do so.	
(3)	Subsection (1) applies at any reasonable time—	
	(a) before a hearing is held; or	
	(b) if no hearing is to be held, before a decision on the application is made.	
(4)	An applicant may object under section 101 to a decision to commission a review or a report, or to seek advice or information.	5
(5)	The marine consent authority must, as soon as is reasonably practicable after receiving any advice or report under this section, notify the applicant and every submitter that the advice or report is available at the EPA's office.	
58	Meetings and mediation to resolve matters before decision	10
(1)	The marine consent authority may request that an applicant for a marine consent and 1 or more submitters—	
	(a) meet to discuss any matters in dispute in relation to the application for consent; or	
	(b) enter mediation to resolve any matters in dispute in relation to the application for consent.	15
(2)	The person who conducts the meeting or mediation must report on the outcome of the meeting or mediation to—	
	(a) the marine consent authority; and	
	(b) the persons who were at the meeting or mediation.	20
(3)	The report must set out—	
	(a) the matters that were agreed at the meeting or mediation; and	
	(b) the matters that were not resolved.	
(4)	The report must not include anything communicated or made available on a without prejudice basis at the meeting or during the mediation.	25
189	Cross-heading above section 59 replaced	
	Replace the cross-heading above section 59 with:	
	Subpart 2D—Decisions	
190	Section 59 amended (Environmental Protection Authority's consideration of application)	30
(1)	In the heading to section 59, replace "Environmental Protection Authority's" with "Marine consent authority's".	
(2)	In section 59(1), replace "the Environmental Protection Authority" with "a marine consent authority"	

consent authority".

(3)

In section 59(2), replace "The EPA" with "If the application relates to a section

20 activity (other than an activity referred to in section 20(2)(ba)), a marine

(3A)	In section 59(2)(k), after "regulations", insert "(other than EEZ policy statements)".								
(3B)	In see	In section 59(2)(1), after "law", insert "(other than EEZ policy statements)".							
(4)		In section 59(2)(m), (3), (4), (5), and (6), replace "EPA" with "marine consent authority" in each place.							
(5)	After	section 59(2), insert:							
(2A)	If the	application is for a marine discharge consent, the EPA must take into act—	10						
	(a)	the matters described in subsection (2), except paragraph (c); and							
	(b)	the effects on human health of the discharge of harmful substances if consent is granted.							
(2B)		e application is for a marine dumping consent or relates to an activity red to in section 20(2)(ba) , the EPA must take into account—	15						
	(a)	the matters described in subsection (2), except paragraphs (c), (f), (g), and (i); and							
	(b)	the effects on human health of the dumping of waste or other matter, or the abandonment of the pipeline, if consent is granted; and	20						
	(c)	any alternative methods of disposal of the waste, other matter, or pipeline that could be used; and							
	(d)	whether there are practical opportunities to reuse, recycle, or treat the waste, other matter, or pipeline.							
(6)	Before section 59(3)(a), insert:								
	(aa)	EEZ policy statements; and							
(7)	Replace section 59(3)(b) with:								
	(b)	any advice, reports, or information sought under this Part and received in relation to the application; and							
191	Section 60 amended (Matters to be considered in deciding extent of adverse effects on existing interests)								
		In section 60, replace "the Environmental Protection Authority" with "a marine consent authority".							
192	Secti	on 61 amended (Information principles)							
(1)		ection 61(1), replace "the Environmental Protection Authority" with "a ne consent authority".	35						
(2)	In see	ction 61(2) and (3), replace "EPA" with "marine consent authority".							

(3)	Repla	ace sec	etion 61(4) with:				
(4)	Subs	ection	(3) does not—				
	(a)	apply	y to an application for—				
		(i)	a marine dumping consent; or				
		(ii)	a marine discharge consent; or	5			
		(iii)	a marine consent in relation to an activity referred to in section 20(2)(ba) ; or				
	(b)	limit	section 63 or 64.				
193	Secti	on 62	amended (Decisions on applications for marine consents)				
(1)	In se	ction 6	52(1), replace "the EPA" with "a marine consent authority".	10			
(2)	After	section	on 62(1), insert:				
(1A)	dump		he marine consent authority must refuse an application for a marine onsent or an application relating to an activity referred to in section if—				
	(a)		marine consent authority considers that the waste, other matter, or line may be reused, recycled, or treated without—	15			
		(i)	more than minor adverse effects on human health or the environment; or				
		(ii)	imposing costs on the applicant that are unreasonable in the circumstances; or	20			
	(b)	not p	waste, other matter, or pipeline is identified in such a way that it is possible to assess the potential effects of dumping or abandoning it uman health or the environment; or				
	(c) the marine consent authority considers that dumping the waste or other matter or abandoning the pipeline is not the best approach to its disposal in the circumstances.						
(3)	In se	ction 6	52(2) and (3), replace "EPA" with "marine consent authority".				
194	Secti	on 63	amended (Conditions of marine consents)				
(1)	In se	ction	63(1), replace "The Environmental Protection Authority" with "A sent authority".	30			
(2)	In section 63(2), (3), and (4), replace "EPA" with "marine consent authority".						
(3)	In se	ction 6	53(2)(b), after "that", insert ", if section 64 applies,".				
195	Secti	on 64	amended (Adaptive management approach)				
(1)			ion 64(1), insert:				
(1AA) Thi	s section	on does not apply to—	35			
	(a)	a ma	rine dumping consent; or				

(b)

a marine discharge consent; or

	(c) a marine consent in relation to an activity referred to in section 20(2)(ba).					
(2)	In section 64(1), replace "The Environmental Protection Authority" with "A marine consent authority".	5				
(3)	In section 64(3), replace "the EPA" with "a marine consent authority".					
196	Section 65 amended (Bonds)					
(1)	In section 65(1), replace "the Environmental Protection Authority" with "a marine consent authority".					
(2)	In section 65(2)(d), (e), and (f), and (3), replace "EPA" with "marine consent authority" in each place.	10				
196A	Section 68 amended (Time limits for Environmental Protection Authority's decision)					
	In section 68(1)(b), replace "section 47" with "section 49".					
197	Section 69 replaced (Decision of Environmental Protection Authority to be in writing)	15				
	Replace section 69 with:					
69	Decision of marine consent authority to be in writing					
	Every decision of a marine consent authority on an application for a marine consent must—	20				
	(a) be in writing; and					
	(b) include the reasons for the decision.					
198	Section 70 amended (Notification of Environmental Protection Authority's decision)					
(1)	In the heading to section 70, replace "Environmental Protection Authority's" with "marine consent authority's".	25				
(2)	In section 70(1), replace "Environmental Protection Authority" with "marine consent authority".					
(3)	In section 70(1)(a)(iv) and (3), replace "EPA" with "marine consent authority".					
199	New subpart 2E heading in Part 3A inserted	30				
	Above section 71, insert:					
	Subpart 2E—Consents					

200	Section	73	amended	Duration	of	marine consent)

- (1) In section 73(1), after "marine consent", insert "(other than a marine discharge consent or a marine dumping consent)".
- (2) After section 73(1), insert:
- (1A) The duration of a marine discharge consent or a marine dumping consent is—
 - (a) the term specified in the consent, which must not be more than 35 years; or
 - (b) if no term is specified, 5 years after the date of the granting of the consent.
- (3) In section 73(2), replace "the Environmental Protection Authority" with "a 10 marine consent authority".

202 Section 74 amended (Exercise of marine consent while applying for new consent)

- (1) In section 74(2)(d), replace "the EPA" with "a marine consent authority".
- (2) In section 74(3)(b), replace "declined" with "refused".

15

5

203 New section 75A and cross-heading inserted

After section 75, insert:

EPA responsibility for marine consents granted by board of inquiry

75A Residual powers of EPA

- (1) This section applies to a marine consent that has been granted by a board of inquiry under section 62(1)(a).
- (2) The EPA has all the functions, duties, and powers in relation to the marine consent as if it had granted the consent itself.

203A Section 78 amended (Public notice of review)

In section 78(2), replace "section 45(1)" with "**section 47(1)(b)(ii)**".

203B Section 78A amended (Copy of notice of review of non-notified activity) In section 78A, replace "section 44A(a)" with "section 46(a)".

203C Section 79 amended (Further information, advice, submissions, and hearing)

- (1) In section 79(1), replace "Sections 42 to 44 and 45 to 58" with "**Sections 45** 30 **to 57** (other than **sections 46, 51, 53, and 54**)".
- (2) In section 79(1A), replace "Sections 42 to 44B (and the Schedule)" with "Sections 46, 51, and 55 to 57".
- (3) In section 79(2), replace "section 44(1)(a)" with "section 57(1)(a)".

204 New cross-heading above section 84 inserted

Above section 84, insert:

In section 84,—

11.	, •	-	•	,
Minor	corrections	Ot.	marine	consents
1,10,00,	CO. I CCIIOII	\sim		CO.IIS C.IIIS

205	Section 84 amended	(Minor corrections of	i marine consents)	

- (a) replace "The EPA" with "A marine consent authority":
- (b) replace "minor mistakes or defects" with "minor omissions, errors, or other defects".

205A Section 87 amended (Change or cancellation of consent conditions on application by consent holder)

In section 87(3)(a), replace "section 45" with "section 47".

206 Subpart 2A of Part 3 repealed

Repeal subpart 2A of Part 3.

207 Section 88 amended (Interpretation)

- (1) In section 88, repeal the definitions of **consent authority** and **relevant consent** 15 **authority**.
- (2) In section 88, insert in their appropriate alphabetical order:

processing, in relation to an application, means processing—

- (a) before a hearing is held; or
- (b) if no hearing is held, before a decision is made on the application

relevant resource consent authority means—

- (a) the resource consent authority responsible for a district or region in which part of a cross-boundary activity is or is intended to be undertaken; or
- (b) the Minister of Conservation, in relation to the coastal marine areas of the Kermadec Islands, the Snares Islands, the Bounty Islands, the Antipodes Islands, the Auckland Islands, Campbell Island, and the islands adjacent to Campbell Island

resource consent authority means a consent authority as that term is defined in section 2(1) of the Resource Management Act 1991

208 Section 91 amended (Joint application for consent for cross-boundary activity)

Replace section 91(1) and (2) with:

(1) If a person makes a joint application for consent, the joint application must be sent to—

35

5

10

20

25

	(a)	the relevant resource consent authority; and					
	(b)	the Environmental Protection Authority.					
209		on 92 amended (Separate applications for consents for cross- dary activity)					
	In se	ction 92, replace "Subpart 2 applies" with "Subparts 2A to 2D apply".	5				
210		on 93 amended (Environmental Protection Authority may require application)					
(1)	After	section 93(1), insert:					
(1A)	However, the EPA cannot make a decision under subsection (1) if the application for a marine consent has been referred to a board of inquiry.						
(2)	In section 93(3)(a), replace "relevant consent authority" with "relevant resource consent authority".						
(3)		ction 93(3)(b), replace "as incomplete under section 41" with "under sec-44 as if it were incomplete".					
211	Secti	on 94 amended (Decision to separate joint application for consent)	15				
(1)	Replace the heading to section 94 with "Joint processing must cease when application for resource consent referred to Environment Court".						
(2)	Repe	al section 94(1) to (3).					
(3)	In se	ction 94(7), replace "subpart 2" with "subpart 2A".					
212		section 94A inserted (Environmental Protection Authority may le to separate joint application)	20				
	After	section 94, insert:					
94A		ronmental Protection Authority may decide to separate joint ication					
(1)	The Environmental Protection Authority may decide that the application for a resource consent and the application for a marine consent that comprise the joint application must cease to be processed as a joint application and continue to be processed separately.						
(2)		ever, the EPA cannot make a decision under subsection (1) if the joint cation for consent has been referred to a board of inquiry.	30				
(3)	Subs	section (1) applies only if—					
	(a)	the EPA and the relevant resource consent authority agree that the applications are sufficiently unrelated that a joint process is not necessary; or					
	(b)	one application must be publicly notified, but not the other; or					
	(c)	a hearing is required for one application, but not the other; or	35				

	(d)	the joint processing of the applications for resource consent and marine consent that comprise the joint application for consent is not administratively efficient.	
(4)	In an	y case described in subsection (1) ,—	
	(a)	the relevant resource consent authority must resume processing the application for resource consent under the Resource Management Act 1991; and	5
	(b)	the EPA must resume processing the application for a marine consent under subpart 2A .	
213	proc		10
	Repla	ace section 96 with:	
96	Envi	ronmental Protection Authority to administer process	
(1)	cient	Environmental Protection Authority is responsible for ensuring the effiand co-ordinated processing of a joint application for consent for a cross-dary activity.	15
(2)		EPA must, in relation to the joint application, liaise with the relevant reeconsent authority to—	
	(a)	prepare a request for further information under section 55 so that, where practicable, the request covers all the information needed in relation to the whole cross-boundary activity; and	20
	(b)	ensure that, if both applications must be publicly notified, they are notified jointly by the EPA and the relevant resource consent authority; and	
	(c)	set a closing date for the making of submissions (if applicable); and	
	(d)	receive submissions and provide copies of them to the relevant resource consent authority; and	25
	(e)	provide general administrative services.	
(3)		EPA may extend a time period that applies to the processing of the applicator a marine consent in order to ensure that (where applicable)—	
	(a)	the application for a marine consent is notified jointly with the application for resource consent:	30
	(b)	submissions on the applications close on the same date.	
214	conse	on 98 replaced (Separate decisions on marine consent and resource ent applications) ace section 98 with:	35
98		rate decisions on marine consent and resource consent applications	
20 (1)	_	est to sections 00 and 994.	

that is part of a joint application for consent; and

the relevant marine consent authority must decide an application for a marine consent, a marine discharge consent, or marine dumping consent

(a)

	(b)	the relevant resource consent authority must decide the application for a resource consent that is part of a joint application.	5
(2)		ons 59 to 71 apply to an application for a marine consent, a marine dis- ge consent, or a marine dumping consent.	
(3)		ons 104 to 116 of the Resource Management Act 1991 apply to the applin for a resource consent.	
215		on 99 amended (Application for consent for nationally significant boundary activity referred to board of inquiry)	10
(1)	In se	ction 99(3), replace "sections 44B, 50 to 58, and 68" with " sections 51 52 ".	
(2)	In sec	ction 99(4)(a), replace "section 45(2)" with " section 47 ".	
(3)	In sec	ction 99(4)(a)(ii), replace "section 46" with "section 48".	15
(4)	In sec	ction 99(4)(b), replace "the EPA" with "a marine consent authority".	
216	natio	section 99A inserted (Joint applications for section 20 activity and for onally significant activity to be referred to board of inquiry) section 99, insert:	
99A		applications for section 20 activity and for nationally significant ity to be referred to board of inquiry	20
(1)	This	section applies to a joint application for consent if—	
	(a)	the application for a marine consent is for a section 20 activity; and	
	(b)	the application for a resource consent that is or is part of a proposal of national significance is to be referred to a board of inquiry under section 142(2)(a) or 147(1)(a) of the Resource Management Act 1991.	25
(2)		responsible Ministers must, as soon as practicable after being notified in dance with section 47(1)(a) , appoint a board of inquiry to—	
	(a)	decide the joint application; and	
	(1.)	perform or exercise the functions, duties, and powers of a marine con-	30
	(b)	sent authority, prescribed in subparts 2C to 2E , in relation to the application (including any appeals in relation to the matter that are filed in any court).	
(3)	The 1	plication (including any appeals in relation to the matter that are filed in	35
(3) (4)	The rof the	plication (including any appeals in relation to the matter that are filed in any court). responsible Ministers must appoint 3 to 5 suitable persons to be members	35

(5)			ng a person to the board, the responsible Ministers must consider the board to have available to it, from its members,—	
	(a)	know	rledge, skill, and experience relating to—	
		(i)	this Act and the Resource Management Act 1991; and	
		(ii)	the matter or type of matter that the board will be considering; and	5
		(iii)	tikanga Māori; and	
	(b)	legal	expertise; and	
	(c)		nical expertise in relation to the matter or type of matter that the d will be considering.	
(6)	The l	E PA m	ust—	10
	(a)	-	ess the application for a marine consent together with the associated cation for a resource consent; and	
	(b)	-	cly notify the application under section 47(1)(a) if the application ot already been notified; and	
	(c)	recei	ve submissions made under section 48 .	15
(7)	Sect	ions 5	51 to 53 do not apply to the application for a marine consent.	
(8)	-		Dissection (7) , clauses 1 to 4 and 14 of Schedule 4 do apply to ing of the application for a marine consent.	
(9)	proce	essing	ing provisions of the Resource Management Act 1991 apply to the of the application for a marine consent as if the application were associated application for a resource consent:	
	(a)	section	on 149L (which deals with the conduct of the inquiry):	
	(b)		on 149R (which requires the board to produce a final report), but ubsections (3)(e) and (f) and (4)(b) and (c):	
	(c)		on 149RA(1) and (2) (which allows the board to make minor corons to board decisions and resource consents):	25
	(d)		on 149S (which allows the Minister for the Environment to extend me by which the board must report), but not subsection (4)(b):	
	(e)	quest	on 149V (which provides for appeals against decisions to be on tions of law only) as if the reference in that section to section $L(4)(a)$ to (f) were a reference to section $149R(4)(a)$, (d) , (e) , and (f) .	
(10)	In thi	is secti	on, responsible Ministers means—	
	(a)	the M	finister; and	
	(b)		Minister for the time being responsible for the administration of the urce Management Act 1991.	35

217 New subpart 4 of new Part 3A inserted

After section 100, insert:

10

25

30

35

Subpart 4—Decommissioning plans

100A Submitting decommissioning plan for acceptance

- (1) The owner or operator of an offshore installation used in connection with petroleum production, or a structure, submarine pipeline, or submarine cable associated with such an installation, may submit a decommissioning plan to the Environmental Protection Authority for acceptance.
- (2) The decommissioning plan must—
 - (a) identify the offshore installations, structures, submarine pipelines, and submarine cables that are to be decommissioned; and
 - (b) fully describe how-and when they are to be decommissioned; and
 - (c) if it is a revised decommissioning plan referred to in **section 100C**, identify the changes from the accepted decommissioning plan that it is intended to replace; and
 - (d) include any other information required by the regulations.
- (3) The regulations may elaborate on what information is required to be included in the plan under **subsection (2)(a) to (c)**.

100B Assessment and acceptance of decommissioning plan

- (1) When a decommissioning plan is submitted, the Environmental Protection Authority must—
 - (a) deal with the plan in accordance with the process prescribed by the regulations; and
 - (b) assess the plan against the criteria prescribed by the regulations.
- (2) Having assessed the plan, the EPA must,—
 - (a) if it is satisfied that the plan meets those criteria, accept the plan as the accepted decommissioning plan for the installations, structures, pipelines, and cables to which it relates; or
 - (b) otherwise, refuse to accept the plan.
- (3) To avoid doubt, the EPA may refuse to accept a plan if it considers that it does not have adequate information to determine whether it meets the criteria.
- (4) The EPA must give to the owner or operator—
 - (a) written notice of its decision under **subsection (2)**; and
 - (b) if it refuses to accept the plan, written reasons for that decision.

100C Amendment of accepted decommissioning plan

(1) If the owner or operator of an offshore installation, structure, submarine pipeline, or submarine cable wishes to amend the accepted decommissioning plan (the **current plan**), it may submit a revised decommissioning plan to the Environmental Protection Authority under **section 100A**.

(2)	If the	EPA a	accepts the revised plan under section 100B(2)(a),—	
	(a)	the cu	urrent plan ceases to be the accepted decommissioning plan; and	
	(b)	the r	evised plan becomes the accepted decommissioning plan in its	
100D	Requ	ireme	ent for public consultation	5
(1)	consu		s made for the purposes of section 100B must provide for public in relation to a decommissioning plan that has been submitted for	
(2)			n relation to a revised decommissioning plan referred to in section egulations may provide for either or both of the following:	10
	(a)	-	public consultation is required only in relation to the changes from arrent plan (as defined in section 100C) to the revised plan:	
	(b)	fect o	public consultation is not required if the EPA is satisfied that the ef- on the environment and existing interests of implementing the re- decommissioning plan would not be materially different from, or d be less than, the effect of implementing the current plan.	15
(3)	_		are to be regarded as providing for public consultation in relanifithe regulations—	
	(a)	requi	re the EPA to publicly notify the plan; and	
	(b)		any person who wishes to make a submission about the plan a nable opportunity to do so; and	20
	(c)	-	re the owner or operator of the offshore installation, structure, sub- ne pipeline, or submarine cable to consider each submission and r—	
		(i)	amend the plan in response to the submission; or	25
		(ii)	explain to the EPA why it does not propose to amend the plan in response to the submission.	
218	_		heading in Part 4 replaced place the subpart 1 heading with:	
	Subpa	art 1–	—Objections to decisions of marine consent authority	30
219			amended (Right of objection to Environmental Protection against certain decisions)	
(1)			tion 101(1) with:	
(1)	_	rity—	at for a marine consent may object to a decision of a marine consent	35
	(a)	under	r section 41 that an application is incomplete; or	

under section 42 to commission a review; or

(b)

	(c)	under section 57 to commission a review or seek advice.					
(2)	In se	ction 101(2),—					
	(a)	delete "under section 58(5)"; and					
	(b)	replace "the EPA" with "a marine consent authority".	5				
220	Secti	on 102 amended (Procedure for making or hearing objection)					
(1)		ection 102(1), replace "the Environmental Protection Authority" with "a ne consent authority".					
(2)	In se	ction 102(3), replace "EPA" with "marine consent authority".					
221	Secti	on 103 amended (Decision on objection)	10				
(1)	In section 103(1), replace "The Environmental Protection Authority" with "A marine consent authority".						
(2)	In se	ection 103(2), replace "EPA" with "marine consent authority" in each					
222	New	subpart 1A heading in Part 4 inserted	15				
	After	section 104, insert:					
S	ubpa	rt 1A—Appeals against Environmental Protection Authority decisions					
223		on 105 amended (Appeals on question of law) ction 105(1)(b), replace "decline" with "refuse".	20				
223A		ion 109 repealed (Representation at proceedings) al section 109.					
224		subparts 1B and 1C of Part 4 inserted section 113, insert:					
	Sul	opart 1B—Appeals against decisions of boards of inquiry	25				
		Appeal to High Court on question of law					
113A	App	eals on question of law					
(1)	may	applicant for a consent or any submitter on an application for a consent appeal to the High Court against the whole or a part of a decision of a d of inquiry to—	30				
	Court						
	(a)	grant an application for a consent; or					

	(c)	impose any conditions on a consent.				
(2)	An ap	peal lodged under this section may be only on a question of law.				
(3)	This section is in addition to the rights provided for in section 101.					
113B	Notic	e of appeal				
(1)	in We	opellant must file a notice of appeal with the Registrar of the High Court ellington within 15 working days after the date on which the appellant is ed of the decision of a board of inquiry.	5			
(2)		ppellant must also serve a copy of the notice of the appeal on the board of ry and the EPA within the time limit specified in subsection (1) .				
(3)	The n	otice of appeal must specify—	10			
	(a)	the decision or part of the decision appealed against; and				
	(b)	the error of law alleged by the appellant; and				
	(c)	the grounds of appeal with sufficient particularity for the court and other parties to understand them; and				
	(d)	the relief sought.	15			
(4)	The a	ppellant must serve a copy of the notice of appeal on—				
	(a)	the applicant or consent holder, if the appellant is not the applicant or consent holder; and				
	(b)	any submitter on the application for consent, or a change of the consent conditions, or a review of consent conditions.	20			
(5)		ppellant must comply with subsection (4) no later than 5 working days the appeal is filed.				
(6)	again	oard of inquiry must send a copy of the whole of the decision appealed st to the Registrar of the High Court as soon as is reasonably practicable receiving the notice of appeal.	25			
113C	Righ	t to appear and be heard on appeal				
(1)	subm	pplicant for, or holder of, the consent to which the appeal relates and any itters who wish to appear on an appeal to the High Court must give notice ention to appear to—				
	(a)	the appellant; and	30			
	(b)	the Registrar of the High Court; and				
	(c)	the Environmental Protection Authority; and				
	(d)	the board of inquiry.				
(2)		otice to appear must be served within 10 working days after the person is d with the notice of appeal.	35			

113D	Parti	es to appeal	
	The p	arties to an appeal before the High Court are—	
	(a)	the appellant; and	
	(b)	the board of inquiry whose decision is being appealed; and	
	(c)	the Environmental Protection Authority; and	5
	(d)	a person who gives notice of intention to appear under section 113C ; and	
	(e)	a person who becomes a party to an appeal under section 113E .	
113F	Dismi	issal of appeal	
	The H	ligh Court may dismiss an appeal if—	10
	(a)	the appellant does not appear at the hearing of the appeal; or	
	(b)	the appellant does not proceed with the appeal with due diligence and another party applies to the court to dismiss the appeal.	
113G	Date	of hearing	
(1)		peal is ready for hearing when the appellant notifies the Registrar of the Court that the notice of appeal has been served on all parties to the prongs.	15
(2)		egistrar must arrange a hearing date as soon as practicable after being nothat the notice of appeal has been served on all parties to the proceedings.	
113H	Appli	ication of High Court Rules	20
		ligh Court Rules apply if a procedural matter is not provided for by sec-113A to 113G .	
		Appeal to Supreme Court	
113I	Appe	al to Supreme Court	
(1)	Any p	party to an appeal under section 113D may apply to the Supreme Court ave to appeal a decision of the High Court under this subpart, but only on stion of law.	25
(2)	The S	upreme Court may—	
	(a)	grant leave; or	
	(b)	deny leave; or	30
	(c)	remit the appeal to the Court of Appeal.	
(3)	-	subsection (2)(c).	
(4)	-	oplication for leave for the purposes of subsection (1) must be filed no han 10 working days after the determination of the High Court.	35

Subpart 1C—Proceedings generally

113J	Representation	at pro	oceedings
------	----------------	--------	-----------

- (1) The following persons may be a party to any proceedings before the High Court under this Act:
 - (a) the Attorney-General, representing a relevant aspect of the public interest:
 - (b) the relevant resource consent authority in relation to proceedings affecting a cross-boundary activity to which **subpart 3 of Part 3A** applies.
- (2) A person described in **subsection (1)** may become a party to the proceedings by giving notice to the High Court and to all other parties within 15 working days after—
 - (a) the period for lodging a notice of appeal ends, if the proceedings are an appeal:
 - (b) the proceedings are commenced, in any other case.
- (3) The notice given under **subsection (2)** must state—
 - (a) the proceedings in which the person has an interest; and
 - (b) whether the person supports or opposes the proceedings and the reasons for that support or opposition; and
 - (c) if applicable, the grounds for seeking representation under **subsection** (1)(a); and
 - (d) an address for service.
- (4) A person who becomes a party to the proceedings under this section may appear and call evidence in accordance with **subsection (5)**.
- (5) Evidence must not be called under **subsection (4)** unless it is on matters within the scope of the appeal or other proceeding.
- (6) A person who becomes a party to the proceedings under this section may not oppose the withdrawal or abandonment of the proceedings unless the proceedings were brought by a person who made a submission in the previous proceedings on the same matter.

224A Section 134G amended (Other offences)

In section 134G(2)(b), replace "section 55" with "a provision of the Commissions of Inquiry Act 1908 as applied by clause 4 of Schedule 2, clause 5 of Schedule 3, or clause 9 of Schedule 4".

225 Section 137 amended (Limitation period)

In section 137(1) and (2), replace "6" with "12".

35

5

10

15

20

25

226	Sect	ion 141	amended (Power of entry for inspection)						
	Repl	Replace section 141(2) with:							
(2)	The	The power to enter and inspect allows the person to—							
	(a)	-	ect any item found in a place, vehicle, vessel, or structure entered in rdance with subsection (1):	5					
	(b)	take	a sample of any substance:						
	(c)	seize	anything that may be lawfully seized:						
	(d)	cond	uct examinations, tests, inquiries, and demonstrations:						
	(e)	requi	re the production of, and copy, any document or part of a document.						
227	Sect	ion 142	2 amended (Protection of the Crown and others)	10					
	Afte	After section 142(d), insert:							
	(e)	a boa	ard of inquiry appointed under section 53 , 99, or 99A .						
228	Sect	ion 14°	3 amended (Principles of cost recovery)						
220			43(2), replace "include" with "include (but are not limited to)".						
			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,						
230			8 amended (Service of documents)	15					
			etion 148(1) with:						
(1)		If a notice or other document is to be served on a person for the purposes of this Act,—							
	(a) it must, if the person has specified an electronic address as an address for service for the matter to which the document relates, be served by sending it to the electronic address; and								
	(b)		y, if paragraph (a) does not apply, be served by any of the follownethods:						
		(i)	delivering it personally to the person, except if the person is a Minister of the Crown:	25					
		(ii)	delivering it at the usual or last known place of residence or business of the person:						
		(iii)	sending it by pre-paid post addressed to the person at the usual or last known place of residence or business of the person:						
		(iv)	sending it to the usual or last known electronic address of the per-	30					

posting it to the post office box address that the person has speci-

leaving it at a document exchange for direction to the document exchange box number that the person has specified as an address

son:

for service:

fied as an address for service:

(v)

(vi)

(vii)	sending it to the fax number that the person has specified as an ad-
	dress for service.

New section 158BA inserted (EPA and WorkSafe to share information)

After section 158B, insert:

158BA EPA and WorkSafe to share information

in-

10

15

- (1) The Environmental Protection Authority may provide WorkSafe with any information that the EPA holds and that the EPA considers may assist WorkSafe in the performance of WorkSafe's functions under the WorkSafe New Zealand Act 2013.
- (2) WorkSafe may provide the EPA with any information that WorkSafe holds and that it considers may assist the EPA in the performance of the EPA's functions under this Act.
- (3) If any information provided by the EPA under **subsection (1)** is the subject of a direction made under section 158, that section continues to apply to the information and WorkSafe must comply with that section.

231A Section 161 amended (Existing petroleum activities that become discretionary)

- (1) In section 161(4), replace "Section 41" with "Section 44".
- (2) In section 161(5)(b)(ii) and (6), replace "section 41" with "section 44".
- 232 Section 162 amended (Existing petroleum mining activities involving structures or pipelines)

20

In section 162(2),—

- (a) after "subsection (3)", insert "where the activity has adverse effects on the environment or existing interests"; and
- (b) delete "on the environment or existing interests of an activity".

25

232A Section 163 amended (Other existing activities that become discretionary)

In section 163(3)(b)(ii) and (4), replace "section 41" with "section 44".

232B Section 164A amended (Dumping permits issued under Maritime Transport Act 1994)

In section 164A, delete "section 87F of".

30

232C Section 164B amended (Provisions of discharge management plans approved under Maritime Transport Act 1994 become marine discharge consents)

In section 164B(2), replace "section 87F" with "this Act".

232D	Section 166 amended (Planned petroleum activities that become discretionary)				
(1)	In section 166(4), replace "Section 41" with "Section 44".				
(2)	In section 166(5)(b)(ii) and (6), replace "section 41" with "section 44".				
233	New Schedule 1 inserted				
	Insert the Schedule 1 set out in Schedule 7A of this Act as the first schedule to appear after the last section of the principal Act.				
234	Schedule amended				
(1)	In the Schedule heading, after "Schedule", insert "2".				
(2)	In the Schedule heading, replace "s 44B" with "s 51(3)".				
235	New Schedules 3 and 4 inserted				
	After the Schedule (which is renamed by section 234 as Schedule 2), insert as Schedules 3 and 4 the schedules set out in Schedule 8 of this Act.				
236	Consequential amendment to Environmental Protection Authority Act 2011				
(1)	This section amends the Environmental Protection Authority Act 2011.				
(2)	In the heading to section 19, replace "Function" with "Functions".				
(3)	Replace section 19(1) with:				
(1)	The functions of the Māori Advisory Committee are—				
	(a) to provide advice and assistance to the EPA on matters relating to policy, process, and decisions of the EPA under an environmental Act or this Act; and				
	(b) to provide advice to a marine consent authority when the committee's advice is sought under section 57(1)(b) of the Exclusive Economic				

237 Consequential amendment to Maritime Transport Act 1994

Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012.

- (1) This section amends the Maritime Transport Act 1994.
- (2) In section 261(5)(b), delete "section 87F of".

Schedule 1 Amendments to Schedule 1 of Resource Management Act 1991

s 108

5

10

20

25

30

35

N	ew	clauses	1 A	and	1	В	
---	----	---------	------------	-----	---	---	--

In Schedule 1, after clause 1, insert:

1A Mana Whakahono a Rohe to be complied with

- (1) A proposed policy statement or plan must be prepared in accordance with any applicable Mana Whakahono a Rohe.
- (2) A local authority may comply with clause 3(1)(d) in any particular case by consulting relevant iwi authorities about a proposed policy statement or plan in accordance with a Mana Whakahono a Rohe.

1B Relationship with iwi participation legislation

Nothing in this schedule limits any relevant iwi participation legislation or agreement under that legislation.

Clause 4 15

In Schedule 1, replace clause 4(1) and (2) with:

- (1) This clause applies to a new district plan or review of a district plan under section 79(1).
- (1A) The territorial authority must give written notice to any requiring authority that has a designation that has not lapsed in the relevant part of the district plan.
- (1B) The purpose of the notice is to invite those requiring authorities to give written notice to the territorial authority stating whether the requiring authority requires the designation to be included, with or without modification, in the proposed plan.
- (1C) **Subclause (1A)** applies before the territorial authority—
 - (a) notifies the district plan, change, or variation under clause 5; or
 - (b) notifies a decision to use a collaborative planning process under **clause 38**; or
 - (c) applies to the Minister for a direction under **section 80C** to enter the streamlined planning process.
- (1D) The written notice must—
 - (a) give the requiring authority at least 30 working days to respond; and
 - (b) state which planning process under this schedule it proposes to use or request; and
 - (c) specify the final date for the requiring authority to provide its written notice; and

10

15

20

25

Clause 4—continued

- (d) advise the requiring authority whether the territorial authority intends to include the designation in the matters that the collaborative group may consider under the terms of reference set under **clause 41**.
- (2) If a territorial authority intends to use a collaborative planning process under **clause 38**, the written notice it gives under **subclause (1A)** requesting the requiring authority or heritage protection authority to advise the territorial authority of the following matters must also be given to any heritage protection authority that has a heritage order that has not lapsed:
 - (a) whether the requiring authority or heritage protection authority wishes to be part of the collaborative group; and
 - (b) if so, the name of the person to represent the requiring authority or heritage protection authority on the collaborative group.
- (2A) If the requiring authority or heritage protection authority agrees to be part of the collaborative group, the provisions of **Part 4** of this schedule apply to the processes for review, the making of submissions, hearings, decision making on the designation or heritage order, and appeal rights.
- (2B) If the requiring authority or heritage protection authority does not agree to be part of the collaborative group,—
 - (a) the collaborative group may consider the designation or heritage order, but only if it is within the terms of reference of the collaborative group; and
 - (b) the territorial authority must include in the proposed plan—
 - (i) the designation or heritage order; and
 - (ii) any consensus recommendations on the designation or heritage order; and
 - (c) the provisions of **Part 4** of this schedule apply to the processes for review, the making of submissions, and hearings; and
 - (d) the provisions of Part 1 of this schedule apply to decision making on a designation or heritage order and on any appeal rights.

In Schedule 1, clause 4(5), after "apply", insert "or any requirement to which **clause** 30 **41A** applies".

In Schedule 1, repeal clause 4(8).

New clause 4A

In Schedule 1, after clause 4, insert:

4A Further pre-notification requirements concerning iwi authorities

(1) Before notifying a proposed policy statement or plan, a local authority must—

New clause 4A—continued

- (a) provide a copy of the relevant draft proposed policy statement or plan to the iwi authorities consulted under clause 3(1)(d); and
- (b) have particular regard to any advice received on a draft proposed policy statement or plan from those iwi authorities.
- (2) When a local authority provides a copy of the relevant draft proposed policy statement or plan in accordance with **subclause** (1), it must allow adequate time and opportunity for the iwi authorities to consider the draft and provide advice on it.

Clause 5

In Schedule 1, replace clause 5(1)(b) with:

10

5

- (b) if the local authority decides to proceed with the proposed policy statement or plan, do one of the following, as appropriate:
 - (i) publicly notify the proposed policy statement or plan:
 - (ii) give limited notification, as provided for in clause 5A.

New clause 5A

In Schedule 1, after clause 5, insert:

5A Option to give limited notification of proposed change or variation

- (1) This clause applies to a proposed change or variation.
- (2) The local authority may give limited notification, but only if it is able to identify all the persons directly affected by the proposed change or a variation of a proposed policy statement or plan.
- (3) The local authority must serve limited notification on all persons identified as being directly affected by the proposed change or variation.
- (4) A notice given under this clause must state—
 - (a) where the proposed change or variation may be inspected; and
 - (b) that only the persons given limited notification under this clause may make a submission on the proposed change or variation; and
 - (c) the process for participating in the consideration of the proposed change or variation; and
 - (d) the closing date for submissions; and

30

25

- (e) the address for service of the local authority.
- (5) The local authority may provide any further information relating to a proposed change or variation that it thinks fit.
- (6) The closing date for submissions must be at least 20 working days after limited notification is given under this clause.

New clause 5A—continued

- If limited notification is given, the local authority may adopt, as an earlier closing date, the last day on which the local authority receives, from all the directly affected persons, a submission, or written notice that no submission is to be made.
- The local authority must provide a copy of the proposed change or variation, (8) without charge, to
 - the Minister for the Environment; and (a)
 - (b) for a change to, or variation of, a regional coastal plan, the Minister of Conservation and the Director-General of Conservation; and
 - (c) for a change to, or variation of, a district plan, the regional council and 10 adjacent local authorities; and
 - for a change to, or variation of, a policy statement or regional plan, the (d) constituent territorial authorities and adjacent regional councils; and
 - tangata whenua of the area, through iwi authorities. (e)
- (9) If limited notification is given in relation to a proposed change under this 15 clause, the local authority must make the change or variation publicly available in the central public library of the relevant district or region, and may also make it available in any other place that it considers appropriate.
- The obligations on the local authority under **subclause (4)** are in addition to those under section 35 (which relates to the keeping of records).

Clause 6

In Schedule 1, heading to clause 6, after "submissions", insert "under clause 5".

New clause 6A

In Schedule 1, after clause 6, insert:

6A Making of submissions under clause 5A

- (1) If limited notification is given under clause 5A on a proposed change to a policy statement or plan, the only persons who may make submissions or further submissions on the proposed change are—
 - (a) the persons given limited notification under clause 5A(3); and
 - (b) the persons provided with a copy of the proposed change under clause 5A(8).
- (2) However, if a person with a right to make a submission could gain an advantage in trade competition through making a submission, that person may make a submission only if directly affected by an effect of the proposed change that
 - adversely affects the environment; and (a)
 - (b) does not relate to trade competition or the effects of trade competition.

159

25

20

30

New clause 6A—continued

- (3) The local authority in its own area may make a submission.
- (4) Submissions must be made in the prescribed form.

Clause 7

In Schedule 1, after clause 7(2), insert:

However, in the case of a submission on a proposed change to a policy statement or plan, if a local authority has given limited notification under **clause 5A**, it must give notice of the matters listed in subclause (1), as relevant, instead of giving public notice, to—

5

10

15

20

- (a) the persons given limited notification under clause **5A(3)**; and
- (b) the persons provided with a copy of the proposed change under **clause 5A(8)**.

Clause 8

In Schedule 1, after clause 8(1), insert:

- (1A) However, in the case of submissions on a proposed change to a policy statement or plan, the only persons (in addition to the relevant local authority) who may make a further submission are—
 - (a) the persons given limited notification under clause **5A(3)**; and
 - (b) the persons given a copy of the proposed change under clause **5A(8)**.

In Schedule 1, clause 8(2), after "further submission", insert "given under subclause (1) or **(1A)**".

In Schedule 1, clause 8(2), after "clause 6", insert "or **6A**".

Clause 8A

In Schedule 1, clause 8A(1), after "clause 8", insert "(1) or (1A)".

In Schedule 1, clause 8A(1)(b), after "clause 6", insert "or 6A".

Clause 16B 25

In Schedule 1, clause 16B(2), delete "public".

Clause 21

In Schedule 1, after clause 21(3), insert:

(3A) However, in relation to a policy statement or plan approved under Part 4 of this schedule, no request may be made to change the policy statement or plan earlier than 3 years after the date on which it becomes operative under clause 20 (as applied by section 80A(2)(a)).

In Schedule 1, clause 21(4), replace "Part 1 shall apply" with "Part 1, 4, or 5 applies".

Clause 25

In Schedule 1, clause 25(2)(a)(i), after "clause 5", insert "or **5A**".

In Schedule 1, after clause 25(2), insert:

(2AA) However, if a direction is applied for under **section 80C**, the period between the date of that application and the date when the application is declined under clause 76(1) must not be included in the calculation of the 4-month period specified by subclause (2)(a)(i).

In Schedule 1, clause 25(2)(a)(ii), replace "Part 1" with "Part 1 or 4".

In Schedule 1, clause 25(5), after "that decision", insert ", including the decision on notification".

Clause 26

In Schedule 1, clause 26(b), delete "publicly".

In Schedule 1, clause 26, insert as subclause (2):

However, if a direction is applied for under **section 80C**, the period between the date of that application and the date when the application is declined under clause 76(1) must not be included in the calculation of the 4-month period specified in subclause (1)(b)(i).

New clause 26A

In Schedule 1, after clause 26, insert:

26A Mana Whakahono a Rohe

In exercising or performing any powers, functions, or duties under this Part, a local authority must comply with any Mana Whakahono a Rohe that specifically provides a role for iwi authorities in relation to any plan or change requested under this Part.

Clause 31

In Schedule 1, clause 31(a) and (b), replace "Part 1" with "Part 1, 4, or 5".

Clause 33

In Schedule 1, clause 33(a) and (b), replace "Part 1" with "Part 1, 4, or 5".

New Parts 4 and 5

In Schedule 1, after clause 35, insert:

Part 4 Collaborative planning process

36 Interpretation

In this Part,—

161

10

5

20

15

25

appointer means the local authority that appoints a review panel for the purposes of this Part

collaborative group means a group of persons appointed by a local authority under **clause 40** for the purpose of assisting the local authority to prepare or change a proposed policy statement or plan that relates to its functions under section 30 or 31, as the case may be

review panel and panel mean a panel established under clause 63.

Choice of collaborative planning process

37 Considerations relevant to decision on choice of process

- (1) A local authority may decide to use the collaborative planning process to prepare or change a policy statement or plan.
- (2) In determining whether the collaborative planning process is to be used to prepare or change a policy statement or plan, a local authority must consider—
 - (a) whether the resource management issues to be dealt with in the policy statement or plan would benefit from the use of the collaborative planning process, having regard to the scale and significance of the relevant resource management issues; and

15

20

- (b) the views and preferences expressed by persons who are likely to be affected by those resource management issues or who have an interest in them; and
- (c) whether the local authority has the capacity to support the collaborative planning process, having regard to the financial and other costs of the process; and
- (ca) whether a requirement, designation, or heritage order could be considered within a collaborative planning process; and
- (d) whether there are people in the community able and willing to participate effectively in the collaborative planning process as members of a collaborative group; and
- (e) whether any matters of national significance are likely to arise and, if so, whether these could be dealt within the collaborative planning process; and
- (f) whether the relevant provisions of any iwi participation legislation that applies in an area could be accommodated within the collaborative planning process, as required by this Part.
- (3) Before determining to use the collaborative planning process, a local authority must be satisfied that use of the process is not inconsistent with the local authority's obligations under any relevant iwi participation legislation or Mana Whakahono a Rohe.

10

15

25

30

New Parts 4 and 5—continued

38	Notification	of planning	process to	he adonted
<i>3</i> 0	Nouncation	or pranning	DIOCESS 10	DE AUUDIEU

- (1) A local authority must give public notice of its decision made under **clause 37**, stating—
 - (a) the extent of the area that will be subject to the proposed policy statement or plan and the subject matter, including any requirement, designation, or heritage order; and
 - (b) where the decision and reasons for the decision of the local authority may be inspected.
- (2) If a local authority gives notice that it intends to use the collaborative planning process to prepare or change a policy statement or plan, it is not permitted to withdraw from that process at any stage and progress the preparation of a policy statement or plan under any of the other processes in this schedule.
- (3) However, **subclause** (2) does not apply if—
 - (a) a local authority has been unable to appoint a collaborative group in accordance with **clause 40**; or
 - (b) a collaborative group has breached its terms of reference and the local authority has followed the process specified for dispute resolution in the terms of reference, but the dispute is not resolved; or
 - (c) the collaborative group and the local authority, after following the dispute resolution process specified in the terms of reference, agree that there are insufficient consensus recommendations on which to proceed to prepare a policy statement or plan.

Collaborative group

39 Collaborative group to be established

If a local authority gives notice under **clause 38** of its decision to use the collaborative planning process, it must establish a collaborative group.

40 Appointments

- (1) In establishing a collaborative group, a local authority must appoint—
 - (a) at least 1 person chosen by iwi authorities to represent the views of tangata whenua; and
 - (b) in the case of a regional policy statement or plan (other than one prepared by a unitary authority), at least 1 person to represent the views of territorial authorities within the relevant area; and
 - (c) in the case of a regional coastal plan, 1 person chosen by any customary marine title holder to represent the views of any customary marine title groups within the relevant area; and

- (d) other persons who, in the opinion of the local authority, have the knowledge, experience, and skills (including skills in collaboration) that are relevant to the resource management issues to be considered by the group; and
- (e) the nominated representative of a requiring authority or heritage protection authority, as the case requires, if the relevant authority has indicated its willingness to be a member of the collaborative group under **section 170(2)(c)** or **clause 4(2)** of this schedule.

5

10

20

25

- (1A) If the terms of reference under **clause 41** include a requirement, designation, or heritage order, the local authority must invite the following persons to nominate representatives for the collaborative group:
 - (a) landowners and occupiers likely to be directly affected by decisions relating to the requirement, designation, or heritage order; and
 - (b) any other person that the local authority identifies as being affected.
- (1B) The local authority may, as it considers necessary, appoint 1 or more representatives from those nominated under **subclause (1A)**.
- (2) A local authority may appoint as many persons as it considers appropriate, having regard to—
 - (a) the scale and significance of the resource management issues to be dealt with; and
 - (b) the need to comply with subclauses (4) and (5).
- (3) A local authority must not appoint persons who are employees or officers of any local authority within the relevant area.
- (4) However, the collaborative group may include 1, but not more than 1, elected or appointed member from the local authority that is using the collaborative planning process to prepare or change a policy statement or plan.
- (4A) If a combined instrument is to be prepared under section 80, the collaborative group may include 1, but not more than 1, elected or appointed member from each local authority that is using the collaborative planning process to prepare or change a policy statement or plan.
- (5) The appointments made under this clause must result in a collaborative group whose membership, collectively, reflects a balanced range of the community's interests, values, and investments in the relevant area as they relate to the resource management issues to be considered by the group.
- (6) The Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 applies to a collaborative group established under this Part as if it were a committee of the local authority under the Local Government Act 2002.

(i)

41	Torme	f reference	for colle	horotivo	aroun
41	terms o	i reference	ior com	adorauve	2roub

- A local authority must set the terms of reference for a collaborative group that (1) it establishes, in consultation with that group.
- The terms of reference must direct a collaborative group— (2)
 - (a) to consider specified matters; and

5

- (b) to report to a local authority with consensus recommendations for a proposed policy statement or plan within a specified time; and
- (c) to consider how to comply with the obligations identified by the local authority that arise under this Act or any other enactment that applies to the preparation or changing of a policy statement or plan under this Act; and

10

15

- to consider how to give effect to the provisions of a national policy state-(d) ment, a New Zealand coastal policy statement, or a national planning standard that are identified by the local authority as relevant; and
- to consider how to comply with the provisions in regulations (including (e) any national environmental standards) and water conservation orders that are identified by the local authority as relevant; and
- (f) to consider how to comply with the obligations that are identified by the local authority as arising under—

agreement entered into under that legislation:

- 20
- (ii) the provisions of any relevant legislation that require a local authority, in preparing or changing a policy statement or plan under this Act, to give particular consideration to a document prepared under other legislation; and

the provisions of any relevant iwi participation legislation, or any

25

- (g) to establish and use a process for seeking the views of the community of the relevant area on the work that the collaborative group is carrying out and to specify how the local authority will support the collaborative group; and
- (h) to prepare an evaluation of the costs and benefits of any recommenda-30 tions it makes to the local authority.

- (3) The terms of reference must include
 - the period for which a collaborative group is established (including the (a) period until any appeals are completed); and
 - whether, and, if so, how much, members of a group are to be paid; and (b)
 - (c) how the local authority will provide resources to a group for the period between the establishment of a collaborative group and the date on which the local authority's decision is made under clause 54; and

- (d) a dispute resolution process that the local authority must use if necessary in relation to a collaborative group, including—
 - (i) the process for removing and replacing any of the group's members or discharging the group:
 - (ii) the decisions that are required to withdraw from the collaborative planning process under **clause 38(3)(c)**.

5

10

15

20

25

- (4) A local authority may, at any time after consulting a collaborative group, amend the terms of reference that apply to the group.
- (5) The local authority must give public notice and notice to the chairperson of the collaborative group if amendments are made to the terms of reference under **subclause (4)**.
- (6) A notice given under **subclause** (5) must state where a copy of the amended terms of reference may be inspected.
- (7) The terms of reference are binding on both the local authority and the collaborative group.

41A Discretion to include requirements in collaborative planning process

- (1) This clause applies if, after a notice is given under **clause 38** and before the collaborative group reports under **clause 43**, a territorial authority—
 - (a) receives a notice of requirement under section 168 or 189; or
 - (b) issues a notice of requirement under section 168A or 189A.
- (2) If the collaborative group, requiring authority, and territorial authority agree,—
 - (a) a notice of requirement may proceed through the collaborative planning process instead of using the procedures of Part 8 of this Act; and
 - (b) the requiring authority responsible for the notice of requirement must nominate, and the territorial authority must appoint, a representative for the collaborative group; and
 - (c) the territorial authority must apply the provisions of clause 40(1A) and (1B).
- (3) However, if the requiring authority does not agree to be part of the collaborative group, or withdraws from the group before the collaborative group delivers its report under **clause 43**, the notice of requirement may not proceed using a collaborative process, but must proceed using another process under this Act.
- (4) The terms of reference set under **clause 41** must be amended as necessary to reflect the new notice of requirement.
- (5) The territorial authority must give public notice in accordance with **clause 42** of the new notice of requirement.

42	Othe	r matters relevant to collaborative group				
(1)	the te	oon as practicable after establishing a collaborative group and providing erms of reference, a local authority must give public notice that it has aped a collaborative group and has set its terms of reference.				
(2)	The p	public notice must—	5			
	(a)	include details of the appointments; and				
	(b)	state where the terms of reference may be inspected.				
(3)	A col	laborative group must determine its own procedure.				
(3A)		llaborative group may commission 1 or more reports on a matter relevant terms of reference without the approval of the local authority.	10			
(3B)	However, the local authority must approve a commission if the local authority is to meet the costs of the commission.					
(3C)	Officers and employees of the local authority may, at the request of a collaborative group, provide technical, executive, or secretarial support to a collaborative group.					
(3D)	Officers and employees of any other local authority may attend the meetings of a collaborative group as technical advisers, if the chairperson of the group agrees.					
(4)	Section 43 of the Local Government Act 2002 (which relates to indemnification) applies to the members of a collaborative group as if the group were a committee of a local authority.					
43	Repo	ort of collaborative group				
(1)		llaborative group must report to the local authority in accordance with the sof reference.				
(2)	The r	eport must include—	25			
	(a)	a record of the recommendations on which the collaborative group has reached consensus and the reasons for the consensus position; and				
	(b)	a summary of the costs and benefits that the collaborative group has identified in relation to those recommendations; and				
	(c)	a summary of any alternative options that the collaborative group considered; and	30			
	(d)	a record of the matters that the collaborative group considered but on which it did not reach consensus; and				
	(e)	a summary of how the collaborative group obtained and considered the views of the community of the relevant area.	35			

New	Parts .	4 and 4	5—contin	mod
11CW	ГИПК	+ ини .	3—COMUN	иеа

Notification	of report	and pre	paration	of proposed	d policy	statement,	plan,	or
change								

44	Notification	of rep	port of	collat	orative	group
----	--------------	--------	---------	--------	---------	-------

A local authority must publicly notify the report received under **clause 43**, stating where the report may be inspected.

5

10

15

20

25

30

45 Preparation of proposal

- (1) As soon as is reasonably practicable after the report of a collaborative group is publicly notified under **clause 44**, the local authority must—
 - (a) prepare a proposed policy statement or plan or change in conjunction with the collaborative group; and
 - (b) comply with **subclauses (2) and (3)** and clauses 2 and 3.
- (2) A proposed policy statement or plan—
 - (a) must give effect to the consensus position reached by a collaborative group; and
 - (b) may include provisions—
 - (i) that are necessary or appropriate for giving effect to or implementing the consensus position; and
 - (ii) for matters on which the collaborative group did not reach a consensus position, provided those matters were within the terms of reference given to the collaborative group.
- (3) However, **subclause (2)(a)** does not apply if, in giving effect to the consensus position, the proposed policy statement or plan would not comply with—
 - (a) the relevant provisions of Parts 4 and 5 of this Act; or
 - (b) any other provisions of this Act or of any other enactment that apply to the preparation or changing of a policy statement or plan under this Act.
- (4) A requirement, designation, or heritage order must be included in a proposed plan notified by the requiring authority under section 168<u>or 189</u> or clause 4, unless—
 - (a) the requirement, designation, or heritage order is included in the terms of reference set under **clause 41**; and
 - (b) there are consensus recommendations that apply (see subclause (2)(a)).

46 Advice from iwi authorities

(1) Before notifying a proposed policy statement or plan prepared or changed under **clause 45(1)**, a local authority must—

New	Parts	4	and	5_	-continued
1100	1 al LS	4	anu	. 7-	—сопшниеа

- (a) provide a copy of the relevant draft proposed policy statement or draft plan to tangata whenua of the relevant area through the relevant iwi authorities, ensuring that the iwi authorities have adequate time and opportunity to provide advice to the local authority; and
- (b) have particular regard to any advice received on the draft policy statement or draft plan from the iwi authorities if, and to the extent that, the advice is not inconsistent with the consensus position.
- (2) This section applies only if the local authority does not have a Mana Whakahono a Rohe with any relevant iwi authority.

47 Evaluation report

10

5

- (1) Before a local authority may notify a proposed policy statement or plan prepared or changed under **clause 45(1)**, it must prepare an evaluation report under section 32 for the proposed policy statement or plan or a change to a policy statement or plan.
- (2) The evaluation report must state the extent (if any) to which the proposed policy statement, plan, or change does not give effect to the consensus position, and the reasons for that.
- (3) The local authority must have particular regard to the evaluation report before notifying a proposed policy statement or plan or change.

48 Notification of proposed policy statement or plan or change

20

25

- (1) A local authority must publicly notify a proposed policy statement or plan prepared or changed under **clause 45**.
- (1A) A proposed policy statement or plan notified under **subclause** (1) must be treated as if it were publicly notified under **clause** 5(1)(b)(i).
- (2) In carrying out its obligation to give public notice under **subclause (1)**, the local authority must comply with—
 - (a) clause 5(2) and (3) (which relates to the contents and timing of the notice); and
 - (b) clause 5 (other than subclause (1)).

Public submissions

30

49 Submissions on proposed policy statement or plan or change

- (1) Clauses 6 to 8A apply to the making of submissions to a local authority on a proposed policy statement, plan, or change notified under **clause 48**.
- (2) A challenge to any part of a proposed policy statement or plan or change on the grounds that it does not comply with **clause 45(2)** may be made only in a submission to the relevant local authority under clause 6 or 8 (as applied by **subclause (1)**).

New	Parts	4 and 5—continued				
50	Loca	al authority report on submissions				
(1)	fied	later than 3 months after the closing date for further submissions as noti- under clause 7(1)(d) (as applied by clause 49), a local authority must pre- a report that includes—				
	(a)	an analysis of whether the decisions requested by submitters are consistent or inconsistent with the consensus position of the collaborative group; and	5			
	(b)	the response of the local authority to the decisions requested.				
(2)	The	local authority must—				
	(a)	provide a copy of that report to the collaborative group and to tangata whenua of the relevant area through iwi authorities; and	10			
	(b)	invite comments on the report and the proposed policy statement or plan from the collaborative group and the iwi authorities.				
		Role of review panel				
51	Hea	ring of submissions by review panel	15			
(1)	A review panel established by a local authority under clause 63 must hold a hearing on any submissions lodged under clause 6 or 8 (as applied by clause 49).					
(2)	Notice of the date, time, and place of any hearing must be given to every submitter and to the chairperson of the collaborative group at least 10 working days before the hearing.					
(3)	Clauses 63 to 73 apply to the establishment and procedures of a review panel.					
52	Role	of collaborative group in procedures of review panel				
(1)	At the same time as a collaborative group gives comments to a local authority under clause 50(2)(b) , the collaborative group may give notice to the local authority that the group has appointed one of its members to attend the hearing of the review panel in order to assist the panel by—					
	(a)	clarifying matters included in the proposed policy statement or plan:				
	(b)	discussing with the panel issues raised in submissions:	30			
	(c)	providing any relevant information that the panel may request.				
(2)		clause (1) does not exclude any member of the collaborative group from ing a submission to the panel on the proposed policy statement or plan.				

Recommendations of review panel 53

A review panel established by the local authority must provide a report to the local authority with recommendations on— (1)

10

15

25

30

35

(a)	the proposed	nolicy	statement or	nlan.	and
(a)	me brobosea	DOILC	Statement of	Dian.	anu

- (b) the matters raised in submissions.
- (2) The report must include—
 - (a) a statement about the extent to which a proposed policy statement or plan, as notified, is inconsistent with the consensus position of the collaborative group; and
 - (b) the panel's reasons for accepting or rejecting submissions and, for that purpose, the panel may group submissions according to—
 - (i) the provisions of the proposed policy statement or plan to which they relate; or
 - (ii) any other provisions of this Act or of any other Act that apply to the preparation or changing of a policy statement or plan under this Act; and
 - (c) a further evaluation of the proposed policy statement or plan in accordance with section 32AA; and
 - (d) the panel's recommendations in respect of—
 - (i) any changes it proposes to the policy statement or plan; and
 - (ii) whether the recommended changes would be consistent with the consensus position of the relevant collaborative group; and
 - (iii) a requirement, designation, or heritage order that complies with sections 168A(2A) and (3), 171, 189A(10), and 191.
- (4) The review panel must not recommend changes to a proposed policy statement or plan—
 - (a) unless it is satisfied that the changes are needed to ensure that the proposed policy statement or plan complies with—
 - (i) the relevant provisions of Parts 4, 5, and 8 of this Act; or
 - (ii) the provisions in any other enactment that require a local authority, in preparing or changing a policy statement or plan under this Act, to give particular consideration to a document prepared under that other enactment; or
 - (b) unless—
 - (i) the collaborative group is given the opportunity to comment on the review panel's proposed changes; and
 - (ii) those comments, whether in support or otherwise, are included in the report.
- (4A) If a review panel proposes to change a requirement, designation, or heritage order,—

	(a)	thorit	eview panel must seek comments from the relevant requiring au- y or heritage protection authority (including an authority that is a brial authority); and		
	(b)	the re	elevant authority must advise the review panel whether it—		
		(i)	supports the proposed changes; or	5	
		(ii)	seeks further changes; or		
		(iii)	disagrees with the changes proposed by the review panel; and		
	(c)		eview panel must include the comments of the authority in the re- the panel provides under subclause (1) .		
4B)		view p ige ord	anel must not recommend changes to an existing designation or ler—	10	
	(a)	that is	s included without modification in a proposed plan; and		
	(b)	on w	hich no submissions have been received.		
5)		_	recommendations to the local authority, the review panel may only nmendations that are within the scope of—	15	
	(a)	the p	roposed policy statement or plan as notified; and		
	(b)	the su	abmissions on the proposed policy statement or plan; and		
	(c)	any c	omments—		
		(i)	received under clause 50(2)(b); or		
		(ii)	provided to the review panel under clause 73.	20	
6)		-	anel is not required to deal individually with each submission, and submissions according to the provisions or matter to which they re-		
			Decision		
64	Decis	sion of	local authority following recommendations of review panel	25	
1)	As soon as is reasonably practicable after receiving a report from a review panel, a local authority must decide whether to accept or reject each recommendation in the report.				
2)	If a local authority rejects a recommendation, it must develop an alternative provision for its proposed policy statement or plan, giving reasons for the alternative provision.				
3)	An al	ternati	ve provision must be within the scope of—		
	(a)	a mat	ter raised in a submission; or		
	(b)	the re	eports and comments provided to a review panel under clause 73;	35	
	(c)	comn	nents received under clause 50(2)(b) or 53(4)(b).		

- (4) Before deciding on an alternative provision, a local authority must—
 - (a) prepare an evaluation of the alternative provision under section 32; and
 - (b) ascertain whether the alternative provision is inconsistent with the consensus position; and
 - (c) ascertain whether any inconsistency is necessary to ensure that the proposed policy statement or plan complies with—
 - (i) the relevant provisions of Parts 4, 5, and 8 of this Act; and
 - (ii) the provisions of any relevant enactment, including any enactment specified in Schedule 3 of the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975, that require a local authority, in preparing or changing a proposed policy statement or plan under this Act, to give particular consideration to a document prepared under any other enactment; and
 - (d) specify any other reasons why the alternative provision is preferred.
- (4A) When making a decision under **subclause** (1), a local authority—
 - (a) is not required to consult any person or to consider the submissions or other evidence of any person; and
 - (b) must not consider any submission or other evidence unless it was made available to the review panel before the panel made the recommendation on which the local authority makes its decision.
- (4B) A territorial authority must not make a recommendation or decision in respect of an existing designation or heritage order that—
 - (a) is included without modification in a proposed plan; and
 - (b) on which no submissions were received.
- (6) **Subclause (7)** applies to a designation or heritage order—
 - (a) that must be included in a proposed plan under clause 4(5) (because the requiring authority or heritage protection authority gave notice under clause 4(3)); and
 - (b) to which clause 4(2B) applies.
- (7) The territorial authority must—
 - (a) recommend to the requiring authority or heritage protection authority that it confirm, modify, impose conditions on, or withdraw the designation or heritage order concerned; and
 - (b) provide the recommendations to the requiring authority or heritage protection authority for its decision under clause 13.
- (8) If **subclause (7)** applies, the designation or heritage order must be considered in accordance with Part 1 of this schedule from the point when the recommendations of the territorial authority are sent to the requiring authority for its decision under clause 13.

New	Parts 4	4 and 5_	-continued
1100	FALLS 4	+ ana .>-	—сопшниеа

	A 1	- 1	r . 1	4 - 1	1	
55	Approval	l (1)	t regional	coastal	n	เลท
	TEPPIOTE			Cousti		

- (1) If the collaborative planning process is used by a regional council to prepare or change a regional coastal plan, the Minister of Conservation must approve the proposed plan.
- (2) Clauses 18 and 19 apply, with the necessary modifications, to the consideration and approval of a proposed regional coastal plan prepared or changed using the collaborative planning process.

10

20

30

56 Notification of local authority's decision

- (1) Not later than 2 years after notifying a proposed policy statement or plan or change under **clause 48(1)**, a local authority must—
 - (a) publicly notify—
 - (i) its decision under clause 54(1) and (2); and
 - (ii) the report and recommendations of the review panel; and
 - (iii) the place where the decision and reasons may be inspected; and
 - (b) serve copies of the public notice electronically on each person who made a submission under **clause 49**.
- (1A) When publicly notifying a decision in respect of a requirement, designation, or heritage order under this clause, the territorial authority must serve the notice on landowners and occupiers identified under **clause 40(1A)** who, in the opinion of the local authority, are likely to be directly affected by the decision.
- (2) On and from the date on which the decision is publicly notified, the proposed policy statement or plan is amended in accordance with the decision.

Transitional arrangement

57 Early use of collaborative planning process

Clause 14 of Schedule 12 provides the transitional arrangements for the early use of a collaborative planning process.

Rights of appeal under collaborative planning process

58 Overview

The only rights of appeal that are available in respect of decisions made under **clause 54** are—

- (a) by way of a rehearing under clause 59:
- (b) on a question of law under clause 60.

10

15

20

25

30

35

59	Appeal	l		~ C	1	.
74	Annegi	e nv	W/N	M	rene	19 rino
	ANDUCAL	3 D Y	****	VI.	1 (11)	annz

- (1) An appeal by way of rehearing may be made in respect of a decision by a local authority under **clause 54(1) or (2)**
 - (a) to change a provision of a proposed policy statement or plan in a way that is inconsistent with the recommendations of the review panel under **clause 53**:
 - (b) to include a matter in the proposed policy statement or plan that was not based on a consensus position, because—
 - (i) it had been included under clause 45(2)(b)(ii); or
 - (ii) it was recommended by the review panel but opposed by the collaborative group under **clause 53(4)(b)**:
 - to accept or reject a recommendation of the review panel under **clause 53(1)** for a provision in the proposed plan in relation to a requirement, designation, or heritage order that the requiring authority or heritage protection authority did not support, or supported with changes under **clause 53(4A)(b)**.
- (2) The following groups and persons may appeal to the Environment Court under **subclause (1)**:
 - (a) a collaborative group that provided, in relation to the provision or matter that is the subject of the appeal,—
 - (i) comments to a local authority under clause 50(2)(b):
 - (ii) information to a panel under clause 52:
 - (b) an iwi authority that provided comments to a local authority under **clause 50(2)(b)**, but only in relation to a provision or matter on which it provided those comments:
 - (c) a person who made a submission to the local authority under clause 6 or 8 (as applied by **clause 49**), but only in relation to a provision or matter on which the person made a submission:
 - (d) the relevant requiring authority or heritage protection authority, in relation to a decision under **subclause** (1)(c).
- (3) However, there is no right of appeal under this clause if the local authority records in its decision that a change has been made (or not made) to a provision of a proposed policy statement or plan to ensure that the proposed policy statement or plan complies with—
 - (a) Parts 4, 5, and 8 of this Act, as relevant:
 - (b) the provisions in any enactment, including any enactment specified in Schedule 3 of the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975, that require a local authority, in preparing or changing a policy statement or plan under this

Act,	to	give	particular	consideration	to	a	document	prepared	under	any
other enactment										

- (4) **Section 277A** applies to an appeal under this clause.
- 60 Appeals on questions of law
- (1) A group or person specified in **clause 59(2)** may appeal to the Environment Court against a decision of a local authority made under **clause 54(1)** if there is no right of appeal in relation to that matter under **clause 59**.
- (2) An appeal under this clause is an appeal on a question of law only.
- 61 Procedural matters
- (1) A notice of appeal under clause 59 or 60 must,—

10

5

- (a) not later than 30 working days after a local authority publicly notifies a decision under **clause 56**.—
 - (i) be lodged with the Environment Court in the prescribed form; and
 - (ii) be served on the local authority whose decision is the subject of the appeal; and

15

20

25

35

- (iii) in relation to a designation or heritage order included in the proposed plan, be served on the relevant requiring authority or heritage protection authority; and
- (b) if the notice of appeal relates to the coastal marine area, be served on the Minister of Conservation not later than 5 working days after the notice of appeal is lodged with the Environment Court.
- (2) Parts 11 and 11A of this Act apply to appeals under clauses 59 and 60.

Approval of proposed policy statement or plan

62 Amendment, variation, merger, and approval

- (1) The following provisions of Part 1 of this schedule apply, as far as they are relevant and with the necessary modifications, to a proposed policy statement or plan:
 - (a) clauses 16 to 16B (which relate to amending, varying, or merging a variation with, a proposed policy statement or plan); and
 - (b) clause 17 (which relates to the final consideration and approval of a proposed policy statement or plan, other than a regional coastal plan); and
 - (c) clauses 18 and 19 (which relate to the consideration and ministerial approval of a regional coastal plan).
- (2) If a proposed policy statement or plan is prepared in accordance with the collaborative planning process, any variation to that statement or plan must also be undertaken in accordance with the collaborative planning process.

15

New Parts 4 and 5—continued

Review panels

63 Establishment of panel

A review panel must be established by a local authority (the **appointer**) to hear submissions and make recommendations on a proposed policy statement, plan, or change in the course of the collaborative planning process undertaken under this Part.

64 Membership of panel

- (1) Every panel established under **clause 63** must comprise at least 3, but not more than 8, members, including the chairperson of the panel.
- (2) The majority of the members of a panel must be persons who are not elected or appointed members of an appointer.
- (3) A panel must consist of members who collectively have the appropriate knowledge, skills, and experience in relation to—
 - (a) this Act; and
 - (b) the matter or type of matter that is to be the subject of the hearing; and
 - (ba) the conduct of cross-examination in legal proceedings; and
 - (c) the local community.
- (4) All the members of a panel must be accredited.
- (5) Every panel must include at least 1 member who—
 - (a) has an understanding of tikanga Māori and the perspective of tangata 20 whenua; and
 - (b) is appointed after consultation with tangata whenua through the relevant iwi authorities.
- (6) A panel (other than one provided for in **subclause (7)**) must include the chairperson or other member nominated by the Minister if the Minister gives notice, not later than 5 working days after the date by which further submissions must be lodged under clause 7(1)(d), of his or her intention to make a nomination.
- (7) A panel established to hear submissions that relate to a proposed regional coastal plan must include the chairperson or other member nominated jointly by the Minister and the Minister of Conservation if the Ministers give notice, not later than 5 working days after the date by which further submissions must be lodged under clause 7(1)(d), of their intention to make a nomination.
- (8) Members must be appointed in accordance with clause 65.

65	How	members are appointed	
(1)		taking appointments as required by clauses 63 and 64 , an appointer give written notice to each member appointed, stating—	
	(a)	the date on which the appointment takes effect; and	
	(b)	the term of the appointment.	5
(2)	appo	oon as practicable after the members of a panel have been appointed, the inter concerned must notify the appointments on an Internet site to which ublic has free access, stating—	
	(a)	that the panel has been established; and	
	(b)	the purpose for which the panel is established.	10
(3)	An a	ppointer may appoint—	
	(a)	a member to replace a member who ceases to hold office:	
	(b)	additional members, after the initial appointments, if the total number of members on a panel is not more than 8, including the chairperson.	
(4)		clause applies, to the extent that it is relevant, to the appointment of a rement member or an additional member.	15
		Terms and liabilities	
66	Tern	n of panel and term of office of members	
(1)	powe	y panel continues until it has performed its functions and exercised its ers in relation to the matters for which the panel is established (including eriod required to complete any appeals).	20
(2)	A me	ember of a panel remains a member until the earliest of the following:	
	(a)	the panel to which the member is appointed ceases to exist:	
	(b)	the member's term of office ends:	
	(c)	the member dies or is no longer able to perform the functions and duties of a member on account of ill health or other indisposition:	25
	(d)	the member resigns by giving 20 working days' written notice to the appointer:	
	(e)	the member is removed from office under subclause (3) .	
(3)	by p	ppointer may, at any time for just cause, remove a member from a panel roviding written notice to the member, and a copy of that notice to the person of the panel, that states—	30
	(a)	the date on which the member's removal takes effect, which must not be earlier than the date on which the notice is received by the member; and	
	(b)	the reasons for the removal.	35

- A member of a panel is not entitled to any compensation or other payment or benefit relating to his or her ceasing, for any reason, to hold office as a member.
- (5) In **subclause** (3), just cause includes misconduct, an inability to perform the functions of office, a neglect of duty, and any breach of the collective duties of the panel or the individual duties of members.

Liability of members of panel 67

A member of a panel is not liable for anything the member does, or omits to do, in good faith in performing the functions and duties or exercising the powers of a panel.

Functions and powers

68 **Functions of panel**

The function of every panel is—

- to conduct a public hearing of submissions; and (a)
- (b) to make recommendations to a local authority on a proposed policy statement or plan under the collaborative planning process.

69 Powers of panel

- (1) A panel has the same powers and duties as a local authority under the following provisions:
 - section 39 (which provides for how hearings are to be conducted), ex-(a) cept section 39(2)(c) and (d):
 - section 39C (which sets out the effect of a lack of accreditation): (b)
 - (c) section 40 (which provides for the persons who may be heard at hear-
 - section 41 (which provides for the application of certain provisions of (d) the Commissions of Inquiry Act 1908):
 - section 41A (which relates to the control of hearings): (e)
 - section 41B (which provides for the giving of directions as to the time (f) for providing evidence in relation to a hearing):
 - section 41C (which sets out the directions and requests that may be (g) given before or at a hearing), except section 41C(4).
- (3) A panel may exercise the powers conferred by clause 8AA, except that in clause 8AA(2) to (6) the references to a local authority are to be read as references to a panel.
- Subclause (3) applies for the purpose of clarifying or facilitating the reso-(4) lution of a matter relating to a proposed policy statement or plan.

179

10

15

20

25

30

(5) If a panel considers it appropriate, it may on its own initiative, or if requested, invite anyone who made a submission on a proposed policy statement or plan to meet with the local authority.

Procedural matters

70	Proced	lures	of	panel	l
-----------	--------	-------	----	-------	---

5

- (1) Every panel must—
 - (a) regulate its own procedure in a manner that is appropriate and fair in the circumstances; and
 - (b) keep a full record of its proceedings.
- (2) Parts 1 to 6 and sections 48 and 53 of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 apply to a panel as if that panel were a committee appointed by a local authority under the Local Government Act 2002.
- (3) In the event of an equality of votes, the chairperson of the panel has a casting vote.

Evidentiary matters

15

10

71 Reports

- (1) At any time before or during a hearing, a panel may commission, or require an appointer to commission, a report on any matter, including a report by an officer of a local authority, as the panel considers necessary.
- (2) A report does not need to repeat material included in submissions.

20

25

- (3) An appointer must—
 - (a) make any report commissioned under this clause available for inspection as soon as practicable at its offices or on an Internet site to which the public has free access; and
 - (b) give written notice to the persons who made submissions that a report has been commissioned and is available for inspection.
- (4) A panel may request, from the person making a report under this clause, any information and advice that the panel considers is relevant and reasonably necessary to enable the panel to make recommendations under **clause 68(b)**.

72 Conference of experts

30

- (1) A panel may, at any time during a hearing, direct that a conference of experts be convened for the purpose of—
 - (a) clarifying a matter relating to the proposed policy statement or plan:
 - (b) facilitating the resolution of a matter relating to a proposed policy statement or plan.

10

15

20

25

30

New	Parts 4	4 and 5	—continued
115.00	I ALLS .	+ anu .)	—

(2)	A member of the panel, or a person appointed for the purpose by the panel,
	must be appointed to act as the facilitator of the conference.
(3)	If directed by the panel to do so, the facilitator must prepare a report on the

- conference and provide it to the panel and persons attending the conference.

 (4) No information given or made available to the conference on a without prejudice basis may be included in a report given under **subclause** (3).
- (5) The appointer or his or her representatives may not attend a conference unless authorised to do so by the panel.

73 Information provided to review panel

- (1) An appointer must provide a review panel with copies of—
 - (a) the publicly notified proposed policy statement or plan that is the subject of a hearing before the panel; and
 - (b) the report of the relevant collaborative group provided under **clause 43**; and
 - (c) an evaluation report required by clause 47; and
 - (d) the submissions that were received on the proposed policy statement or plan by the closing date for submissions; and
 - (e) the report prepared by the relevant local authority under clause 50; and
 - (f) any planning documents recognised by an iwi authority and lodged with the relevant local authority; and
 - (g) any documentation relevant to obligations arising for the relevant local authority under any relevant iwi participation legislation or Mana Whakahono a Rohe; and
 - (h) any comments provided to the relevant local authority under **clause 50(2)(b)** by an iwi authority or the relevant collaborative group; and
 - (i) any other relevant information held by the local authority and requested by the panel.
- (2) Information may be provided under this clause electronically or on an Internet site to which the review panel has access.

Part 5 Streamlined planning process

74 Contents of application for directions

An application to a Minister for a direction under **section 80C** to use the streamlined planning process must—

(a) be in writing; and

	(b)	set or	at the following matters:	
		(i)	a description of the planning issue (including any requirement, designation, or heritage order) for which a planning instrument is required, with an explanation as to how the proposal meets any of the criteria set out in section 80C(2) ; and	5
		(ii)	an explanation of why use of the streamlined planning process is appropriate as an alternative to using the process under Part 1 of this schedule; and	
		(iii)	a description of the process that the local authority wishes to use and the time frames that it proposes for the steps in that process, having regard to the relevant criteria under section 80C(2) ; and	10
		(iv)	the persons that the local authority considers are likely to be affected by the proposed planning instrument; and	
		(v)	a summary of any consultation undertaken on the proposed planning instrument by the local authority, or intended to be undertaken, including consultation with iwi authorities under clauses 1A to 3C; and	15
		(vi)	the implications of using the process that the local authority wishes to use for any relevant iwi participation legislation or Mana Whakahono a Rohe entered into under subpart 2 of Part 5 of this Act.	20
75	How	respoi	nsible Minister considers request	
(1)		-	ments of this clause apply to a local authority's request to use the planning process.	
2)	The r	espons	sible Minister must have regard to—	25
	(a)	the lo	ocal authority's written request; and	
	(b)		ner the local authority has, in the Minister's opinion, provided suffi- information in support of its request; and	
	(c)		relevant obligations set out in any iwi participation legislation or a Whakahono a Rohe; and	30
	(d)	any o	ther matters that the Minister considers relevant; and	
	(e)	the p	urpose of the streamlined planning process, as stated in section 1).	
(3)		nation	sible Minister may require the local authority to provide any further in support of its request that he or she may reasonably specify in	35

(4)	In relation to the streamlined planning process that he or she is proposing to
	implement by way of a direction under clause 77, the responsible Minister
	must consult—

- (a) the local authority; and
- any other relevant Ministers of the Crown; and (b)

- any person who has requested a private plan change that is accepted (c) under clause 25(2)(b); and
- (d) any requiring authority that has consented under section 170 to include a requirement.
- (4A) The responsible Minister may consult any other person about the content of the 10 streamlined planning process that the Minister is proposing.
- The responsible Minister must ensure that the streamlined planning process to (5) be implemented by a direction given under clause 77 is not inconsistent with obligations under any relevant iwi participation legislation or Mana Whakahono a Rohe.

15

5

76 Responsible Minister's decision

- (1) The responsible Minister may decide a local authority's application for a direction to enter the streamlined planning process by
 - giving a direction under clause 77 that the local authority use the (a) streamlined process set by the Minister in that direction; or

20

- (b) declining the local authority's request.
- The responsible Minister's decision (and direction, if issued) must be— (2)
 - given in writing with reasons; and (a)
 - (b) served by the Minister on the relevant local authority; and
 - (c) served by the local authority,—

25

- in the case of a notice of requirement, designation, or heritage (i) order, on the relevant requiring authority or heritage protection authority; and
- (ii) in the case of a private plan change, on the person who requested the change.

30

35

77 **Direction and its content**

- (1) A direction applied for under **section 80C** is given under this clause.
- (2) In deciding the content of the direction, the responsible Minister must have regard to
 - the purpose of the proposed streamlined planning process, the local authority's request, and any supplementary information provided by the local authority; and

	(b)	the views of persons and bodies consulted under clause 75(4) or (4A).					
(3)	The direction—						
	(a)	must provide for the matters set out in subclause (4) ; and					
	(b)	must include the Minister's statement of expectations for the local authority; and	5				
	(c)	may include any matters provided for in subclause (5).					
(4)		streamlined planning process set out in the direction must, at a minimum, de for—					
	(a)	consultation with affected parties on the proposed planning instrument, including with the responsible Minister and iwi authorities (if not already undertaken); and	10				
	(b)	public notification of the proposed planning instrument in accordance with clause 5 (other than clause 5(3)), or limited notification under clause 5A (other than clause 5A(6)); and					
	(c)	an opportunity for written submissions under clause 6 or 6A; and	15				
	(d)	a report showing how submissions have been considered and the changes (if any) made to the proposed planning instrument; and					
	(e)	the preparation of an evaluation report on the proposed planning instrument under section 32 or 32AA, as may be relevant; and					
	(f)	decision makers to give particular regard to the report prepared under paragraph (e) ; and	20				
	(g)	the time period within which the streamlined planning process must be completed.					
(5)	any c	responsible Minister may also include in the streamlined planning process other procedural requirements and time frames not provided for under subsection that the Minister considers appropriate, including—	25				
	(b)	any reporting requirements; and					
	(c)	any relevant planning process requirements set out in this schedule or elsewhere in this Act.					
(6)	39(2)	direction includes a requirement for a hearing, the restrictions of section o(c) and (d) (which relates to questioning and cross-examination in a hear-do not apply.	30				
79	Forn	n and status of directions under Legislation Act 2012					
(1)	instru	rection under clause 77 is a disallowable instrument, but not a legislative ument, for the purposes of the Legislation Act 2012 and must be presented a House of Representatives under section 41 of that Act.	35				

10

15

New Parts 4 and 5—continued

- (2) As soon as is reasonably practicable after a direction has been made in accordance with **clause 77**, the responsible Minister must notify it in the *Gazette*.
- (3) The relevant local authority must ensure that, as soon as is reasonably practicable after a direction has been notified in the *Gazette*, the public can access or download the direction free of charge at or from an Internet site maintained by the local authority or on its behalf.

80 Amendment of direction

- (1) The responsible Minister may initiate an amendment of a direction.
- (2) A local authority may request in writing that the responsible Minister amend a direction that applies to that local authority, setting out the reasons for the request.
- (3) The responsible Minister may amend his or her direction as the Minister thinks appropriate.
- (4) Unless an amendment made under this clause has no more than a minor effect or is made to correct a technical error, clauses 75(2) to (5), 76(2), 77(3), and 79 apply.

Other matters relevant to direction

81 Time limits

- (1) A local authority may apply in writing to request that the responsible Minister approve an extension to any time frames that apply to the local authority under the Minister's direction.
- (2) The Minister must consider and determine the application.
- (3) If a time limit is set in a direction,—
 - (a) section 37 does not apply to permit a time period set in a direction to be extended; but
 - (b) section 37 applies to permit a local authority to waive a failure of a person to comply with the time or method of serving a document, but not to waive a failure of the local authority to comply with the direction.

82 Local authority must comply with direction

- (1) A local authority—
 - (a) must comply with the terms of a direction given under **clause 77** (other than in respect of the Minister's statement of expectations included in the direction); but
 - (b) must have regard to that statement.
- (2) The direction applies as from time to time amended in accordance with **clause 80** and subject to any extension of time allowed under **clause 81**.

185

20

25

30

New .	Parts -	4 and	5—continued			
		Proc	cess for approval of proposed planning instrument			
33	Local authority must submit proposed planning instrument to responsible Minister					
(1)			nority that is subject to a direction under clause 77 must submit to ble Minister, within the time required by the direction,—	5		
	(a)	-	proposed planning instrument, including any recommendations it ins in respect of requirements, designations, or heritage orders; and			
	(b)	a sun	nmary report of the written submissions; and			
	(c)	ficati	ort showing how submissions have been considered and any modi- ons made to the proposed planning instrument in light of the sub- ons; and	10		
	(d)	the e	valuation reports required by sections 32 and 32AA; and			
	(e)		nmary document showing how the local authority has had regard to atement of expectations; and			
	(f)		nmary document showing how the proposed planning instrument blies with the requirements of—	15		
		(i)	any relevant national direction; and			
		(ii)	this Act or regulations made under it; and			
	(g)	any o	other information and documentation that is specified in the direc-	20		
(1A)	or he the M	ritage Iiniste	ne territorial authority must consult the relevant requiring authority protection authority on the recommendations before it submits to r information required by subclause (1)(a) that relates to a redesignation, or heritage order.			
(2)			uthority may provide any further information in addition to the re- of subclause (1) .	25		
34	Resp	onsibl	e Minister to consider proposed planning instrument			
1)	_		sible Minister may—			
	(a)		the proposed planning instrument submitted under clause (a) back to the local authority—	30		
		(i)	with his or her approval; or			
		(ii)	for further consideration, with or without specific recommenda- tions for changes to the proposed planning instrument; or			
	(b)	decli	ne to approve the proposed planning instrument.			
(2)		_	which action to take under subclause (1) , the responsible Minisve regard to—	35		

10

15

20

25

New Parts 4 and 5—continued

- (a) whether the local authority has complied with the procedural requirements, including time frames, required by the direction; and
- (b) whether, and if so, how the local authority—
 - (i) has had regard to the statement of expectations; and
 - (ii) has met the requirements of this Act, regulations made under it, and any relevant national direction.
- (3) In making his or her decision on a proposed planning instrument, the responsible Minister may have regard to—
 - (a) the purpose of the streamlined planning process; and
 - (b) any other matter relevant to the Minister's decision.
- (4) The responsible Minister's decision on a proposed planning instrument must be in writing with reasons and be served on the local authority.

85 Proposed planning instrument approved or declined

- (1) This clause applies if the responsible Minister approves or declines, under **clause 84(1)(a)(i) or (b),** a local authority's proposed planning instrument that includes a requirement, designation, or heritage order.
- (2) If the responsible Minister approves the proposed planning instrument under **clause 84(1)(a)(i)**, any recommendation of the territorial authority included in the instrument on a requirement, designation, or heritage order becomes an approved recommendation.
- (3) If the responsible Minister declines to approve the proposed planning instrument under **clause 84(1)(b)**, any recommendation of the territorial authority approved by the Minister on a requirement, designation, or heritage order, must be treated,—
 - (a) in the case of a requirement, as a recommendation to withdraw the requirement:
 - (b) in the case of an existing designation or heritage order, as a recommendation to confirm the designation or heritage order without change.
- (4) The local authority must serve the approved recommendations on the relevant requiring authority or heritage protection authority, and clauses 9, 11(2) and (3), and 13 apply, as the case requires,
- (5) See clause 91 for notification requirements.

Responsible Minister may refer proposed planning instrument back to local authority

(1) This clause applies if the responsible Minister refers a local authority's proposed planning instrument back to the local authority for further consideration under **clause 84(1)(a)(ii)**, with or without any recommended changes.

- (3) The responsible Minister may extend any time frame in the relevant direction as may be required for the purposes of this clause to ensure that the local authority can comply with the direction.
- (4) The local authority must—
 - (a) reconsider the proposed planning instrument in light of the responsible Minister's stated reasons and any recommended changes; and

5

10

20

25

35

- (b) make any changes that the local authority considers appropriate; and
- (ba) consult the requiring authority or heritage protection authority if the local authority has reconsidered a recommendation relating to the inclusion of a requirement, designation, or heritage order in the proposed planning instrument; and
- (c) resubmit the revised proposed planning instrument to the responsible Minister.
- (5) The responsible Minister may reconsider the local authority's revised proposed planning instrument and approve it once he or she is satisfied that it meets the requirements for approval in **clause 84**.

88 Decision to decline to approve proposed planning instrument

- (1) If the responsible Minister declines to approve a local authority's proposed planning instrument under **clause 84(1)(b)**, the local authority must notify the Minister's decision under **clause 91**, giving the Minister's reasons for the decision.
- (3) The local authority must not proceed further with the proposed planning instrument under this subpart.
- (4) However, this clause does not apply to recommendations on any provisions of the instrument that relate to a requirement, designation, or heritage order (*see* **clause 85**).

89 Power to withdraw

- (1) If a local authority that is subject to a direction under **clause 77** has initiated the preparation of a policy statement or plan, the local authority may withdraw the proposed planning instrument set out in the direction at any time before the responsible Minister's decision is made under **clause 84**.
- (1A) A person who has requested a private plan change may withdraw the request at any time before the Minister makes a decision under **clause 84**.
- (2) The local authority must give public notice of a withdrawal under **subclause** (1) or (1A), including the reasons for the withdrawal.
- (3) The direction given under **clause 77** ceases to have effect and is revoked when the withdrawal under **subclause (1) or (1A)** is publicly notified.

90	Resp	onsibl	le Minister may revoke direction			
(1)		-	onsible Minister wishes to revoke, in whole or in part, a direction r clause 77, the Minister—			
	(a)		consult the relevant local authority about the proposal to revoke the tion; and	5		
	(ab)		give public notice, with adequate time and opportunity for the pub- comment on the proposal; and			
	(ac)	must	give notice of the revocation in the Gazette; but			
	(b)	may	otherwise make the revocation without further consultation.			
(2)	If a c	lirectio	on is revoked, the proposed planning instrument is withdrawn.	10		
(3)			nt local authority must give public notice if the proposed planning is withdrawn.			
		N	otification and operation of planning instrument			
91	Noti	ficatio	n of responsible Minister's decision			
(1)		This clause applies when the responsible Minister has made a decision on a 1 proposed planning instrument under clause 84(1)(a)(i) or (b).				
(2)	The local authority concerned must give public notice of the responsible Minister's decision on the proposed planning instrument as follows:					
	(a)	if the	e Minister approves the instrument,—			
		(i)	the Minister's decision must be publicly notified; and	20		
		(ii)	the planning instrument becomes operative in accordance with clause 20 and the provisions of that clause apply:			
	(b)		e Minister does not approve the proposed planning instrument, the ster must—			
		(i)	give public notice of the decision; and	25		
		(ii)	state in that notice that the proposed planning instrument has no further effect.			
(3)		Not later than 5 working days after the Minister's decision is publicly notified, the local authority must serve the public notice on—				
	(a)	all su	abmitters; and	30		
	(b)		evant, the person who requested a private plan change to be inclunthe planning instrument; and			
	(c)	requi	evant, the requiring authority or heritage protection authority whose irement, designation, or heritage order is included in the planning ument; and	35		

- (d) in the case of a territorial authority's own requirement, designation, or heritage order, the landowners and occupiers who, in the opinion of the territorial authority, are directly affected by the decision.
- (4) The local authority must also—
 - (a) make a copy of the public notice and the reports prepared under **clause 83(1)** publicly available (whether physically or by electronic means) at all of its offices, and all public libraries in the district (if it relates to a district plan) or region (in all other cases); and

5

10

20

30

35

- (b) include with the notice a statement of the places where a copy of the decision is available; and
- (c) send or provide, on request, a copy of the decision within 3 working days after the request is received.

Effect of decisions under this Part

93 Scope of appeal rights

- (1) There is no right of appeal under this Act against any decision or action of the responsible Minister, a local authority, or any other person under this Part, except as provided under **clauses 94 and 95**.
- (2) Parts 11 and 11A of this Act apply to appeals under clauses 94 and 95.

94 Appeals in relation to requirements, designations, and heritage orders

- (1) An appeal may be made to the Environment Court against any aspect of a decision of a requiring authority or heritage protection authority that rejects the recommendation referred to in **clause 85(2) or (3)**, but only in relation to those aspects of the recommendation that have been rejected.
- (2) An appeal under this clause may be made by—
 - (a) the territorial authority with responsibility for the relevant planning instrument:
 - (b) any person who made a submission on the designation or heritage order that referred to the matter under appeal.

Appeals on questions of law in relation to requirements, designations, and heritage orders

- (1) An appeal may be made to the High Court against any aspect of a decision of a requiring authority or heritage protection authority that accepts the recommendation referred to in **clause 85(2) or (3)** on a designation or heritage order.
- (2) An appeal may be made by—
 - (a) the territorial authority with responsibility for the relevant planning instrument:

- (b) any person who made a submission on the requirement, designation, or heritage order that referred to the matter under appeal.
- (3) An appeal under this clause is an appeal on a question of law only.

96 Procedural matters

(1) A notice of appeal under clause 94 or 95 must—

5

- (a) be lodged in accordance with **subclause (2)** in the appropriate registry of the Environment Court or the High Court, as the case requires, in the prescribed form (if any); and
- (b) be served,—
 - (i) on the territorial authority with responsibility for the relevant planning instrument at the same time as the appeal is lodged:
 - (ii) if the planning instrument includes a designation or heritage order, on the relevant requiring authority or heritage protection authority at the same time as the appeal is lodged:
 - (iii) on any person who made a submission on the requirement, designation, or heritage order that referred to the matter under appeal not later than 5 working days after the appeal is lodged.
- (2) A notice of appeal must be lodged, as the case requires, not later than 30 working days—
 - (a) after the decision of the local authority is given under clause 11(2); or
 - (b) after the decision of the requiring authority or heritage protection authority is served under clause 13(4).

Schedule 2

Amendments to Schedule 12 of Resource Management Act 1991 commencing on day after Royal assent

ss 3B-4A, 110

Schedule 12 heading

5

Replace the Schedule 12 heading with "Transitional, savings, and related provisions".

Schedule 12 heading

Replace the Schedule 12 heading with:

Schedule 12

10

Transitional, savings, and related provisions

<u>s 3B</u>

New clause 1AA inserted (Overview)

After the Schedule 12 heading, insert:

1AA Overview

15

In addition to the transitional, savings, and related provisions set out in this schedule, other transitional, savings, and related provisions that may apply are those set out in—

- (a) Part 15, in relation to the principal Act:
- (b) subpart 3 of Part 2 of the Resource Management Amendment Act 2003:
- (c) Part 2 of the Resource Management (Energy and Climate Change) Amendment Act 2004:
- (d) sections 131 to 135 of the Resource Management Amendment Act 2005:
- (e) Part 2 of the Resource Management (Simplifying and Streamlining) Amendment Act 2009.

25

20

New Part heading

In Schedule 12, above clause 1, insert:

Part 1

Provisions relating to Resource Management Amendment Act 2013

Clause 1

30

In Schedule 12, clause 1, replace "schedule" with "Part".

Clause 4

In Schedule 12, clause 4(1), replace "this section" with "this clause".

New Part 2

In Schedule 12, after clause 10, insert:

Pi	rovisi	ons r	Part 2 relating to Part 1 of Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015	5
11	Inte	rpreta	tion	
	In th	is Par	t,—	
		ndmei 2015	nt Act means Part 1 of the Resource Legislation Amendment	10
	ment		ement , in relation to a provision of the amendment Act or an amende by that provision, means the date on which that provision comes	
12	Spec	ified 1	matters subject to transitional arrangements	15
(1)	An amendment made by the amendment Act does not apply in respect of a matter specified in subclause (2) if, immediately before the commencement of the amendment, the matter—			
	(a)		been lodged with a local authority, the EPA, or a Minister, or called y the Minister; but	20
	(b)	has 1	not proceeded to the stage at which no further appeal is possible.	
(2)	The	matter	s referred in subclause (1) are—	
	(a)		pplication for a resource consent (or anything treated by this Act as were an application for a resource consent):	
	(b)	•	other matter in relation to a resource consent (or in relation to any- g treated by this Act as if it were a resource consent):	25
	(c)	sion	allenge under section 85 in relation to a provision or proposed provior of a plan or proposed plan that would render any land incapable of onable use:	
	(d)		pplication relating to a nationally significant proposal lodged with EPA or called in by the Minister under Part 6AA:	30
	(e)	a no	tice of requirement—	
		(i)	for a designation or heritage order; or	
		(ii)	to alter a designation or heritage order:	
	(f)		pplication for a water conservation order made under section 201(1) amend or revoke an order under section 216(2):	35

New Part 2—continued

(g)	an application or a proposal to vary or cancel an instrument that creates
	an esplanade strip under section 234(1) or (3):

- (h) the creation of an esplanade strip by agreement under section 235(1).
- (3) This clause does not limit clauses 13 to 15.

13 Proposed policy statement or plans, changes, or variations

5

- (1) This clause applies to a proposed policy statement or plan, change, or variation that, immediately before the commencement of a relevant amendment made by the amendment Act,—
 - (a) has been publicly notified under clause 5 or 26(b) of Schedule 1; but
 - (b) has not proceeded to the stage at which no further appeal is possible.

10

(2) The proposed policy statement, plan, change, or variation must be determined as if the amendments made by the amendment Act had not been enacted.

14 Transitional arrangements for early use of collaborative process

(1) A collaborative planning process may be used in accordance with this clause if, before the commencement of **subpart 4** of Part 5 (which provides for the use of a collaborative planning process), a local authority—

15

- (a) has commenced preparing, changing, or reviewing a policy statement or plan; but
- (b) has not publicly notified the proposed policy statement or plan or change under Part 1 of this schedule.

20

- (2) If a local authority wishes to use a collaborative process in the circumstances set out in **subclause (1)**, the local authority must—
 - (a) publicly notify its intention to apply to the Minister for approval to continue its process of preparing or changing a policy statement or plan using the collaborative planning process under this Part; and

25

- (b) invite submissions, to be submitted within 20 working days of the notice, on the proposal to use the collaborative planning process; and
- submit to the Minister a summary of the submissions and a report setting out how the collaborative planning process meets the criteria set out in **subclause (3)**.

30

- (3) The criteria are as follows:
 - (a) whether there has been a clear intention to set up a collaborative group and appoint its members:
 - (b) whether the composition of the collaborative group reflects the requirements set out in **clause 40** of Schedule 1:

10

25

30

New Part 2—continued

- (c) whether the commitment of the local authority to the consensus of the collaborative group is consistent with the requirement of **clause 45(2)(a)** of Schedule 1:
- (d) whether the terms of reference for the collaborative group are consistent with the terms of reference required by **clause 41** of Schedule 1.
- (4) After considering any submissions and the report submitted under **subclause** (2)(c), the Minister—
 - (a) may accept the application if the Minister is satisfied that the local authority meets the criteria set out in **subclause** (3), but must otherwise reject the application; and
 - (b) if the Minister accepts the application, must notify that decision to the local authority not later than 2 months after the date of the application.
- (5) If the Minister accepts the application under **subclause (4)**, the local authority must—
 - (a) give public notice that the Minister has accepted the local authority's application to continue its process of preparing, changing, or reviewing a policy statement or plan using the collaborative planning process; and
 - (b) amend the terms of reference in accordance with **clause 41** of Schedule 1.
- (6) This clause ceases to apply on the date that is 2 years after the commencement of this clause.
- 15 Application to fresh water of rules relating to water quality

Nothing in **section 69(4)** (as inserted by the amendment Act) affects any plan approved, resource consent granted, or water conservation order made before the commencement of that amendment if that plan, resource consent, or order refers to or incorporates any standards set out in Schedule 3.

16 Matters before the Environment Court

An amendment made by the amendment Act does not apply to any proceeding lodged with the Environment Court immediately before the commencement of that amendment.

Schedule 3

C	1 1 4		.1 C4 .	TD I	4
Consequentia	i amendments	commencing on	aav atte	er Kovai	assent
C 0 11 5 C G 01 C 11 C 11 C 1			0200, 00201	, , , , , , , , ,	***

•	1	1	1	

Environmental Protection Authorit	y Act 2011 ((2011 No 14)
--	--------------	-------------	---

After section 13(c)(ii), insert:

5

(iia) to provide secretarial and support services to a person appointed under an Act to make a decision requiring the application of provisions of the Resource Management Act 1991 as applied or modified by the Act under which the person is appointed:

Hazardous Substances and New Organisms Act 1996 (1996 No 30)

10

Repeal section 142(2) and (3).

Health and Safety at Work Act 2015 (2015 No 70)

Repeal section 230(1) and (2).

Marine and Coastal Area (Takutai Moana) Act 2011 (2011 No 3)

Replace section 19(3) with:

15

- (3) This subsection and subsections (3A) to (3C) apply—
 - if the ownership is uncertain in respect of a structure in a part of the common marine and coastal area for which a regional council has responsibility; and
 - (b) there is no current resource consent in respect of the structure.

20

- (3A) The regional council must—
 - (a) undertake an inquiry under subsection (2); or
 - (b) remove the structure under **section 12(7)** of the Resource Management Act 1991.
- (3B) The regional council may take action under **subsection** (**3A)(b)** if, in the opinion of the council, an inquiry under subsection (2) is not warranted because—
 - (a) the structure is likely to have no, or minimal, value to any owner or to the community; and
 - (b) efforts to locate the owner have not been successful, including, as a minimum,—
 - (i) a search of the relevant records held by the council; and
 - (ii) a reasonable effort to locate the owner from any contact details in those records.
- (3C) A regional council may determine whether to remove a structure, in whole or in part,—

Marine and Coastal Area (Takutai Moana) Act 2011 (2011 No 3)—continued

- (a) in accordance with the provisions of the regional coastal plan; or
- (b) without complying with any conditions in the regional coastal plan or obtaining a resource consent if, in the council's opinion, any adverse effects of removing the structure would be no more than minor.

Ngati Tuwharetoa, Raukawa, and Te Arawa River Iwi Waikato River Act 2010 (2010 No 119)

In section 13(1)(b), after "1991", insert "; and".

After section 13(1)(b), insert:

(c) a national planning standard published under **section 58F** of the Resource Management Act 1991, to the extent that it contains provisions referred to in **section 58C(1)(b)** of that Act (which refers to matters that may be included in a national policy statement):

After section 13(3), insert:

(3A) A local authority must not amend under **section 58H** of the Resource Management Act 1991 a document defined in that section, to the extent that the document contains provisions referred to in **section 58C(1)(b)** of that Act, if the amendment would make the document inconsistent with the vision and strategy.

Resource Management Amendment Act 2005 (2005 No 87)

Repeal section 115(2) to (4).

20

5

10

15

Repeal section 117.

Waikato-Tainui Raupatu Claims (Waikato River) Settlement Act 2010 (2010 No 24)

In section 12(1)(b), after "1991", insert "; and".

After section 12(1)(b), insert:

25

(c) a national planning standard published under **section 58F** of the Resource Management Act 1991, to the extent that it contains provisions referred to in **section 58C(1)(b)** of that Act (which refers to matters that may be included in a national policy statement):

After section 13(3), insert:

30

(3A) A local authority must not amend under **section 58H** of the Resource Management Act 1991 a document defined in that section, to the extent that the document contains provisions referred to in **section 58C(1)(b)** of that Act, if the amendment would make the document inconsistent with the vision and strategy.

Schedule 4 Amendments to Schedule 12 of Resource Management Act 1991 commencing 5 years after Royal assent

s 160

17	Mat	ters relating to financial contributions	5		
(1)	An amendment specified in subclause (2) does not apply in respect of an application for a resource consent that is lodged before the commencement of the amendment.				
(2)		amendments referred to in subclause (1) are the amendments, made by mendment Act, that repeal or amend the following provisions:	10		
	(a)	section 108(2)(a), (9), and (10):			
	(b)	sections 110 and 111:			
	(c)	section 222(1):			
	(d)	section 407(1):			
	(e)	section 409:	15		
	(f)	section 411:			
	(g)	the provisions of the enactments set out in Schedule 5 of the amendment Act.			
18		al authorities must amend plans to remove financial contributions isions	20		
(1)		clause applies to a plan or proposed plan that, for the purpose of section 10), includes any provision that—			
	(a)	specifies the purposes for which conditions requiring a financial contribution may be included in a resource consent; or			
	(b)	describes the manner in which the level of a financial contribution is to be determined.	25		
(2)	asser	cal authority must, before the expiry of 5 years after the date of Royal at of the amendment Act, change the plan or proposed plan to remove the isions described in subclause (1) .			
(3)	The	local authority—	30		
	(a)	need not make the change in the manner set out in Schedule 1; but			
	(b)	must give public notice of the change as soon as practicable after it has been made.			

Schedule 5

Consequential amendments commencing 5 years after Royal assent

Part 1 Amendments to Acts

5

Goods and Services Tax Act 1985 (1985 No 141)

In section 5(7B)(a) and (7C)(a), after "condition of a resource consent under the Resource Management Act 1991", insert ", where the condition is imposed under section 108(2)(a) of that Act (before the repeal of section 108(2)(a) by section 153 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015").

10

Local Government Act 2002 (2002 No 84)

In section 102(2)(d), delete "or financial contributions".

Repeal section 103(2)(h).

In the heading to section 106, delete "or financial contributions".

Repeal section 106(1) and (4).

15

20

Replace section 106(2) with:

- A policy adopted under section 102(1) must, in relation to the purposes for which development contributions may be required,
 - summarise and explain the total cost of capital expenditure identified in (a) the long-term plan, or identified under clause 1(2) of Schedule 13, that the local authority expects to incur to meet the increased demand for community facilities resulting from growth; and
 - state the proportion of that total cost of capital expenditure that will be (b) funded by-
 - (i) development contributions:

25

- (ii) other sources of funding; and
- (c) explain, in terms of the matters required to be considered under section 101(3), why the local authority has determined to use those funding sources to meet the expected total cost of capital expenditure referred to in paragraph (a); and

30

- (d) identify separately each activity or group of activities for which a development contribution will be required and, in relation to each activity or group of activities, specify the total amount of funding to be sought by development contributions; and
- (e) if development contributions will be required, comply with the requirements set out in sections 201 to 202A

Local Government Act 2002 (2002 No 84)—continued

In section 200(1)(a), after "under section 108(2)(a) of the Resource Management Act 1991", insert "(before the repeal of section 108(2)(a) by section 153 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015)".

Local Government (Auckland Transitional Provisions) Act 2010 (2010 No 37)

Repeal sections 58 to 60 and the cross-heading above section 58.

5

Ngāti Awa Claims Settlement Act 2005 (2005 No 28)

Repeal section 159(4).

Ngāti Koroki Kahukura Claims Settlement Act 2014 (2014 No 74)

Repeal section 59(5).

Repeal section 68(7).

10

Repeal section 85(2).

Ngāti Manawa Claims Settlement Act 2012 (2012 No 27)

Repeal section 87(3).

Ngāti Whare Claims Settlement Act 2012 (2012 No 28)

Repeal section 90(3).

15

20

25

Repeal section 105(4).

Taxation (GST, Trans-Tasman Imputation and Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2003 (2003 No 122)

In section 144(2), after "condition of a resource consent under the Resource Management Act 1991", insert ", where the condition is imposed under section 108(2)(a) of that Act (before the repeal of section 108(2)(a) by section 153 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015)".

Part 2

Amendment to legislative instrument

Local Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014 (LI

In regulation 3, definition of **financial contribution**, after "under section 108(2)(a) of the Resource Management Act 1991", insert "(before the repeal of section 108(2)(a) by section 153 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015)".

2014/76)

Schedule 6 New Schedule 1AA of Public Works Act 1981 inserted

s 175

	Schedule 1AA Transitional, savings, and related provisions	5
	Part 1	
	Provisions relating to Part 3 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015	
1	Interpretation	10
	In this schedule,—	
	amendment \mathbf{A} ct means \mathbf{Part} 3 of the Resource Legislation Amendment \mathbf{A} ct 2015	
	commencement date means the date on which the amendment Act comes into force.	15
2	New rule on evidence does not apply to hearings that have begun	
	Section 24(6A) does not apply to any hearing of the Environment Court under section 24 that begins on or before the commencement date.	
3	Circumstances in which this Act applies as if unamended	
(1)	If the Minister or a local authority, as applicable, and the owner of land have, before the commencement date, executed an agreement for the sale and purchase of the land under section 17, this Act continues to apply to the agreement, and to any claim for compensation for or in respect of the land, as if the amendments referred to in subclause (3) had not come into force.	20
(2)	If a Proclamation taking land has been issued in accordance with section 26 before the commencement date, this Act continues to apply to the Proclamation, and to any claim for compensation for or in respect of the land, as if the amendments referred to in subclause (3) had not come into force.	25
(3)	The amendments referred to in subclause (1) and (2) are the amendments, made by the amendment Act, that repeal, amend, replace, or insert the following provisions:	30
	(a) section 4C(2):	
	(b) section 24:	
	(c) section 59:	
	(d) section 72:	35

(e	sections	72A to	72E:
----	----------	---------------	------

- (f) section 75.
- 4 Negotiation start date includes dates before commencement of amendment Act

To avoid doubt, the dates specified in **paragraphs (a) and (b)** of the definition of **negotiation start date** in **section 72A(2)** include dates that occur before the commencement date.

5

10

15

- Extended time to comply with **section 72A(1)(b)** in certain circumstances
- (1) If the negotiation start date that applies to the owner of land under **section 72A(1)(b)(i)** is 4 months or more before the commencement date, **section 72A** must be read as if—

(a) it requires the agreement referred to in that section to be executed within 2 months after the commencement date; and

- (b) the deadline referred to in that section ("within 6 months after the negotiation start date") does not apply.
- (2) However, no compensation must be paid to the owner of land under **section 72A(1)(b)** if—
 - (a) the negotiation start date that applies to the owner under **section 72A(1)(b)(i)** is 6 months or more before the commencement date; and
 - (b) the notifying authority serves notice in relation to the owner's land in accordance with section 18(1)(a) within 2 months after the commencement date.

Schedule 7 New Schedule 1AA of Conservation Act 1987 inserted

s 182

Schedule 1AA Transitional, savings, and related provisions

s 3A

5

Part 1

Provisions relating to Part 4 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015

1 Pending applications for concessions

- (1) All pending applications for a concession under section 17R must be dealt with and determined as if this Act had not been amended by Part 4 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015.
- (2) In this clause, an application is **pending** if it was received by the Minister before the commencement of **Part 4 of the Resource Legislation Amend-**15 ment Act 2015 and, as at that commencement, it had not been finally determined.

Schedule 7A

New Schedule 1 of Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012 inserted

s 233

		T	Schedule 1 ransitional, savings, and related provisions	5	
Pro	vision	s rela	Part 1 ating to Part 5 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015	10	
1	Matt	ers pe	ending on commencement day		
(1)	and c	detern	g consent applications and pending proceedings must be dealt with nined as if this Act had not been amended by Part 5 of the Regislation Amendment Act 2015 .		
(2)	All pending reviews must be continued and completed as if this Act had not been amended by Part 5 of the Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015 .				
(3)	In thi	s clau	se,—		
			ement day means the day on which Part 5 of the Resource Legis- endment Act 2015 comes into force	20	
	pend	ing co	onsent application means an application for a marine consent that—		
	(a)	was	made under section 38 or 87B before the commencement day; and		
	(b)	as at	the commencement day,—		
		(i)	had not been returned as incomplete under section 41(3) (or that section as applied by section 87C); and	25	
		(ii)	had not been finally determined		
	this A	Act tha	roceeding means an objection, appeal, or proceeding under Part 4 of at was commenced before the commencement day and as at that day en finally determined		
	_	_	eview means a review under section 76 that was commenced before encement day and as at that day had not been completed.	30	
2		_	rovisions inserted by Resource Legislation Amendment Act 2015 bly until decommissioning regulations date		
(1)			8(3) does not apply in relation to an application made before the dening regulations date.	35	

- (2) **Subpart 4 of Part 3A** does not apply until the decommissioning regulations date.
- (3) In this clause, **decommissioning regulations date** means the date on which the first regulations made under **section 29E** come into force.

Schedule 8

New Schedules 3 and 4 of Exclusive Economic Zone and Continental Shelf (Environmental Effects) Act 2012 inserted

s 235

EP	Schedule 3 PA hearings for publicly notifiable activities other than section 20 activities	5
	s 52	
1	Hearing date and notice	
(1)	If a hearing of an application for a marine consent is to be held, the Environmental Protection Authority must fix the commencement date and the time and place of the hearing.	10
(2)	The date for the commencement of any hearing must not be later than 40 working days after the closing date for submissions on the application.	
(3)	The EPA must give at least 20 working days' notice of the commencement date, time, and place of a hearing to—	15
	(a) the applicant; and	
	(b) every submitter on the application who stated that he or she wished to be heard and who has not subsequently advised that he or she does not wish to be heard.	20
(4)	The EPA may give directions as to evidence and the general conduct of the hearing.	
2	Time limit for hearing	
	A hearing must be completed not later than 40 working days after the first day of the hearing.	25
3	Hearings to be public and without unnecessary formality	
(1)	A hearing must be held in public unless the Environmental Protection Authority directs, under section 158(3)(a), that the whole or part of a hearing is to be held with the public excluded.	
(2)	The EPA must establish a procedure for a hearing that is appropriate and fair in the circumstances.	30
(3)	In determining an appropriate and fair procedure for a hearing, the EPA must—	
	(a) avoid unnecessary formality; and	
	(b) recognise tikanga Māori where appropriate, and receive evidence written or spoken in Māori, and the Māori Language Act 1987 applies accord- ingly.	35

Persons who may be heard at hearings

No person may question a party or witness unless the EPA gives permission to

(4)

1)	At a hearing, the applicant and every submitter who stated that he or she wished to be heard at the hearing may speak (either personally or through a representative) and call evidence.	5
2)	However, the Environmental Protection Authority may, if it considers that excessive repetition is likely, limit the circumstances in which parties having the same interest in a matter may speak or call evidence in support.	
3)	The Environmental Protection Authority may proceed with a hearing even if the applicant or a submitter who stated that he or she wished to be heard fails to appear at the hearing if the EPA considers it fair and reasonable to do so.	10
;	Provisions relating to hearings	
1)	The following provisions of the Commissions of Inquiry Act 1908 apply to every hearing:	15
	(a) section 4 (which gives powers to maintain order):	
	(b) section 4B (which relates to evidence):	
	(c) section 4D (which gives power to summon witnesses):	
	(d) section 5 (which relates to the service of a summons):	
	(e) section 6 (which relates to the protection of witnesses):	20
	(f) section 7 (which relates to allowances for witnesses).	
2)	Every summons to a witness to appear at a hearing must be in the prescribed form and be signed on behalf of the Environmental Protection Authority or by the chairperson of the committee that is to conduct the hearing.	
3)	All allowances for a witness must be paid by the party on whose behalf the witness is called.	25
4)	At a hearing, the following persons must give to the EPA any information and advice that is relevant and reasonably necessary to decide the application if the EPA asks for it:	
	(a) a person who reviewed the impact assessment or provided advice under section 42 or 57 :	30
	(b) a person who is heard or represented at the hearing.	
	Control of hearings	
	The Environmental Protection Authority may exercise a power under clause 7 or 8 after considering whether the scale and significance of the hearing make the exercise of the power appropriate.	35

7	Dire	ctions	to provide evidence within time limits			
(1)		The Environmental Protection Authority may direct the applicant to provide briefs of evidence to the EPA before the hearing.				
(2)		The applicant must provide its briefs of evidence at least 15 working days before the hearing.				
(3)			nay direct a submitter who intends to call expert evidence to provide e evidence to the EPA before the hearing.			
(4)		submit the hea	ter must provide the briefs of evidence at least 10 working days bearing.			
(5)		EPA m e, give	nust, as soon as practicable after the EPA receives the briefs of evi-	10		
	(a)	a cop	by of the applicant's brief of evidence to every submitter; and			
	(b)	a cop	by of a submitter's briefs of evidence to the applicant.			
8	Dire	ctions	before or at hearings			
(1)		Before or at the hearing, the Environmental Protection Authority may do 1 or more of the following:				
	(a)	direc	et that a conference of a group of experts be held:			
	(b)	direc	t that a conference be held with—			
		(i)	any of the submitters who wish to be heard at a hearing; or			
		(ii)	the applicant; or	20		
		(iii)	in the case of a cross-boundary application, any relevant resource consent authority; or			
		(iv)	any combination of such persons:			
	(c)	specify the order of business at the hearing, including the order in which evidence and submissions are presented:				
	(d)	direc	t that evidence and submissions be—			
		(i)	recorded; or			
		(ii)	taken as read; or			
		(iii)	limited to matters in dispute:			
	(e)	(e) direct the applicant, when presenting evidence or a submission, to present it within a time limit:				
	(f)		et a submitter, when presenting evidence or a submission, to present thin a time limit.			
(2)			ing, the EPA may, under section 57(1) , seek advice on an applica- activity to which the application relates, if the applicant agrees.	35		
(3)	The	The EPA must provide copies of the advice to the applicant and submitters.				

- (4) At the hearing, the EPA may direct a person presenting a submission not to present—
 - (a) the whole submission, if none of it is relevant or in dispute; or
 - (b) any part of the submission that is not relevant or not in dispute.
- (5) Before or at the hearing, the EPA may direct that a submission or a part of a submission be struck out if the EPA considers that—
 - (a) the submission, or the part, is frivolous or vexatious; or
 - (b) the submission, or the part, discloses no reasonable or relevant case; or
 - (c) it would be an abuse of the hearing process to allow the whole submission, or the part, to be taken further.
- (6) If the EPA gives a direction under **subclause** (5), it must record the reasons for the direction and give a copy of the reasons to the submitter whose submission is affected by the direction.

5

Schedule 4 Boards of inquiry for publicly notifiable section 20 activities s 53(8) General EPA must provide board with necessary information 5 (1) The EPA must provide the board of inquiry with each of the following things as soon as is reasonably practicable after the board is appointed and the things are received: (a) the application: all the information received by the EPA that relates to the application: 10 (b) the submissions received by the EPA on the application. (c) (2) The EPA must also— (a) prepare or commission a report on the key issues relating to the application and the activity, including any relevant provisions in regulations; and 15 (i) (ii) a statement on whether the application covers all aspects of the activity for which a marine consent is required: provide a copy of the report to-(b) the board of inquiry; and (i) 20 (ii) the applicant; and (iii) every submitter. EPA must provide support to board 2 **(1)** The EPA must provide all reasonable administrative and secretarial services that are necessary to enable a board of inquiry to discharge its functions and responsibilities under this Act. 25 (2) The EPA may make decisions regarding administrative and support matters that are in-(a) cidental or ancillary to the conduct of an inquiry under this schedule; or allow the board of inquiry to make those decisions. (b) (3) The EPA must have regard to the purposes of minimising costs and avoiding 30 unnecessary delay when performing its functions under subclause (2)(a) or (b). EPA may provide board with advice 3 The EPA may provide a board of inquiry with technical advice: 35

an estimate of the amount of funding required to process an application.

(b)

4	Ном	, hoard	l must carry out duties	
•			inquiry must—	
	(a)		out its duties in a timely and cost-effective manner:	
	(b)	cond	uct its inquiry in accordance with any terms of reference set by the ster under section 53(2) :	5
	(c)		regard to the most recent estimate provided to the board of inquiry e EPA under clause 3(b) .	
			Hearings	
5	Hea	rings		10
(1)	The	board o	of inquiry must conduct a hearing on an application if the applicant ter requests a hearing.	
(2)			of inquiry may conduct a hearing, even if no applicant or submitter e, if the board considers it necessary or desirable.	
(3)	The	board o	of inquiry—	15
	(a)	must	keep a full record of any hearings or proceedings:	
	(b)	may	direct that a conference of a group of experts be held:	
	(c)	may	direct that a conference be held with—	
		(i)	any of the submitters who wish to be heard at a hearing; or	
		(ii)	the applicant; or	20
		(iii)	in the case of a cross-boundary application, any relevant resource consent authority; or	
		(iv)	any combination of the persons described in paragraphs (i) to (iii).	
6	Hea	ring da	ate and notice	25
(1)		Ŭ	is to be held, the EPA must—	
. ,	(a)	_	ne commencement date, time, and place of the hearing; and	
	(b)	give	20 working days' notice of the commencement date, time, and of the hearing to—	
		(i)	the applicant; and	30
		(ii)	every submitter on the application who stated that he or she wished to be heard and who has not subsequently advised that he or she does not wish to be heard.	
(2)			of inquiry may give directions as to evidence and the general conhearing.	35

7	Hear	ings to be public and without unnecessary formality			
(1)	ty, uı	aring must be held in public unless the Environmental Protection Authori- nder section 158(3)(a), directs that the whole or part of a hearing is to be with the public excluded.			
(2)		board of inquiry must establish a procedure for a hearing that is appropri- nd fair in the circumstances.	5		
(3)		etermining an appropriate and fair procedure for a hearing, the board of ry must—			
	(a)	avoid unnecessary formality; and			
	(b)	where appropriate, recognise tikanga Māori; and	10		
	(c)	receive evidence written or spoken in te reo Māori (and the Māori Language Act 1987 applies accordingly to the evidence so received).			
(4)	-	erson may question a party or witness unless the board of inquiry gives ission to do so.			
8	Pers	ons who may be heard at hearings	15		
(1)	At a hearing, the applicant and every submitter who stated that he or she wished to be heard at the hearing may speak (either personally or through a representative) and call evidence.				
(2)	However, the board of inquiry may, if it considers that excessive repetition is likely, limit the circumstances in which parties having the same interest in a matter may speak or call evidence in support.				
(3)	mitte	board of inquiry may proceed with a hearing even if the applicant or a sub- or who stated that he or she wished to be heard fails to appear at the hear- of the board of inquiry considers it fair and reasonable to do so.			
9	Prov	isions relating to hearings	25		
(1)		following provisions of the Commissions of Inquiry Act 1908 apply to hearing:			
	(a)	section 4 (which gives powers to maintain order):			
	(b)	section 4B (which relates to evidence):			
	(c)	section 4D (which gives power to summon witnesses):	30		
	(d)	section 5 (which relates to the service of a summons):			
	(e)	section 6 (which relates to the protection of witnesses):			
	(f)	section 7 (which relates to allowances for witnesses).			
(2)	form	y summons to a witness to appear at a hearing must be in the prescribed and be signed on behalf of the board of inquiry or by the chairperson of ommittee that is to conduct the hearing.	35		
(3)	All allowances for a witness must be paid by the party on whose behalf the witness is called.				

(4)	mati	hearing, the following persons must give to the board of inquiry any infor- on and advice that is relevant and reasonably necessary to decide the appli- n if the board of inquiry asks for it:				
	(a)	a person who reviewed the impact assessment or provided advice under section 42 or 57 :	5			
	(b)	a person who is heard or represented at the hearing.				
10	Con	trol of hearings				
	ering	ard of inquiry may exercise a power under clause 11 or 12 after considgued whether the scale and significance of the hearing make the exercise of the er appropriate.	10			
11	Dire	ctions to provide evidence within time limits				
(1)		ard of inquiry may direct the applicant to provide briefs of evidence to the d before the hearing.				
(2)		applicant must provide its briefs of evidence at least 15 working days bethe hearing.	15			
(3)		The board of inquiry may direct a submitter who intends to call expert evidence to provide briefs of the evidence to the board before the hearing.				
(4)		submitter must provide the briefs of evidence at least 10 working days bethe hearing.				
(5)	The board of inquiry must, as soon as practicable after the board receives the briefs of evidence, give—					
	(a)	a copy of the applicant's brief of evidence to every submitter; and				
	(b)	a copy of a submitter's briefs of evidence to the applicant.				
12	Dire	ctions before or at hearings				
(1)	Befoing:	re or at the hearing, the board of inquiry may do 1 or more of the follow-	25			
	(a)	specify the order of business at the hearing, including the order in which evidence and submissions are presented:				
	(b)	direct that evidence and submissions be—				
		(i) recorded; or	30			
		(ii) taken as read; or				
		(iii) limited to matters in dispute:				
	(c)	direct the applicant, when presenting evidence or a submission, to present it within a time limit:				
	(d)	direct a submitter, when presenting evidence or a submission, to present it within a time limit	35			

(2)	At the hearing, the board of inquiry may seek advice on an application or the activity to which the application relates under section 57(1) , if the applicant agrees.			
(3)	The board of inquiry must provide copies of the advice to the applicant and submitters.			
(4)	At the hearing, the board of inquiry may direct a person presenting a submission not to present—			
	(a)	the whole submission, if none of it is relevant or in dispute; or		
	(b)	any part of the submission that is not relevant or not in dispute.		
(5)	Before or at the hearing, the board of inquiry may direct that a submission or a part of a submission be struck out if the board considers that—			
	(a)	the submission, or the part, is frivolous or vexatious; or		
	(b)	the submission, or the part, discloses no reasonable or relevant case; or		
	(c)	it would be an abuse of the hearing process to allow the whole submission, or the part, to be taken further.	15	
(6)	the 1	If the board of inquiry gives a direction under subclause (5) , it must record the reasons for the direction and give a copy of the reasons to the submitter whose submission is affected by the direction.		
13	Boa	rd to produce report		
(1)	As soon as practicable after the board of inquiry has completed its inquiry on a matter, but not later than 9 months after the relevant application was publicly notified, the board of inquiry must—			
	(a)	make its decision; and		
	(b)	produce a written report; and		
	(c)	send its report to the EPA.	25	
(2)	The report must—			
	(a)	state the board's decision; and		
	(b)	give reasons for the decision; and		
	(c)	include a statement of the principal issues that were in contention; and		
	(d)	include the main findings on the principal issues that were in contention.	30	
(3)	For the purposes of subclause (1) , the 9-month period excludes the period starting on 20 December in any year and ending on 10 January in the following year.			

10

Remuneration

14 Remuneration, allowances, and expenses

- (1) The Fees and Travelling Allowances Act 1951 (the **1951 Act**) applies to a board of inquiry appointed under **section 53** as if the board were a statutory board within the meaning of the 1951 Act.
- (2) The Minister may direct that a member of a board of inquiry be paid the following out of money appropriated by Parliament for the purpose:
 - (a) remuneration by way of fees, salary, or allowances under the 1951 Act; and
 - (b) travelling allowances and travelling expenses under the 1951 Act for time spent travelling in the service of the board.

Legislative history

Legislative illistory			
26 November 2015	Introduction (Bill 101–1)		
3 December 2015	First reading and referral to Local Government and Environment		
	Committee		
7 November 2016	Discharged from Local Government and Environment		
	Committee		
10 November 2016	Referral to Local Government and Environment Committee		
6 March 2017	Reported from Local Government and Environment Committee		
	(Bill 101–2)		
14 March 2017	Second reading		
5 April 2017	Committee of the whole House (Bill 101–3)		

Wellington, New Zealand: